HEAT ROUTING WITH LIQUID-VAPOR PHASE CHANGE PHENOMENA IN MICROSCALE POROUS MEDIA

A DISSERTATION

SUBMITTED TO THE DEPARTMENT OF MECHANICAL ENGINEERING

AND THE COMMITTEE ON GRADUATE STUDIES

OF STANFORD UNIVERSITY

IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS

FOR THE DEGREE OF

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Tanya Liu

August 2020

© 2020 by Tanya Tanni Liu. All Rights Reserved. Re-distributed by Stanford University under license with the author.



This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-Noncommercial 3.0 United States License. http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/3.0/us/

This dissertation is online at: http://purl.stanford.edu/kx669bf4241

I certify that I have read this dissertation and that, in my opinion, it is fully adequate in scope and quality as a dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

Kenneth Goodson, Primary Adviser

I certify that I have read this dissertation and that, in my opinion, it is fully adequate in scope and quality as a dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

Mehdi Asheghi

I certify that I have read this dissertation and that, in my opinion, it is fully adequate in scope and quality as a dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

John Eaton

Approved for the Stanford University Committee on Graduate Studies.

Stacey F. Bent, Vice Provost for Graduate Education

This signature page was generated electronically upon submission of this dissertation in electronic format. An original signed hard copy of the signature page is on file in University Archives.

ABSTRACT

Abstract

As electronic devices continue to miniaturize in size and grow in system complexity, conventional thermal management techniques must evolve to gradually include the concept of not merely heat dissipation, but controllable heat routing. To optimize lifetime reliability and overall device performance, many applications benefit from isothermalization within a narrow temperature window. Such devices often experience heat generation and environmental conditions that are transient and/or spatially variant, however, creating undesirable thermal profiles that cannot be addressed by constant heat removal strategies. Proper thermal management of such systems therefore benefits from the introduction of nonlinear thermal components that can exhibit properties such as heat flow transformation, thermal switching, and thermal isolation. This work examines the use of liquid-vapor phase change phenomena as a mechanism for controllable heat routing.

First, we examine the use of liquid-vapor phase change as a heat spreading mechanism. Vapor chambers or flat plate heat pipes have long existed as effective heat flow transformers used to reduce highly concentrated local heat fluxes before heat rejection to an external sink. Conventional vapor chamber materials are not coefficient of thermal expansion matched to semiconductor device materials, however, necessitating the use of intermediary thermal interface materials that act as bottlenecks to the overall system performance. We present the concept of a miniature silicon-based vapor chamber for die-matched heat spreading, and demonstrate that the vapor transport can effectively improve the die-level temperature uniformity even over relatively small (~1 x 1 cm²) spreading areas. Due to the miniature volume of the device, we also develop an analytical model to predict the effect of liquid charge on the thermal resistance, and find the performance to be sensitive to be within $\pm 2 \,\mu$ L.

Second, we purposefully introduce a non-condensable gas (NCG) to act as a diffusion barrier to the vapor transport. In a one-dimensional transport scenario, the binary vapor/NCG diffusion process creates a highly nonlinear, temperature dependent thermal resistance that can act as a passive thermal regulator. We perform measurements

ABSTRACT

of the steady state thermal characteristics with varying amounts of NCG charge and find it to be an effective mechanism for tuning the regulatory properties of the device. We present an analytical model that captures the temperature dependent behavior of the binary diffusion process, and perform a parametric optimization to a resistance switching ratio of up to 14 in response to varying levels of heat input.

Third, we examine the implications of thermal capacitance when assessing the effectiveness of various thermal regulatory schemes. We perform transient measurements of the binary diffusion based regulator in response to pulsed heating inputs to characterize the thermal response time. We find that the diffusion process creates a phenomena where the temperature difference across the device becomes clamped to a constant, relatively heat flow independent value above a threshold temperature. When subjected to transient heat loads, this manifests in an asymmetric device response time, where the low resistance state approaches the steady state value rapidly, and the high resistance state is amplified over the steady state value.

Finally, we examine the more fundamental aspects of heat transfer during liquid to vapor phase change in microscale porous media. We leverage the highly ordered structure of inverse opal metal films to examine the limitations of capillary-fed evaporation and boiling in the porous wicks that drive the heat and mass transfer in device level heat routing applications. We find that maintaining the contact angle stability of the metal wicks is crucial for long term reliability and stable performance, and present results from different surface treatment schemes to generate various hydrophilic nano/microstructures.

Acknowledgements

The completion of my PhD at Stanford would not have been possible without the tremendous support of numerous mentors, colleagues, friends, and family. I am incredibly privileged to finally be able to acknowledge all of the wonderful people who have supported me throughout this journey.

First and foremost I would like to thank my advisor, Professor Ken Goodson, for giving me the opportunity to be a part of his group during my time at Stanford. Ken took a chance on me and let me jump into research with the Nanoheat group the summer before I even officially entered the graduate program. I am extremely grateful for his mentorship, and his guidance has been invaluable in shaping me towards an independent researcher. I have also enjoyed great creative freedom in pursuing various collaborations and research areas of interest throughout my PhD, which would not have been possible without Ken's unwavering support.

I am also deeply grateful to Professor Mehdi Asheghi, who has been an invaluable source of advice and wisdom as my co-advisor. Mehdi has been a great mentor to me since my first day in the group and has always made himself available to offer advice about everything ranging from paper writing, experimental approaches, to discussions on fundamental science. This journey would truly not have been possible without his support and encouragement, and I have the greatest admiration for his tireless commitment to helping students.

I would also like to sincerely thank Professor John Eaton for sharing his vast expertise in fluid mechanics and heat transfer. I have learned a great deal from him through numerous courses not just in terms of content, but also how to aspire to be a great teacher. I am also grateful to Professor Juan Santiago and Professor Debbie Senesky for serving on my thesis defense committee and providing great insight into broader applications of my work. I have also benefited greatly from both of their mentorship indirectly through wonderful interactions with their students.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am also extremely grateful to the Stanford School of Engineering and National Science Foundation for selecting me as a fellowship recipient. Both have had a tremendous impact on my graduate experience, and I would not be where I am today without their support.

My fellow lab mates in the Nanoheat group have provided an incredible environment throughout the duration of my Ph.D. I simply cannot thank them enough. I have learned so much from my senior lab mates – Marc Dunham, Woosung Park, Aditya Sood, and Michael Barako, who have each provided countless instances of invaluable advice and guidance that were critical to my success at the end of this journey. I would also like to thank the numerous postdocs who have been wonderful mentors, many of whom are professors now – James Palko, Hyoungsoon Lee, Farzad Houshmand, Yoonjin Won, Chirag Kharangate and Hyun Jin Kim. Former labmates and visitors who have also greatly contributed to my experience through their friendship and knowledge include Joseph Schaadt, Ming Liu, Kai Chen, and Rahul Kini. To current students – Chris Perez, Heungdong Kwon, Sougata Hazra, Farid Soroush, Qianying Wu, and Alisha Piazza, thank you all for creating a wonderful environment and many great memories in and out of the lab. I want to especially thank my lab mates who have shared a significant part of my time in the group - Chi Zhang, Joe Katz, and Ki Wook Jung, your friendship, support, and our numerous coffee breaks have helped me through many difficult times.

To my friends in the Bay Area and beyond, thank you for the many wonderful memories throughout the years. You have all made my life better in so many ways, and I cherish each and every one of you. To Matty, who has been with me through this entire journey, thank you for your never-ending support. This would not have been the same without you.

Finally, to my family, who have been my greatest source of support and love. To my sister, I feel so grateful to have you close by and to have had your support throughout all these years. To my dad, who has taught me to remain optimistic no matter what challenges may come up in life. To my mom, who patiently taught me everything while I

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

was growing up and has always been an endless source of encouragement. Thank you for everything.

Table of Contents

Abstract	iv
Acknowledgements	vi
List of Tables	xii
List of Figures	xiii
Chapter 1 Introduction	1
1.1 Challenges in electronics cooling	1
1.2 Vapor chamber heat spreaders	2
1.3 Thermal regulators and switches	6
1.4 Organization and Scope of Work	8
Chapter 2 Challenges and Opportunities with Silicon Vapor Chambers	10
2.1 Vapor chamber material options	10
2.2 Packaging opportunities with silicon vapor chambers	12
2.3 Scaling considerations for relevant thermofluidic phenomena	14
2.4 Summary of existing silicon vapor chambers	15
2.4.1 Heat spreading configurations	15
2.4.2 Heat spreading performance of silicon vapor chambers	16
2.5 Porous Wick Fabrication and Optimization Strategies	20
2.5.1 Monolithic silicon wicks	20
2.5.2 Wicks with other materials	21
2.6 Manufacturing approaches and challenges for Silicon vapor chambers	24
2.7 Conclusions	27
Chapter 3 Miniature Silicon Vapor Chambers for Die-level Heat Spreading	28
3.1 Device Fabrication	28
3.2 Analytical model for effect of liquid charge volume	32
3.2.1 Evaporator model	34
3.2.2 Condenser model	41

TABLE OF CONTENTS

3.2.3 Vapor core model	45
3.2.4 Solid conduction model	46
3.2.5 Model Calculation Procedure	
3.3 Experimental Methods	
3.4 Experimental Results and Model Validation	
3.5 Conclusions	61
Chapter 4 Passive Thermal Regulation with Binary Vapor Diffusi	on: Steady-State
Characterization	63
4.1 Thermal regulation with liquid-vapor phase change	63
4.2 Steady-state thermal model	64
4.2.1 Vapor transport model	66
4.2.2 Wick resistance model	
4.3 Experimental Methods	71
4.3.1 Device fabrication	71
4.3.2 Experimental procedure	73
4.3.3 Uncertainty analysis	73
4.4 Steady-state thermal behavior	76
4.4.1 Resistance switching	76
4.4.2 Temperature clamping	78
4.5 Switching ratio optimization	80
4.5.1 Effect of vapor core thickness	
4.5.2 Effect of sidewall conduction area	
4.5.3 Effect of porous wick thermal resistance	
4.6 Conclusions	
Chapter 5 Passive Thermal Regulation with Binary Vapor Diffusi	on: Transient
Behavior	89
5.1 Relevance of transient thermal response	
5.2 Transient device model	90
5.3 Transient experimental results	94

TABLE OF CONTENTS

5.4 Conclusions	98
Chapter 6 Conclusions and Future Work	100
6.1 Integrated heat spreading mechanisms for electronics thermal management	100
6.2 Capillary-fed evaporation/boiling in biporous and hierarchical structures	101
6.3 Nonlinear thermal devices for heat flow regulation	104
Bibliography	107

List of Tables

- Table 2-1.
 Coefficients of linear thermal expansion at room temperature for various materials.
- **Table 2-2.** Summary of existing silicon vapor chambers in literature.
- **Table 3-1.** Approximate dimensions versus model values for the silicon vapor chamber studied in this work.
- **Table 4-1.** Summary of approximate device dimensions, with active region width w_{act} , Pyrex insert width w_{side} , Pyrex insert and vapor/NCG cavity thickness t_{core} , solid silicon substrate thickness t_{sub} , and micropillar wick height, diameter, and pitch of h, d, l, respectively.
- **Table 4-2.** Finite element simulation results to estimate heat loss in experimental set up for different values of NCG/vapor mixture effective thermal conductivity, k_{NCG}.
- **Table 4-3.** Approximate errors from the instrumentation and resistance-temperature calibration curves for each RTD.
- **Table 4-4.** Calculated values for the vapor temperature of water, $T_{sat}(P_{tot})$ at theonset of clamping for each of the different NCG charge pressures.
- Table 5-1.
 Comparison of various thermal regulation mechanisms and their associated response times.
- Table 5-2.
 Material properties used for various device components in transient conduction simulation.
- **Table 5-3.** Thermal time constant, τ_h , as a function of external condenser side heat transfer coefficient, h_{cp} . h_{cp} is approximately equal to 2400 Wm⁻²K⁻¹ in the experiments.

List of Figures

- Figure 1-1. (a) A simplified representation of a semiconductor packaging scheme without a heat spreading layer. The heat flux experienced at the heatsink base is comparable to the heat flux generated at the hotspot.
 (b) A semiconductor packaging scheme with a high thermal conductivity heat spreading layer added between the die and the heat sink. The heat spreader greatly reduces the heat flux experienced at the heat sink base, relaxing the heat sink cooling requirements.
- **Figure 1-2.** Cross-sectional schematic of operating principles of a vapor chamber. Heat generation at the heat source causes liquid in the evaporator wick to evaporate, spread through the vapor core, then condense back into liquid over the entire condenser side wick area. The condensed liquid recirculates to the hotspot through capillary action in the porous wick and creates a passive cycle of liquid-vapor phase change. The vapor spreading in the core typically occurs with minimal temperature drop and provides the high effective thermal conductivity region of the device.
- Figure 2-1. (a) A traditional packaging scheme with a solid copper spreader or copper vapor chamber. (b) A potential packaging scheme with a silicon vapor chamber as the heat spreader, where a lower resistance metal bond could be used for die attach. (c) Another possible configuration where a future silicon interposer has an integrated vapor chamber to spread heat between multiple die. (d) A directly integrated vapor chamber with evaporator wicking structures fabricated directly onto the backside of the die, eliminating the need for any thermal interface layer between the die and spreader.
- Figure 2-2. (a) Heat pipe operation with one-dimensional heat transport. (b) A twodimensional heat planar spreading configuration with a vapor chamber, where heat rejection occurs over the entire face opposite of the

evaporator. (c) A two-dimensional radial heat spreading configuration with a vapor chamber.

- Figure 2-3. (a) Vapor chamber formed from two Si wafers with monolithic condenser and evaporator wicks. Multi-height etching steps are required for both sides to form the cavity and monolithic wick structures. (b) Triple stack vapor chamber fabrication process where vapor core is formed from separate wafer to avoid multi-height etching steps. (c) Vapor chamber with wickless condenser. Evaporator wick is etched into one substrate, and vapor core is fabricated entirely in the condenser side substrate.
- **Figure 3-1.** (a) Fabrication process flow for condenser and evaporator sides starting from (1) 500 μ m thick and 1 mm thick substrates for condenser and evaporator sides, respectively (2) thermal oxidation, then photolithography and metal evaporation to define heater and RTDs, (3) laser ablation to etch vapor core, wick structures, and through-hole, (4) glass frit bond and Nanoport attachment. (b) Evaporator side heater and RTD layout. (c) Condenser side RTD layout. Due to microfabrication defects, only T_{CI-4} , and T_{C6} were functional.
- Figure 3-2. (a) Sideview of micropillar fabricated through laser ablation. (b) Top view close up of microscale roughness generated on micropillar wick structures from laser ablation. (c) Evaporator side device with patterned heater/RTDs and through-hole. (d) Glass frit pattern after initial glazing step.
- **Figure 3-3.** (a) Cross-sectional schematic showing the general principles of the miniature silicon vapor chamber. Inset shows the variation in meniscus distribution and heat flux vectors in the evaporator wick. (b) Top view of radial representation of flow through evaporator wick. The wick is divided into a set of unit rings, with i = 0 starting at the edge of the wick. (c) Representation of a single unit cell within the *i*th unit ring. The cross sectional area, A_i , unit cell volume, V_i , and area-averaged

velocity, U_i , are tabulated as a function of pressure drop across the unit cell for a range of different meniscus curvatures and apparent contact angles, θ_i .

- **Figure 3-4.** (a) Resistance network for calculating the total thermal resistance across a micropillar unit cell in the evaporator wick. (b) Side view of evaporator wick with micropillar height $h_{w,e}$, pitch p_e , and diameter d_e . Inset shows a representation of the thin-film liquid profile, $\delta(z)$, where majority of evaporation occurs.
- Figure 3-5. Schematics of liquid distribution for two cases of liquid volume. (a) Model of condenser liquid distribution without flooding. (b) Condenser liquid distribution in the event of flooding, where a thin film forms on top of the micropillars and creates extra thermal resistance.
- **Figure 3-6.** (a) Finite element simulation for input heat flux of 100 W/cm² to calculate conduction resistance through bonded device sidewalls, R_{side} , by approximating vapor chamber as a dry device with no working fluid. (b) Solid conduction model representation of vapor chamber with analytical influence coefficient method approach. Each component is treated as a solid block with a defined thickness and equivalent thermal conductivity as calculated from the sub-models described in sections 3.2.1 3.2.3. A uniform heat transfer coefficient is applied to the condenser side with a localized heat source on the evaporator side and insulated sidewalls. (c) Example grid discretization to form 2D power map array of the source plane at the evaporator side heated surface.
- Figure 3-7. Flow chart showing calculation procedure to estimate active heat flow and heat flux dependent wick thermal conductivities. An initial guess is made for R_{act} and Q_{act} , then updated until an energy balance is satisfied.
- Figure 3-8. (a) Single side of electrical connector with pogo pins exposed. (b) Electrical connector assembled with vapor chamber sandwiched in between. (c) Cross sectional schematic of assembled electrical connector in (b). Each connector consists of a PEEK pogo pin holder

mated to a custom PCB to facilitate connections from the pogo pins to external measurement equipment. Once pins are precisely aligned, both connectors are compressed to make the electrical connections with the vapor chamber heater and RTDs. (d) Cold plate assembled on top of condenser side of vapor chamber.

- **Figure 3-9.** Vapor chamber thermal resistance, R_{vc} , versus heat flux for different liquid charge volumes ranging from 11.9 µL to 20.3 µL. The resistance decreases with increasing heat flux for all liquid charge volumes. Increasing the liquid charge from 11.9 µL to 20.3 µL at the highest heat flux level considered of approximately 103 W/cm² increases the resistance by more than 300%.
- Figure 3-10. (a) Model fit against experimental data for 12.9 μL charge volume for β, surface area enhancement factor due to the roughness of the laser ablated micropillars. Best fit against experimental results is for β = 3.
 (b) Laser scanning line profile of surface roughness measured from vapor chamber sidewalls.
- **Figure 3-11.** (a) Experimental data and model fit for temperature profiles at three different RTD locations of T_{E7} , T_{E6} , and T_{E5} on the evaporator surface as a function of input heat flux for a liquid charge of 11.9 µL. The location of the RTDs relative to the heater and overall evaporator area are shown in the inset. (b) Experimental data and model fit for thermal resistance at two different heat fluxes of 38 W/cm² and 103 W/cm² as a function of liquid charge. A clear transition point exists at charge volumes between 15-17 µL, above which the condenser becomes flooded and the device resistance increases drastically.
- **Figure 3-12.** Model prediction for vapor chamber thermal resistance versus all data for experimentally measured thermal resistance. Overall, model prediction agrees with experimental values within 25%, with better agreement for lower liquid charge levels.
- **Figure 3-13.** (a) ΔT_{hs} , or the difference between T_{E7} and T_{E6} , as a function of heat

flux for simulated solid bare silicon slabs of 1 mm and 1.5 mm thickness, respectively, compared against experimental results for a liquid charge volume of 11.9 μ L. The vapor chamber shows an improvement over the solid silicon slabs for heat fluxes above 60 W/cm². (b) 1D resistance stack up of various vapor chamber components as a function of heat flux for modeled liquid charge volume of 11.9 μ L. The evaporator wick resistance, $R_{w,e}$, is strongly dependent on heat flux and dominates compared to the solid evaporator/condenser silicon resistances, $R_{s,c}$ and $R_{s,e}$, and condenser wick resistance, $R_{w,c}$.

- Figure 4-1. (a) Thermal regulator cross-sectional schematic. Heated liquid evaporates from a porous wick, diffuses through an NCG-filled cavity to reach the cold side of the device, then condenses and circulates back to the heated side through capillary action. Parasitic conduction occurs through the device sidewalls. (b) Steady-state thermal resistance network for the temperature drop across the device. The resistance R_{NCG} varies with P_{NCG} and total heat input, creating the device thermal regulatory properties.
- Figure 4-2. (a) Micropillar wick unit cell cross-sectional view. (b) Top view of micropillar wick with diameter *d* and pitch *l*. (c) Evaporator micropillar wick resistance network.
- **Figure 4-3.** Boundary conditions for 2D force balance model used to generate the appropriate meniscus shape and calculate the capillary pressure for the micropillar dimensions considered.
- Figure 4-4. (a) Image of Pyrex frame overlaid on top of the $1 \ge 1 \mod^2$ micropillar wick area on one side of the device after glass frit bonding. The charging port is visible as the circular through-hole at the top center of the wick and Pyrex insert. (b) Fully bonded device with Nanoport attachment and part of $1 \ge 1 \mod^2$ serpentine heater area visible. The face seal o-ring is not visible, and the outer o-ring is used to prevent

overflow of the epoxy. Additional metal pads are visible around periphery of the device for extra RTDs that were not used in this experiment.

- **Figure 4-5.** (a) Steady state experimental results for overall device resistance, R_{th} , for $P_{NCG} = 12$ kPa 99 kPa. Model prediction is shown with dashed lines. (b) Model predictions for R_{NCG} as a function of heat input for $P_{NCG} = 12$ -99 kPa. The achievable resistance contrast in R_{NCG} is much greater than what manifests in the total device resistance, R_{th} , due to parallel and series resistance components.
- **Figure 4-6.** (a) Steady state experimental results for overall device resistance, R_{th} , for $P_{NCG} = 12$ kPa 99 kPa. Model prediction is shown with dashed lines. (b) The temperature difference ΔT as a function of T_e for $P_{NCG} = 12 34$ kPa. ΔT becomes clamped to ΔT_{cr} at a different $T_{e,cr}$ value depending on the value of P_{NCG} .
- **Figure 4-7.** T_e and T_c versus input power, Q, for $P_{NCG} = 34$ kPa. At location 1, $T_e < T_{e,cr}$ and clamping has not initiated, causing ΔT to increase with increasing Q. At location 2, $T_e < T_{e,cr}$ and dT_e/dQ is approximately equal to dT_c/dQ (location 3), which results in the ΔT clamping behavior.
- **Figure 4-8.** (a) Steady state experimental and model results for overall device resistance with $P_{NCG} = 12$ kPa and $t_{core} = 500 \ \mu\text{m} - 1 \ \text{mm}$. (b) Model results for R_{NCG} and R_p for $t_{core} = 500 \ \mu\text{m} - 1 \ \text{mm}$. R_p and R_{NCG} increase proportionally with t_{core} , which minimizes the impact on the overall switching ratio.
- **Figure 4-9.** Device switching ratio, S_R , for $t_{core} = 500 \ \mu\text{m}$ as the sidewall width, w_{side} is varied from 200 μm -1500 μm for $P_{NCG} = 5 \ \text{kPa} - 99 \ \text{kPa}$. S_R is more sensitive to variations in w_{side} for higher P_{NCG} .
- **Figure 4-10.** (a) Device switching ratio, S_R , for sidewall width $w_{side} = 200 \ \mu\text{m} 1000 \ \mu\text{m}$, $P_{NCG} = 5 \ \text{kPa} 99 \ \text{kPa}$, and $t_{core} = 500 1000 \ \mu\text{m}$. Increasing t_{core} is more effective for increasing S_R as w_{side} is reduced to prevent R_p and

 R_{NCG} from scaling proportionately. (b). Switching efficiency of the device, η , for $t_{core} = 1000 \ \mu\text{m}$ and $w_{side} = 200 - 1000 \ \mu\text{m}$.

- Figure 4-11. Device resistance stack up for $P_{NCG} = 12$ kPa. R_{NCG} dominates for low heat inputs but approaches the evaporator wick resistance, $R_{w,e}$ as Q increases, potentially limiting the on-state resistance.
- **Figure 4-12.** Pressure contour and boundary conditions for the viscous pressure drop simulation in COMSOL, where the wick is treated as an effective porous medium with an analytically calculated permeability.
- **Figure 4-13.** (a) Switching ratio S_R as a function of P_{NCG} for $w_{side} = 200 \ \mu\text{m}$ and $t_{core} = 1000 \ \mu\text{m}$ as micropillar wick dimensions are varied from $d = 12 100 \ \mu\text{m}$ and $l = 25 200 \ \mu\text{m}$. Reducing $R_{w,e}$ with a higher density pillar array has the most significant impact on increasing S_R in the low P_{NCG} range. (b) Switching efficiency, η , with varied micropillar array dimensions to reduce $R_{w,e}$. A maximum efficiency of approximately 0.76 is reached for the finest pillar dimensions considered of $d = 12 \ \mu\text{m}$ and $l = 25 \ \mu\text{m}$.
 - Figure 5-1. Steady state model results for R_{NCG} as a function of T_e for $P_{NCG} = 12$ kPa. R_{NCG} is relatively independent of the condenser side condition and can be expressed primarily as a function of T_e . A second order polynomial fit is generated for use as an input to the transient COMSOL simulation.
 - Figure 5-2. Boundary conditions and geometry used in transient solid conduction simulation in COMSOL.
 - Figure 5-3. Transient model and experimental temperature profiles for the average evaporator/condenser side temperatures, T_e and T_c in response to step high and low heat inputs of approximately 9 W and 0.7 W, respectively.
 - Figure 5-4. (a) Model and experimental temperature profiles when the applied heat input, Q_{in} is pulsed in 5 second durations from 0.7 W to 9 W. (b) Transient device resistance in response to the pulsed heating input. The

device takes longer to reach the steady-state resistance value in the cool-down phase, leading to transient off-state resistances much higher than steady-state values.

- **Figure 5-5.** (a) Model results for the device transient heat flow pathways in terms of the total heat supplied to the heater, external heat removal from the condenser side, and the rate of change in sensible heat storage in the evaporator/condenser substrates. (b) Transient model and experimental profiles for the temperature difference ΔT in response to a pulsed heat input. The clamping behavior of the device fixes ΔT in the on-state and causes the device resistance to rapidly approach the steady state value.
- Figure 6-1. (a) Biporous copper nanowire arrays fabricated through electroplating with a patterned seed layer. The microscale cavities can potentially act as bubble nucleation sites for enhanced boiling. (b) Copper inverse opals with a hierarchical cupric oxide nanostructured coating after a chemical oxidation process. The cupric oxide coating alters the wettability of the structure and makes it superhydrophilic.
- **Figure 6-2.** Example implementation of the thermal regulator presented in chapters 4 and 5. In ordinary operation, the thermal regulator is in the off-state, and the majority of heat removal takes place through the top of the active device from the heat sink. If a sudden power surge occurs, the thermal regulator enters the on-state, the thermal resistance decreases, and heat flow is diverted through the PCB as well, limiting the maximum junction temperature rise for the active device.

Chapter 1 Introduction

This section provides background and motivation for the work encapsulated in this dissertation. It presents some of the thermal management challenges in modern electronics cooling, and introduces vapor chambers and thermal regulators/switches as heat routing mechanisms to address some of those challenges.

1.1 Challenges in electronics cooling

The semiconductor industry has sustained rapid performance growth over the past few decades, largely following the scaling trends predicted by Moore's Law [1]. As applications become increasingly power-dense and space constrained [2], however, thermal challenges have risen to the forefront as critical issues that potentially inhibit future performance improvement. The heat generation in various electronics components is often spatially and/or temporally variant, leading to localized hotspots or large temperature swings that can drastically decrease device reliability [3] or lead to outright failure from thermal runaway [4] if left unchecked.

Traditional cooling solutions have primarily targeted the goal of constant heat dissipation, where an active cooling technology is used to remove the largest amount of heat possible from the system. Hotspot heat fluxes can range from the order of 0.1-1 kW/cm² [5,6] and typically require extremely effective active heat removal strategies with heat transfer coefficients in the range of 10,000 Wm⁻²K⁻¹ or higher to maintain junction temperatures within operating limits [7]. A variety of active thermal management strategies have been developed in literature to achieve these high rates of heat removal, including microcontact Peltier coolers [8], jet impingement [9], embedded microchannels [10,11], and microgap coolers [12]. While effective, these active removal strategies frequently require additional components to function such as external power supplies, liquid pumps, and heat exchangers, etc., creating significant burdens on overall system cost and complexity [13].



1.2 Vapor chamber heat spreaders

Figure 1-1. (a) A simplified representation of a semiconductor packaging scheme without a heat spreading layer. The heat flux experienced at the heatsink base is comparable to the heat flux generated at the hotspot. (b) A semiconductor packaging scheme with a high thermal conductivity heat spreading layer added between the die and the heat sink. The heat spreader greatly reduces the heat flux experienced at the heat sink base, relaxing the heat sink cooling requirements.

The use of an intermediary heat spreader layer between the heat source and sink can mitigate many of the challenges associated with hotspot cooling mentioned in the previous section. Figure 1-1(a) shows a simplified representation of a semiconductor packaging scheme where heat generated at a localized hotspot is cooled by a heat sink attached to the top of the semiconductor die. If no significant heat spreading occurs, the heat flux experienced at the base of the heat sink is comparable to the hotspot heat flux, and the heat sink must have a sufficiently high heat transfer coefficient to dissipate the concentrated heat flux to maintain a reasonable junction temperature at the die. As Figure 1-1(b) shows, however, the addition of a high thermal conductivity heat spreader layer between the die and the heat sink can substantially reduce the heat flux by the time the heat flow reaches the heat sink base, relaxing the heat removal requirement for the heat sink. Overall, the primary goal of an effective heat spreader is to provide impedance matching between the level of heat generation at the hotspot with the existing systemlevel cooling capability.

INTRODUCTION



Figure 1-2. Cross-sectional schematic of operating principles of a vapor chamber. Heat generation at the heat source causes liquid in the evaporator wick to evaporate, spread through the vapor core, then condense back into liquid over the entire condenser side wick area. The condensed liquid recirculates to the hotspot through capillary action in the porous wick and creates a passive cycle of liquid-vapor phase change. The vapor spreading in the core typically occurs with minimal temperature drop and provides the high effective thermal conductivity region of the device.

Vapor chambers are high performance heat spreaders that utilize liquid-vapor phase change to achieve effective thermal conductivities often much higher than that of solids. Figure 1-2 shows a general schematic detailing the operating principles of a vapor chamber. A vapor chamber is formed from a hermetically sealed cavity typically lined with a porous wicking material. The entire cavity is charged with a fixed amount of working fluid and evacuated of all non-condensable gases to create a saturated environment within the chamber. As heat is supplied to the evaporator side of the device, the liquid in the porous wick evaporates, spreads throughout the vapor core, then condenses back into liquid upon reaching the condenser side wick. The vapor core provides the extremely high thermal conductivity portion of the device. With the exception of ultra-thin vapor chambers [14], the vapor spreading typically occurs with minimal pressure drop (and subsequent temperature drop), creating a nearly isothermal core region. The range of effective thermal conductivity values reported in literature for the core are on the order of 20,000 $Wm^{-1}K^{-1}$ or above [15].

CHAPTER 1

The porous wick on the evaporator side of the vapor chamber plays a critical function in the overall device performance. The evaporator wick must fulfill the simultaneous functions of providing a high enough capillary pressure to drive fluid flow to the hotspot, while maintaining a low viscous pressure drop to avoid capillary-limited dryout. While various other operating limits exist for heat pipes and vapor chambers, including the sonic, entrainment, and boiling limits, the capillary limit is typically the dominant operational limit for vapor chambers [16].

The permeability of a porous material, K is roughly proportional to the square of the medium's characteristic length scale [17], or

$$K \propto \delta^2 \tag{1.1}$$

Depending on the composition of the porous material, the definition of the characteristic length scale varies. The permeability of sintered copper wicks comprised of packed particles, for example, depends primarily on the particle size [18], while inverse porous materials are more commonly defined by a characteristic pore size [19]. The capillary pressure of the wick, however, is typically proportional to the inverse of the characteristic length scale, or

$$P_c \propto \frac{1}{\delta} \tag{1.2}$$

This conflicts with the desired scaling trend for enhancing permeability. Additionally, the wick should ideally have a low thermal resistance to minimize the temperature drop between the vapor chamber wall and vapor region. As the heat must pass through the porous wick before reaching the high effective thermal conductivity vapor core, the evaporator wick resistance often acts as a thermal bottleneck for the entire vapor chamber. A majority of the evaporation in porous microstructures has been demonstrated to occur from a thin liquid film region near the three-phase contact line on the order of 1-10 μ m thick [20–22]. Increasing the surface area to volume ratio is

INTRODUCTION

therefore an important consideration in wick design to maximize the area available for evaporation from the thin liquid film region [23]. Overall, the simultaneous goals of achieving a low evaporator wick resistance while maximizing the capillary-limited dryout heat flux create a multi-objective design problem. Biporous and/or hierarchical porous structures have emerged as promising solutions, where wicks with two or more dominant feature sizes can be tuned to optimize multiple wick parameters at once [24–26].

The condenser side of a vapor chamber must fulfill two primary design considerations: a satisfactory mechanism must exist for returning liquid to the evaporator side wick, and condensation should ideally occur without the formation of a high thermal resistance, bulk liquid film. A few different approaches can be taken to achieve these goals. In a completely capillary driven vapor chamber, the condenser side is also lined with a porous wick that delivers liquid back to the evaporator side wick and prevents bulk liquid film formation. The thermal resistance across the condenser wick is not as critical as the heat is spread over the entire wick area as opposed to the evaporator side hotspot, so the condenser wick dimensions may differ from the evaporator wick dimensions. More important in this case is for the viscous pressure drop across the condenser side wick to be minimal compared to the evaporator wick pressure drop in order to reduce the contribution to the capillary dryout limit. An alternative to avoid the issue of condenser side viscous pressure drop while still maintaining a low condensation resistance is to combine microstructured surfaces with chemical patterning to create superhydrophobic surfaces for jumping droplet liquid return [27–29]. The maximum heat flux in jumping droplet liquid return may be sensitive to the entrainment limit, however, as well as condensate transport distance constraints when the jumping must take place against gravity [30].

Vapor chamber and heat pipes have traditionally been fabricated out of metals such as copper or aluminum due to their relatively high inherent thermal conductivities and associated ease of machining and manufacturing [31–33]. Metals, however, tend of have significantly higher coefficients of thermal expansion (CTE) compared with most semiconducting materials, which necessitates the use of mechanically compliant thermal

CHAPTER 1

interface materials (TIMs) between the die and vapor chamber. A significant portion of the total temperature drop in the system can occur across these TIMs, which can minimize the overall benefit of having a high performance vapor chamber heat spreader. From a packaging perspective, therefore, there is great interest in exploring vapor chambers fabricated out of non-traditional materials that can achieve better CTE matching with semiconductor die.

1.3 Thermal regulators and switches

In addition to the use of passive heat spreading mechanisms to ease system level cooling constraints, a relatively newer approach to thermal management explores the capability of nonlinear thermal devices for controllable heat routing [34]. Electric vehicle batteries, for instance, operate most efficiently within a narrow temperature band but frequently experience large fluctuations in environmental conditions [35]. Ideally, a battery pack would be insulated during cold-start conditions to leverage internal heat generation to preheat the pack [36], then have efficient cooling in a hot environment to prevent overheating. These contrasting thermal management conditions can be realized through the implementation of a thermal regulator or switch, where the thermal resistance between the battery and external sink can be varied depending on the environmental temperature [37,38]. Similar strategies could be implemented for electronics cooling, where the heat generation is frequently spatially and/or temporally non-uniform. As an example, Yang et al. successfully used a liquid metal thermal switch to isothermalize two different GaN power transistors located on the same PCB [39]. A thermal regulator placed in parallel with a temperature sensitive component could also be used to block heat flow during regular operation, then act as a low resistance shunt to divert heat flow and prevent temperature swings during transient power spikes.

Conversely, thermal regulation may also be utilized to purposefully amplify the temperature difference within a system. Thermal energy harvesters, for example, demonstrate increased energy efficiency when operating with pulsed heating inputs [40–42]. When naturally occurring pulsed inputs are unavailable, appropriate thermal regulator usage can convert constant heat sources into oscillating heat sources [34].

6

INTRODUCTION

Through all of the aforementioned applications, a critical opportunity emerges for the implementation of high performance thermal devices that can dynamically respond to variations in environmental and operational thermal loads.

The standard figure of merit used to evaluate the effectiveness of a thermal regulator design is the switching ratio, where

$$S_R = \frac{R_{OFF}}{R_{ON}} \tag{2.3}$$

The off-state resistance R_{OFF} is ideally as high as possible to minimize unwanted heat leakage through the regulator, and the on-state resistance R_{ON} should be as low as possible to minimize the temperature drop across the regulator itself.

Many different physical mechanisms have been leveraged to create devices with switchable and nonlinear thermal resistance behavior. One common method to create a switchable resistance is through making or breaking mechanical contact between the heat source and sink [43]. The contact can be initiated through active mechanisms such as the application of an electric field [44], or passive mechanisms such as differential thermal expansion induced flexing [45] and contraction/expansion from thermal strain recovery in shape memory alloys [37]. Phase or structural transitions in solid-state materials can also lead to changes in thermal conductivity that can be utilized for passive thermal regulation [46–49]. Polyethylene nanofibers, for instance, have demonstrated reversible thermal conductance changes with a 10x switching ratio during structural transitions between ordered and disordered phases [50]. Additional regulation schemes that can demonstrate highly variable thermal resistances include microscale gas-gap switches (primarily suitable for cryogenic applications [51]) or liquid-vapor phase change in the form of gas-loaded heat pipes [52] and highly nonlinear boiling heat transfer coefficients [53].

With many of these existing regulation mechanisms, however, the switching temperature range is typically fixed and difficult to tune without modifying the material composition of the regulator. Regulators actuated with active mechanisms such as electric fields can be switched freely, but require external components that add additional system complexity. Thermal management systems can therefore greatly benefit from the addition

CHAPTER 1

of passive, versatile thermal regulators with resistance switching characteristics that can be easily tuned for a wide range of operating scenarios.

1.4 Organization and scope of work

Chapter 1 introduces the challenges associated with thermal management in space-constrained and power dense applications. Two potential methods are introduced to address some of these challenges: vapor chambers as effective heat spreaders to reduce system-level cooling constraints, and thermal regulators/switches to controllably route heat as opposed to constant heat dissipation.

Chapter 2 presents a review of silicon-based vapor chamber technology for integrated packaging schemes, as opposed to traditional copper/metal-based vapor chambers. We describe several of the challenges associated with the design and large-scale manufacturing of silicon-based devices, as well as unique opportunities for performance enhancement enabled by the precision of silicon micromachining processes.

Chapter 3 examines the performance of a miniature $(1x1 \text{ cm}^2 \text{ condenser area})$ silicon vapor chamber for die-level heat redistribution. The vapor core and evaporative/condenser wicking structures are fabricated through a novel lithography-free ultra violet (UV) laser ablation process. We also develop a semi-analytical model to predict the effect of liquid charge volume on the overall device performance and benchmark with respect to the heat spreading capabilities of solid silicon.

Chapter 4 introduces a novel thermal regulation mechanism that leverages binary vapor diffusion through a non-condensable gas cavity to create a passive, tunable thermal resistance switching mechanism. We present a steady-state characterization of the device performance and demonstrate that the resistance characteristics of the device can be easily varied through modulation of the non-condensable gas pressure. The device also exhibits behavior analogous to an electrical varistor, where the temperature difference across the regulator becomes clamped to a relatively heat-flow independent value above a certain threshold. An analytical model is derived for the steady-state switching behavior,

INTRODUCTION

and a parametric optimization study is performed to increase the steady-state switching ratio to as high as 14.

Chapter 5 investigates the transient device behavior of the thermal regulator developed in chapter 4. We examine the various device components that dominate the transient thermal response, and characterize the device resistance switching in response to pulsed heating inputs. Through an experimentally validated model, we determine that the majority of the device transient response is dominated by sensible heat storage in the solid device volume. The thermal time constant of the device is characterized to be on the order of seconds, with some variation depending on the effective heat transfer coefficient of the cold side heat sink. Based on the transient response and steady-state switching ratio data, we discuss the applicability of this novel thermal regulation mechanism for temperature control in future systems.

Chapter 6 summarizes the primary findings of the dissertation, and places them in the context of broader research in the field. Additional opportunities and research directions are proposed for future thermal management schemes utilizing liquid-vapor phase change phenomena.

Chapter 2 Challenges and Opportunities with Silicon Vapor Chambers

This chapter provides a review and perspectives on the potential of silicon-based vapor chambers for use as high performance, integrated heat spreaders in future packaging schemes. Large portions of this chapter have been taken from T. Liu, et al., "Review of Silicon-based Vapor Chambers: State of Technology and Perspectives," (manuscript in preparation).

2.1 Vapor chamber material options

Traditional vapor chambers and spreaders are typically fabricated out of copper due to ease of manufacturing and the high thermal conductivity of solid copper (though this can depending on the fabrication process). Copper, however, has a much larger CTE compared to most semiconductor substrate materials used in electronic devices today. The CTE mismatch between the die and heat spreader is therefore a large source of stress generation in a typical package [54], necessitating the use of mechanically compliant but poor thermal conductivity thermal interface materials.

A summary of various materials and their linear thermal expansion coefficients at room temperature is given in Table 2-1. As seen in the table, common semiconductor substrate materials such as Si, GaN, and SiC all have similar linear coefficients of thermal expansion in the 2-4 ppm/K range, while metals such as Cu and Al have much larger CTE values greater than 15 ppm/K. Various studies in literature have therefore explored the fabrication of vapor chambers with walls formed from lower CTE materials to achieve better expansion matching in the semiconductor material range. Ju et al., for example, used aluminum nitride ceramic plates (CTE of 4.5 ppm/K) to form the vapor chamber walls, with internal wick structures formed from copper particles sintered to direct bonded copper layers on top of the ceramic [55]. Altman et al. fabricated a vapor

CHALLENGES AND OPPORTUNITIES WITH SILICON VAPOR CHAMBERS

chamber from CuMo (CTE ~8 ppm/K) laminated substrates bonded to a copper frame [56]. Titanium also has been used as a novel vapor chamber material due to its lower CTE (~8.5 ppm/K) and compatibility with micromachining processes [57].

Table 2-1.	Coefficients	of linear	thermal	expansion	at	room	temperature	for	various
materials.									

Material	CTE [ppm/K]	Source
Silicon	2.6	[58]
	• •	[[[]]
Gallium Nitride	2.8	[59]
Silicon Carbide	3.8	[60]
Copper	17	[61]
Aluminum	24	[61]
Diamond	0.8	[62]
Titanium	8.5	[63]

Based on the values in Table 2-1, however, silicon naturally emerges as the vapor chamber material candidate with the best CTE matching to various semiconductor substrates. Vadakkan et al. demonstrated through simulation that using a silicon vapor chamber in place of a standard copper lid could reduce the compressive stress in the die by as much as 96% [64]. From a packaging perspective, this creates the potential for new configurations utilizing better bonding interfaces between the die and the vapor chamber, or direct integration of silicon vapor chamber components into the die substrate as part of a streamlined process flow. Fabricating vapor chambers out of silicon brings a fresh set of challenges, as the vapor chamber dimensions are limited by the size of available silicon wafers, and traditional manufacturing approaches that have been well-established for metal vapor chambers are incompatible with silicon wafer processing. Silicon-based

CHAPTER 2

vapor chamber fabrication can benefit, however, from the large array of precision silicon micromachining processes developed in the last few decades for MEMS and CMOS devices. The micron-scale precision of these processes creates many additional opportunities for thermo-fluidic optimization of the vapor chamber performance, particularly in terms of porous wick design.



2.2 Packaging opportunities with silicon vapor chambers



Perhaps the simplest compelling use case scenario for a silicon vapor chamber can be envisioned by comparing a traditional microprocessor package with a copper heat spreader, as shown in Figure 2-1(a), with the various other packaging scenarios enabled by a silicon vapor chamber. As mentioned in the previous section, the thermal interface material between the die and copper spreader, typically referred to as TIM1, must be mechanically compliant to accommodate the CTE mismatch within the package. If the metal lid is replaced by a silicon vapor chamber as shown in Figure 2-1(b), however, the requirement for mechanical compliance could potentially be relaxed in lieu of lower

CHALLENGES AND OPPORTUNITIES WITH SILICON VAPOR CHAMBERS

thermal resistance interfaces with the die. Eutectic die attach or similar could be utilized to achieve high thermal conductivity, minimal bond line thickness interfaces between the die and vapor chamber [65–67].

Another potential implementation of a silicon vapor chamber could be as shown in Figure 2-1(c). Solid silicon interposers with through silicon vias (TSVs) are widely accepted as cost-effective methods for creating power-efficient interconnects in multichip packages [68,69]. Though silicon can lead to higher electrical losses compared to organic and glass substrates [70], using an interposer with a higher thermal conductivity can play a significant role in reducing the overall package thermal resistance [71]. Packaging architectures where the heat primarily goes through the substrate may therefore benefit from higher thermal performance interposers such as the one shown in Figure 2-1(c), where a future interposer could form a self-contained silicon vapor chamber. Choice of a high dielectric strength working fluid would be important to ensure electrical isolation of TSVs that would have to transcend the vapor core, and fabrication would certainly be more challenging than existing solid interposers. As packages become increasingly thermally limited, however, such architectures may be worthwhile considerations.

Finally, yet another packaging opportunity with a silicon vapor chamber could be as shown in Figure 2-1(d), where evaporative wicking structures are etched directly into the solid substrate of the die. This approach would eliminate any thermal bottleneck associated with intermediary thermal interface materials, bringing the heat spreading as close to the heat generation sources as possible. A complete vapor chamber could be formed by then bonding a cap condenser wafer on top of the die. The condenser cap could either be larger than or equal to the die area depending on the heat source areas under consideration. While a larger condenser area equates with more heat spreading area, die-matched directly integrated vapor chambers may be simpler from a fabrication standpoint, enabling wafer-level matching of condenser cap and device wafers.

CHAPTER 2

2.3 Scaling considerations for relevant thermofluidic phenomena

In this section, we present a brief overview of common modeling assumptions for heat and mass transport in vapor chambers. The relative importance of various physical mechanisms is assessed in terms of relevant dimensionless numbers and length scales.

To promote the capillary driven liquid circulation in a vapor chamber, the porous wicks typically contain feature sizes on the order of a few hundred microns or less. With these length scales, the Bond number, or ratio of gravitational forces to surface tension forces is typically much less than 1. Vapor chambers have demonstrated functionality with up to 10 g of gravitational loading without failure [5], though excessive working fluid pooling over the condenser can decrease the effective thermal conductivity compared to standard gravity conditions [72]. At the liquid-vapor interface, the Capillary number (ratio of viscous to surface tension forces) and Weber number (ratio of inertial to surface tension forces) are also typically much less than 1 [20]. The approximation of a constant meniscus shape is frequently used in modeling of evaporation from the wick liquid-vapor interfaces, though the possibility of Marangoni driven instabilities exists if the degree of superheat is high enough [73]. The liquid flow through the porous wick is laminar (with Reynolds numbers typically less than or equal to 10), and can be approximated with a porous medium approach [74]. The thermal resistance of the porous wick is frequently calculated with a conduction approximation [15] justified by the static meniscus assumption and low liquid velocities within the wick [75].

Within the vapor cavity, the vapor flow is typically modeled as laminar, and both compressible and incompressible approaches have been used to varying degrees of accuracy [16]. The effect of natural convection on heat transfer from the wick surface can usually be neglected, as the natural convection thermal resistance ($\sim 10^{-2} \text{ m}^2\text{-K/W}$) is typically orders of magnitude higher than the liquid-vapor interfacial resistance ($\sim 10^{-6} \text{ m}^2\text{-K/W}$) [20,75]. Similarly, we estimate thermal resistances due to conduction across the vapor cavity ($\sim 10^{-2} \text{ m}^2\text{-K/W}$) and radiation with a linearized heat transfer coefficient

 $(\sim 10^{-1} \text{ m}^2\text{-}K/W)$ as significantly larger than and negligible compared to the interfacial resistances.

2.4 Summary of existing silicon vapor chambers

2.4.1 Heat spreading configurations

Before we begin the discussion of existing silicon vapor chamber efforts in literature, a distinction must be made between silicon vapor chambers and silicon micro heat pipes. Silicon micro heat pipes were among the earliest passive, two-phase heat transport devices proposed for direct integration with semiconductor dies. The micro heat pipe concept was first presented by Cotter in 1984 as a convex, cusped groove where the mean curvature of the liquid-vapor interface is comparable to the inverse of the hydraulic radius for flow in the groove [76]. Multiple grooves may also be etched in an array to increase the heat transfer area. Since the initial conceptualization, a range of micro heat pipes have been fabricated in silicon wafers through various silicon etching techniques [77]. The key difference between silicon vapor chambers and silicon micro heat pipes, however, is in the heat transport configuration. In a micro heat pipe, evaporation takes place at one end of the grooves, and condensation takes place at the opposing end, typically with a 1:1 heated area to condenser area ratio. The heat pipe primarily serves as a high thermal conductivity one-dimensional heat transport mechanism, and not a spreader. The devices considered in this review of silicon vapor chamber technology will therefore consist only of silicon-based devices that rely on liquid-vapor phase change for heat spreading purposes. Figure 2-2(a) shows an example of a heat pipe used for onedimensional heat transport, versus vapor chambers used in planar (Figure 2-2(b)) and radial (Figure 2-2(c)) spreading configurations. Silicon vapor chambers can leverage much of the manufacturing progress demonstrated from silicon micro heat pipe literature, but present a unique set of considerations due to the different heat transport geometry.

CHAPTER 2



Figure 2-2. (a) Heat pipe operation with one-dimensional heat transport. (b) A twodimensional heat planar spreading configuration with a vapor chamber, where heat rejection occurs over the entire face opposite of the evaporator. (c) A two-dimensional radial heat spreading configuration with a vapor chamber.

2.4.2 Heat spreading performance of silicon vapor chambers

Unlike heat pipes with one-dimensional heat flow, an effective thermal conductivity cannot be readily defined for vapor chambers without comparative numerical simulations due to the two-dimensional nature of the heat spreading. Cai et al. fabricated a silicon device meant for use as a vapor chamber, but experimentally characterized it as a one-dimensional heat pipe to more easily obtain an effective thermal conductivity value [78]. It is important to note that the effective thermal conductivity value calculated in this scenario (2500 Wm⁻¹K⁻¹) [78], however, cannot be applied to the device performance if used as a vapor chamber due to the different heat flow configurations involved. A direct comparison of the relative performance of various silicon vapor chambers is also difficult as the different form factors and hotspot to condenser area ratios lead to different innate spreading resistances. The performance of vapor chambers reported in literature is therefore often presented based on a relative comparison to a benchmark spreader, frequently that of solid silicon or copper. Results have also been reported in terms of performance improvement of the vapor chamber with and without working fluid [79,80], but this metric only provides confirmation that the vapor chamber is functioning, with minimal information on the degree of functionality.
CHALLENGES AND OPPORTUNITIES WITH SILICON VAPOR CHAMBERS

Table 2-2 presents a summary of the various silicon vapor chambers developed in literature in terms of their form factors, hotspot to condenser area ratios, wick structures, and reported performance metric. Benson et al. performed one of the earliest investigations of silicon vapor chambers as heat spreading substrates for multichip modules at Sandia National Laboratories [81,82]. Various evaporator wick structures were formed from different approaches including bidirectional cuts with a wafer saw, as well as anisotropic plasma etching. A wickless vapor cap wafer was joined to the evaporator side wick structures with a silica glass bond to serve as the condenser. Based on the initial experimental results for the temperature gradient with the vapor chamber compared to a reference silicon spreader, the vapor chamber effective thermal conductivity was estimated to be approximately 800 Wm⁻¹K⁻¹.

A few other trends emerge from the summary of existing silicon vapor chambers in Table 2-2. First, the vapor chambers are all much larger than a typical die size, with total areas ranging from $5 - 25 \text{ cm}^2$. From a heat spreading perspective, it is beneficial to reduce the heat flux as much as possible by spreading to a much larger area. From a cost perspective, however, this would result in silicon vapor chambers that likely cost much more than a typical semiconductor die, both due to the larger silicon substrate area required, as well as cost of additional processing steps. It is therefore likely that in order to be cost effective, vapor chambers of these sizes would be more suitable for module level heat spreading between multiple dies, as opposed to the single heat source configurations used for testing.

Water also emerges as the predominant working fluid of choice. Water is easy to work with in a laboratory setting and has a relatively high capillary merit number [14], where

$$M_l = \frac{\sigma \rho_l h_{fg}}{\mu_l} \tag{2.1}$$

The merit number represents the potential of the working fluid to maximize the capillary dryout limit in the vapor chamber. A higher surface tension, σ creates a higher capillary

pressure in the wick, while a higher density ρ_l and latent heat h_{fg} result in a lower evaporative mass flux for the same heat input. A lower liquid viscosity, μ_l leads to a lower viscous pressure drop. Overall, water tends to have a merit number approximately 10 times higher than other working fluids in the 0 °C – 200 °C operating range [83]. The compatibility of water with silicon vapor chamber components should therefore be an important consideration in the overall vapor chamber design.

In general, when the comparison was provided, the studied silicon vapor chambers showed significant improvement in heat spreading performance over solid silicon benchmarks. The maximum input power limitation was not extensively studied, however, and the summary in Table 1 shows a large variation in reported input powers ranging from as low as 1.6 W to 70 W. Taking into account the different heater sizes used in the studies, the different input powers can be translated to a heat flux range of approximately 13 - 100 W/cm². Some studies identified a maximum capillary-limited dryout power, though this was not listed for all cases, and a number of studies reported that exploring higher heat fluxes was not possible due to maximum temperature limitations of various experimental components [84,85]. Overall, quantification of the maximum input power/heat flux for a vapor chamber is a critical parameter to determine what kind of heat spreading applications the device can be utilized for. The capillarylimited dryout power in vapor chambers is a strong function of the overall vapor chamber dimensions, and in particular depends on the design of the evaporator wick. To gain more perspective on this topic, the following section will provide a more in-depth look at fundamental studies on the capillary-fed evaporation and boiling performance of various porous materials that can potentially be utilized as evaporator wicks in silicon vapor chambers.

Cai et al. [78] [84] [88] Ivanova et al. [08]Gillot et al. [87] Kang et al. Wei et al He et al. [79] [98] [81,82] Authors Liu et al. [85] Ivanova et al. Benson et al. Liang et al. $0.9 \ge 5$ cm² 1×1 cm² 4×4 cm² 5×5 cm² 1×5 cm² 5×5 cm² 3×3 cm² 3×3 cm² 2×2 cm² cm^2 area Vapor 3.8 x 3.8 chamber condenser 1:25 area ratio Hotspot to 1:101:1.25 1:25 1:36 1:9 1:5 1:5 1:91:9 Planar Planar One-Radial Planar Planar Planar Planar Radial Radial configuration heating dimensional Tested Micro grooves Micro Crosses Micro grooves Micro structure Wick grooves copper Micropillars Micropillars grooves Micropillars Micropillars powder monolayer Biporous uniformity 45% conductivity in 1D mode of 98 W Maximum dryout heat power improvement over empty improvement over solid Si chamber improvement over empty Estimated effective thermal conductivity $\sim 800 \text{ Wm}^{-1}\text{K}^{-1}$ Hotspot temperature Effective thermal improvement over empty chamber improvement over solid Si Evaporator temperature 27% chamber improvement over solid Si **Performance metric** improvement over solid Si $\sim 2500 \text{ Wm}^{-1} \text{K}^{-1}$ Thermal resistance 66% Thermal resistance 65% Thermal resistance 45% Thermal resistance 10% Thermal resistance 40% 30 W 27 86 37 W 70 W 00 W 15 W 10 W 10 W 1.6 W power input Max × 0.9 W N/A N/A N/A N/A S 10 W 20-30 W 86 15 W of dryout Initiation Ł Water Water Water Water Water Water Water Water Methanol fluid Ethanol Working

 Table 2-2. Summary of experimental characterizations of silicon vapor chambers in literature

CHALLENGES AND OPPORTUNITIES WITH SILICON VAPOR CHAMBERS

2.5 Porous Wick Fabrication and Optimization Strategies

As mentioned in section 2.1, a silicon-based vapor chamber can benefit from the vast array of microfabrication techniques available for the generation of precision micro/nanoscale structures. In particular, this fabrication flexibility is valuable to meet the multi-objective thermo-fluidic design problem of the evaporator wick. This section will discuss some of the porous wick fabrication strategies for silicon-based vapor chambers, and the advantages/disadvantages of the various approaches.

2.5.1 Monolithic silicon wicks

Standard photolithography combined with anisotropic etch processes such as deep-reactive-ion-etching (DRIE) can produce a wide range of structures in silicon. The advantages of such an approach include monolithic integration of the wick with the substrate, removing any potential issues of thermal boundary resistance, and almost infinite possibilities for different combinations of two-dimensional wick structures due to the ease of patterning with photolithography. The tendency of silicon to form a thin layer of native oxide is also beneficial, as silicon oxide is inherently hydrophilic [89], which creates a suitable surface for the capillary-fed wicking action required for the vapor chamber to function properly. As discussed in section 2.4.2, examples of such monolithic wick structures utilized in previously developed silicon vapor chambers include crosses [81] as well as rectangular and radially patterned groove arrays [80,87].

Perhaps the most extensively studied monolithic silicon wick structure for vapor chamber applications, however, has been silicon micropillar arrays [75,78,90–92]. The regular geometry of micropillar arrays makes them conducive to unit-cell modeling approaches for both the fluid flow and heat transfer, enabling relatively accurate model-based prediction of key parameters such as the wick thermal resistance and dryout heat flux [93–95]. In order to extend the dryout heat flux and reduce the wick thermal resistance, efforts have been made to create biporous structures with non-homogenous patterns of silicon micropillars. One such approach by Byon et al. involved interspersing

CHALLENGES AND OPPORTUNITIES WITH SILICON VAPOR CHAMBERS

larger square openings into a denser micropillar array to increase the porosity of the wick [96]. The capillary performance was found to improve over a homogenous array by more than 30%. Similarly, Coso et al. combined square-packed micropillars (diameter $d = 3 - 29 \,\mu$ m, pitch $p = 5 - 28 \,\mu$ m, height $h = 56 - 243 \,\mu$ m) with microchannels (30 to 60 μ m in width) to reduce the viscous pressure loss across the wick while maintaining high capillary suction within the micropillars [97]. The thickest wick with a micropillar height of 243 μ m was able to sustain a maximum heat flux of up to 277 W/cm² for a heated area of 1 cm², with a stable nucleate boiling regime of 185 W/cm² beyond the boiling incipience heat flux.

2.5.2 Wicks with other materials

In addition to monolithically fabricated wicks in silicon, porous structures composed of other materials grown on top of or bonded to silicon substrates may also be promising wick configurations. Some advantages to using other materials such as metals include the possibility of a higher thermal conductivity contribution to the solid wick fraction, potentially reducing the overall wick resistance, and further possibilities for multi-layered, three-dimensional porous structures. Disadvantages include additional fabrication steps needed to bond/grow additional material onto the silicon substrate, and any associated reliability issues with a poor bonding interface or thermal expansion mismatch. Here, we provide a brief overview of some porous structures comprised of materials other than silicon that could be integrated into future silicon vapor chambers.

Copper is an appealing wick material choice due to its high inherent thermal conductivity, and sintered copper in particular has been extensively studied as a wick structure for traditional copper-based heat pipes and vapor chambers [98–100]. The sintering process to form a connected wick from discrete copper powder, however, requires very high temperature processing (> 800 °C) [101] and can result in a wide range of effective wick thermal conductivities depending on the sintering conditions [102]. Such high temperatures would be incompatible with a direct integration scheme as discussed in section 2.2, where the evaporative structure would be fabricated directly on the semiconductor die. Additionally, the relatively large powder particle size ($> 50 \ \mu m$)

used in previous studies results in large wick thicknesses (> 500 μ m) [103] that fall beyond the ideal range of length scales associated with silicon wafer processing.

A more promising alternative to form copper/other metal based wicks on silicon substrates is through electrochemical processes, which have a long history of widespread use in MEMS devices for low-cost, low-temperature, and scalable growth of metal layers of varying compositions [104,105]. To create a porous metal structure with electrodeposition, the substrate of interest must have an electrically conductive surface. This can be achieved on silicon by using highly doped wafers [106] or evaporating/sputtering a thin metallic layer on the surface of interest to act as a conductive seed layer. The use of a template or pattern over the seed layer or conductive area then defines the shape of the resulting porous metal film after electroplating. Copper inverse opals are one example of porous metal films fabricated through a templated electrodeposition process that have demonstrated great promise for use as evaporative wicks [53,107,108]. The highly ordered, three dimensional porous network is fabricated by using self-assembled polystyrene spheres to form a template, electroplating through the template, then dissolving the polystyrene with an organic solvent to create the resulting inverse opal structure [109]. Extremely high critical heat flux values (> 1 kW/cm^2) have been reported for such structures with very low superheat (< 15 °C), albeit for small wicking lengths (< 200 µm) [53]. Additional high permeability fluidic structures integrated with the inverse opals could be a promising route to scale up the inverse opal thermal performance to the millimeter length scales required for use in a vapor chamber wick, similar to the approaches used for biporous silicon micropillar wicks [96].

Hierarchically structured copper micropillars electroplated on silicon substrates have also been studied as potential high performance wicking materials [24,110]. To increase the wettability of water on copper, Nam et al. used a chemical oxidation scheme to form a conformal superhydrophilic nanostructure on top of the copper micropillar [110]. The nanostructuring was found to improve the dryout heat flux by over 70% compared to bare micropillars, with a maximum heat flux reached of approximately 200

CHALLENGES AND OPPORTUNITIES WITH SILICON VAPOR CHAMBERS

 W/cm^2 over a 5 x 5 mm² heated area. Other intricate structures that have been fabricated through electroplating on various substrates include Cu meso-lattices formed by direct laser writing 3D patterns into photoresist [111], though the efficacy of such structures in capillary fed evaporation/boiling has not been thoroughly studied.

Other potential wick structures that can be fabricated on silicon substrates include various nanowire/nanotube arrays. Carbon nanotubes (CNTs) are particularly of interest, as vertically aligned films of varying heights can be directly grown on silicon substrates with relative ease [112]. Some additional attractive attributes of CNTs include the possibility of functionalization to create hydrophilic surfaces [113] and high axial single tube thermal conductivities of approximately ~2000 Wm⁻¹K⁻¹ [114] (though this has been shown to be highly dependent on the CNT growth quality [115]). The nanoscale pores of the nanotube arrays can generate very high capillary pressures within the wick, but also lead to large viscous flow resistances that prevent uniform CNT arrays from being used as the sole wicking material. Weibel et al. proposed to circumvent this issue by using CNTs just over the heated area and a higher permeability material such as sintered copper mesh over the rest of the evaporator wick [26]. Cai and Chen created biporous CNT arrays by patterning the CNT growth on silicon substrates to form parallel stripes with 50 μ m wide microchannels for liquid delivery [116]. The biporous CNT structure was able to dissipate up to 600 W/cm² over a 2 x 2 mm² heated area.

In the majority of the aforementioned studies of capillary-driven evaporation/boiling in porous wicks, biporous and/or hierarchical structures have emerged as higher performance alternatives to their homogenous counterparts. Depending on the different combinations of length scales considered, however, heterogenous wicks may not always perform better than homogenous structures. Ravi et al., for instance, showed that silicon micropillar wicks ($d = 42 \ \mu m$, $p = 90 \ \mu m$, $h = 100 \ \mu m$) capped with a mesh structure to increase the capillary pressure could greatly reduce the dryout heat flux compared to the homogenous baseline wick if the mesh thickness (1 μm) and pore size (4 μm) was too small [117]. With a sufficiently thick mesh (180 μm) and larger pore openings (15 μm), however, the dryout heat flux could be improved by

almost 200% over the baseline. The precision afforded by the vast array of micro/nanomaterials fabrication techniques compatible with silicon substrates creates many promising opportunities for thermofluidic optimization of the heat and mass transport within silicon vapor chambers, though careful design is necessary to ensure performance improvement as opposed to detriment.

2.6 Manufacturing approaches and challenges for silicon vapor chambers

In the majority of silicon vapor chambers developed to date, the vapor chamber is formed from two silicon wafers, with the evaporator side and corresponding wick structure formed on one wafer, and the condenser side located on the other. To define the vapor core, a cavity can be etched into one or both wafers, though as seen in Figure 2-3(a), this can require complicated multi-height etching processes if a monolithic silicon wick structure is also desired. To circumvent this, previous approaches have involved using triple-stack processes where the vapor core is formed from an entirely separate wafer, as seen in Figure 2-3(b) [78]. Alternatively, as shown in Figure 2-3(c), utilizing a wickless condenser allows the vapor cavity to be confined to just the condenser side wafer, and wick structures can be etched into the evaporator wafer without the need for multi-height etching [79]. The formation of a liquid film over the condenser cavity may impact the overall device resistance, however, and the lack of a condenser wick structure also renders the device operation orientation-dependent. In anti-gravity configurations, liquid pooled on the condenser surface will be unable to drip back to the evaporator side without a wick structure. The third alternative, as mentioned in section 2.5, is to form a non-monolithic wick on the silicon substrate by electroplating or bonding a different material. Liang et al. followed this approach by etching the silicon vapor cavity first, then depositing copper powder on top of adhesive dot arrays to form the evaporator wick [86]. While this approach simplifies the etching processes needed, it also introduces the possibility of poor thermal interfaces and/or CTE mismatch between the wick and the substrate.



Figure 2-3. (a) Vapor chamber formed from two Si wafers with monolithic condenser and evaporator wicks. Multi-height etching steps are required for both sides to form the cavity and monolithic wick structures. (b) Triple stack vapor chamber fabrication process where vapor core is formed from separate wafer to avoid multi-height etching steps. (c) Vapor chamber with wickless condenser. Evaporator wick is etched into one substrate, and vapor core is fabricated entirely in the condenser side substrate.

After forming the cavity and the wick structures, the wafers are typically bonded together under dry conditions. One or more through-holes are usually defined for use as external charging ports to evacuate non-condensable gases and charge the vapor chamber with working fluid after the wafers are bonded together. The methods used to bond the various silicon wafers together include glass frit [78,85], Au/Si eutectic [79,87], direct silicon fusion bonding [80], and spin-coated epoxy [86]. After bonding, external tubing can be attached to the charging ports through either soldering on top of metallized port surfaces[80,88,118,119] or joining with epoxy [85,86]. The tubing is then pinched off or closed with a valve to seal off the vapor chamber after evacuation and charging. External evacuation and charging post-bonding has many advantages when performing laboratory-level characterization, as it allows for experimental iteration to find the impact of liquid charge amount. This approach is also relatively simple to integrate with existing laboratory equipment such as syringe pumps and vacuum pumps.

While convenient on a laboratory scale, such filling and evacuation processes may be difficult and impractical for large-scale manufacturing. From a cost perspective, the majority of the silicon vapor chamber manufacturing processes should ideally be performed on a wafer-level as opposed to individual device level. In a review of early pioneering work on silicon micro heat pipes, Peterson discussed several potential

evacuation, charging, and bonding methods for micro heat pipes that could be translated to large-scale silicon vapor chamber production approaches [120]. One proposed method was to place an unsealed micro heat pipe array in a high pressure chamber, evacuate the chamber of NCGs, then fill the chamber with a predetermined amount of working fluid. After heating the chamber above the critical temperature of the fluid, the micro heat pipes could then be sealed while still inside the chamber with an ultraviolet bonding process or similar. A similar principle could apply to the fabrication of silicon vapor chambers, though the use of an ultraviolet bonding process requires a UV transparent condenser cap wafer, which could present compatibility issues and impact the overall heat transfer performance of the silicon vapor chamber. An alternative sealing approach could be to place solder preforms around the charging through-holes, then melt and seal the openings with inductive heating while the vapor chamber is contained within the saturated chamber [121].

Finally, mechanical considerations also play an important role in silicon vapor chamber design. The internal pressure of the vapor chamber is directly related to the vapor temperature, potentially placing restrictions on the maximum operating temperature due to mechanical burst pressure limitations. Power electronics devices utilizing wide bandgap semiconductors such as GaN and SiC frequently operate at 200 °C or above [122], corresponding to vapor chamber internal pressures of more than 1.5 MPa with water as the working fluid. While silicon electronic devices typically do not operate above 120 °C, a silicon vapor chamber attached to a silicon device may still need to survive higher temperatures during various other packaging processes such as die attach and reflow. Cai et al. demonstrated that mechanical support pillars between the evaporator and condenser surfaces were necessary to prevent bursting above 180 °C for a 3x3 cm² silicon vapor chamber [78]. Other techniques such as rounding of etched cavity edges can also be implemented to prevent stress concentration at sharp corners, similar to techniques leveraged in piezoresistive silicon pressure sensors [123].

2.7 Conclusions

Silicon-based vapor chambers are appealing candidates as high performance heat spreaders in space-constrained, power dense applications. In the survey of existing silicon vapor chambers characterized to date, the majority demonstrated a significant improvement in heat spreading performance compared to solid silicon. Since silicon is CTE matched to most semiconductor substrates, the use of a silicon vapor chamber enables a variety of new packaging configurations, such as high thermal performance metal bonding between the die and the vapor chamber or direct integration of evaporative wicking structures into the die substrate. Silicon vapor chambers also present an array of new challenges compared to traditional metal vapor chambers, however, and manufacturing approaches developed in literature have sometimes necessitated trade-offs between fabrication ease and performance. Existing methods for liquid charging and NCG evacuation are also more suited for laboratory level settings and must be scaled up for large-scale production and widespread usage of silicon vapor chambers to become feasible. Overall, however, the outlook for silicon-based vapor chambers remains positive, with many potential benefits for use in integrated packages to address the challenges of chip-level hotspot management.

Chapter 3 Miniature Silicon Vapor Chambers for Die-level Heat Spreading

This chapter describes the fabrication and characterization of a miniature $(1 \times 1 \text{ cm}^2)$ silicon vapor chamber developed for the purpose of die-level heat redistribution. We present experimental results for the device thermal performance, as well as a semi-analytical model to describe the effects of liquid charge volume on the overall thermal resistance. Large portions of this chapter are taken from Liu et al., "Characterization and Thermal Modeling of a Miniature Silicon Vapor Chamber for Die-Level Heat Redistribution," *International Journal of Heat and Mass Transfer*, 2020 [85].

3.1 Device Fabrication

The dimensions of previous silicon vapor chambers in literature described in section 2.4 are typically much larger than a standard die size in order to reduce the heat flux to the condenser side as much as possible, with condenser areas ranging from 3 x 3 cm² to 5 x 5 cm² [78–80,86,124]. While this is beneficial from a thermal perspective to reduce the heat flux as much as possible, it may not always be feasible from a cost and packaging perspective for manufacturers to implement a silicon vapor chamber much larger than the die. Silicon processing is often thought of in terms of cost per unit area, a factor that has stayed roughly constant over the past few decades [125]. We therefore investigate the potential benefit to overall system thermal management in implementing an integrated, die-area matched silicon vapor chamber with an active area of 1 x 1 cm².

As described in the section 2.6, it can be challenging to fabricate both the vapor cavity and monolithic wick structure in the same silicon substrate with traditional dry/wet etching processes. We therefore utilize a novel fabrication approach with ultra-violet (UV) laser ablation to form the vapor core and evaporator/condenser wicks with a lithography-free process. This avoids the need for a triple stack process and any issues of

thermal boundary resistance or CTE mismatch with non-monolithic wicks. Figure 3-1(a) shows the overall fabrication process flow for the miniature silicon vapor chamber. The active vapor chamber area of the device is $1 \times 1 \text{ cm}^2$, with a total vapor chamber thickness of 1.5 mm. 5 mm of solid silicon is included around the periphery of the active vapor core area to allow space for bonding and patterning of electrical contact pads for a thin-film heater and resistance temperature detectors (RTDs). A 1 mm thick, 4 inch silicon wafer is used for the evaporator side in order to account for the vapor core cavity thickness, and a 500 um thick, 4 inch wafer is used for the condenser side with no vapor core cavity. Both wafers go through an initial thermal oxidation step to grow approximately 400 nm of SiO₂ for electrical passivation. Standard photo-lithography techniques are used to expose, develop, and pattern 100 nm of platinum with a 10 nm chromium adhesion layer for the heater and RTDs.

The electrical heater and RTD mask layouts for both the evaporator and condenser sides of the device are shown in Figures 3-1(b) and (c). On the evaporator side, a serpentine heater over a $3.2 \times 3.2 \text{ mm}^2$ area represents the heat source from the die, and 7 different RTDs (labeled as T_{EI-7} in Figure 3-1(b)) are distributed across the 10x10 mm² active evaporator area as well as interspersed between the serpentine heating lines to measure the temperature distribution across the entire evaporator/hotspot for various heat inputs. The average hotspot temperature used in the thermal resistance calculation is estimated by taking the average of T_{E7} , T_{E6} , and T_{E3} . The condenser side has 9 RTDs located at various points across the condenser area to similarly provide information about the condenser side temperature distribution as a function of heat input. Due to microfabrication defects, only 5 of the patterned RTDs were functional on the condenser side (T_{Cl-4} and T_{C6}). The average condenser temperature is calculated from the average of measurements obtained from T_{C1} , T_{C2} , T_{C4} and T_{C6} . No central temperature measurement was available on the condenser side, but the resulting error in the average temperature is expected to be minimal due to the high thermal conductivity of the vapor core. Measurements from a separate, identically fabricated device with a functional central RTD showed a less than 1% difference between an average condenser temperature calculated with and without the central RTD measurement.



Figure 3-1. (a) Fabrication process flow for condenser and evaporator sides starting from (1) 500 μ m thick and 1 mm thick substrates for condenser and evaporator sides, respectively (2) thermal oxidation, then photolithography and metal evaporation to define heater and RTDs, (3) laser ablation to etch vapor core, wick structures, and through-hole, (4) glass frit bond and Nanoport attachment. (b) Evaporator side heater and RTD layout. (c) Condenser side RTD layout. Due to microfabrication defects, only *T*_{C1-4}, and *T*_{C6} were functional.

After patterning the heater and RTDs, the vapor core and evaporator/condenser wick structures are fabricated through UV laser ablation with a pulsed neodymium-doped yttrium orthovanadate (Nd/YVO4) laser (Samurai UV Laser Marking System from DPSS (Diode Pumped Solid State) Lasers Inc). While the use of laser ablation limits the

minimum feature size achievable to around 70 µm, deep etch features such as the vapor core can be performed with relative ease. Additionally, the laser ablation generates a conformal microscale roughness on the etched features that increases the surface area for heat transfer and promotes superhydrophilicity, potentially providing a pathway for performance enhancement over smooth, traditionally microfabricated surfaces. Figure 3-2(a) depicts a scanning electron micrograph (SEM) of a laser-ablated micropillar, with distinct surface roughness generated on the pillar sidewall as well as pillar base (Figure 3-2(b)). The laser ablation process results in slightly conical pillars due to the change in laser focus plane as more material is ablated away. The wick structures on both the evaporator and condenser sides of the vapor chamber are square packed cylindrical pillar arrays, linked by perpendicular grooves around the periphery of the vapor cavity for condensate return. A through-hole, visible in Figure 3-2(c), is also defined for each device during the etching process on the evaporator side to serve as a port for evacuation and liquid charging.



Figure 3-2. (a) Sideview of micropillar fabricated through laser ablation. (b) Top view close up of microscale roughness generated on micropillar wick structures from laser ablation. (c) Evaporator side device with patterned heater/RTDs and through-hole. (d) Glass frit pattern after initial glazing step.

After defining the vapor core and wick structures, the devices are sonicated for 20 seconds to remove any accumulated silicon debris from the ablation process. The evaporator and condenser sides are then joined together with a glass frit bond (Koartan 5645-Si sealing glass paste). The frit includes organic binders mixed in with glass particles that must be burned out first during a high temperature (~ 450 °C) glazing step, otherwise incomplete binder burnout will lead to a weak bond with potential outgassing and generation of non-condensable gases during the device operation. The printed glass frit sealing rings after the initial glazing step can be seen in Figure 3-2(d). In order to perform parametric liquid charging experiments without the added uncertainty of device variation, a non-permanent and reusable connection is used to link the vapor chamber with external fluid lines through a microfluidic Nanoport (Idex HS). A leak-tight connection is formed between the Nanoport and silicon surface through an o-ring face seal, and epoxy is applied to maintain the compressive sealing force. The Nanoport was chosen mainly for experimental convenience, and other methods to form more robust and permanent connections for future devices could involve soldering metal tubing to a metalized port [78], or performing the device bond step in a saturated environment [77].

3.2 Analytical model for effect of liquid charge volume

We develop a reduced order thermo-fluidic model to predict the effect of both heat flux and liquid charge on the overall thermal resistance of the vapor chamber. The thermal performance of vapor chambers and heat pipes has been observed to be strongly dependent on the liquid charge volume [87,126,127], a factor that becomes even more critical when working with a miniaturized device with expected charge volume on the order of microliters. A standard approach to identify the ideal charge volume is to iterate experimentally. Full-scale numerical simulation of the conjugate, two-phase heat and mass transport within a vapor chamber is computationally expensive and can present minimal benefit over an experimental approach. Many models in literature also make the simplification of a saturated wick and cannot account for the effect of varying liquid charge on the overall thermal performance [15,128–131]. The assumption of a saturated wick neglects microscopic pore level effects on wick permeability and effective thermal conductivity, which can be significant depending on the geometry and heat flux level

considered. Ranjan et al. developed a detailed conjugate simulation that coupled a wick microstructure model with a vapor chamber macro-model through an evaporative mass flux correction factor [132], and noted that accounting for microstructure effects is especially critical for wick thicknesses on the order of 100 μ m or less. More work has been done in the area of modeling micro heat pipes, as accounting for the meniscus curvature in the heat pipe grooves is required to drive the liquid flow from the condenser to evaporator section [133,134]. Do et al. developed a numerical model capable of predicting the effect of liquid charge on thermal resistance as well as maximum heat flux for a flat, grooved wick micro heat pipe [135]. Similar work, however, has not been extended to a two-dimensional capillary driven vapor chamber configuration such as the one considered here. In this section, we therefore provide a model to predict the effect of liquid charge and heat flux on the thermal performance of a miniature vapor chamber, accounting for wick microstructure effects, without the need for a full conjugate numerical simulation.

The model does not attempt to calculate the operational limits of the device, thereby allowing the thermal resistance to be calculated from an equivalent solid conduction model without a full numerical simulation of the coupled flow and temperature fields [15]. The effective thermal conductivities of the condenser/evaporator wicks are dependent on the liquid distribution and temperature within the device, however, requiring still some knowledge of the fluid flow. Fluid flow sub-models are therefore developed for each region to account for wick microstructure effects and provide a more accurate estimate of the device resistance without the need for a full conjugate numerical simulation. Additionally, the fluid flow sub-models provide a means to track the total mass of working fluid within the vapor chamber, allowing the model to account for the effect of liquid charge volume. The following sections will go over the thermo-fluidic models for the evaporator wick, condenser wick, and overall model calculation flow.



3.2.1 Evaporator model

Figure 3-3. (a) Cross-sectional schematic showing the general principles of the miniature silicon vapor chamber. Inset shows the variation in meniscus distribution and heat flux vectors in the evaporator wick. (b) Top view of radial representation of flow through evaporator wick. The wick is divided into a set of unit rings, with i = 0 starting at the edge of the wick. (c) Representation of a single unit cell within the *i*th unit ring. The cross sectional area, A_i , unit cell volume, V_i , and area-averaged velocity, U_i , are tabulated as a function of pressure drop across the unit cell for a range of different meniscus curvatures and apparent contact angles, θ_i .

An overall cross-sectional schematic of the capillary wicked silicon vapor chamber considered in this work is shown in Figure 3-3(a). Heat generated from a square

hotspot on the evaporator side of the device causes the liquid within a square-packed micropillar wick to evaporate into vapor, which then spreads throughout the vapor core region before condensing back into liquid in the condenser wick. In the evaporator micropillar wick, evaporation from the centrally located heat source creates a non-uniform liquid distribution as shown in inset of Figure 3-3(a). As the input heat flux increases, further recession of the liquid into the pores of the heated region increases the area for evaporation and reduces the overall wick resistance [23,90,94,97]. Therefore, to accurately capture the effective thermal conductivity as a function of heat flux and liquid charge, the model must be able to incorporate the effect of varying meniscus shape along the length of the evaporator wick. To account for this, we adapt the experimentally validated fluid flow model developed by Zhu et al. to solve for the liquid meniscus distribution along the wick as a function of input heat flux [94].

We extend their model to account for a non-uniform heat input and approximate the liquid flow as one-dimensional, radial flow from the edges of the wick towards the central heated region. As shown in Figure 3-3(b), the actual flow field is not precisely radial due to the square geometry of the heated area and overall wick area. To enable the radial approximation, the square heated area is therefore converted to a circular area by defining an equivalent radius, r_{hs} , such that

$$r_{hs} = \sqrt{\frac{A_{hs}}{\pi}} \tag{3.1}$$

The square wick is similarly converted into a radial equivalent with the same method, then divided into an array of unit rings as shown in Figure 3-3(b), where the rings are numbered such that i = 0 at the wick edge and increases monotonically towards the wick center. While this conversion leads to sections of rings that span outside of the physical device borders, it preserves the total areas of the heat source and wick and provides a more accurate accounting when calculating the total liquid charge contained within the wick. Each i^{th} unit ring is assumed to be comprised of a number of unit cells, n_i , equal to

$$n_i = \left\lfloor \frac{2\pi r_i}{p_i} \right\rfloor \tag{3.2}$$

where r_i is the radius of the *i*th ring, and p_i is the pitch of the micropillars within that ring. The unit cells within each ring have a distinct meniscus shape that satisfies the Young-Laplace equation. The Young-Laplace equation describes the capillary pressure difference sustained across the liquid vapor interface, which can be written as

$$\Delta P_{lv} = P_v - P_l(r) = 2\sigma\kappa(r) \tag{3.3}$$

where P_v is the vapor pressure, P_l is the radially dependent liquid pressure, σ is the liquidvapor surface tension, and κ is the radially dependent meniscus curvature. We assume that the radial gradient in vapor pressure is small compared to the liquid pressure gradient, as is typical in vapor chambers, such that P_v can be considered approximately constant.

Unique unit cell meniscus shapes are generated for a large range of vapor-liquid pressure differences using a force balance model in COMSOL, details of which can be found in [94]. The liquid is assumed to exist in a pinned state at the top of the micropillars, with a minimum sustainable contact angle equal to the receding contact angle for the working fluid and solid surface under consideration. The contact angle for each unit cell, θ_i , is defined as shown in Figure 3-3(c) as the angle between the meniscus interface and the pillar surface. The difference in meniscus curvature from the unit cells within one ring to the next creates the capillary pressure difference that drives fluid flow from the wick outer edge to the central heated area. The average cross sectional area A_{i} flow velocity U, and unit cell volume V are tabulated through computational fluid dynamics (CFD) simulations in COMSOL as functions of the liquid meniscus shape and pressure drop across the unit cell. Due to the tedious nature and large number of simulations required to create such reference tables, the working fluid properties for each simulation are held fixed at a reference point of 100 °C. When using water as the working fluid, the primary effect of this assumption is to underpredict the contact angle at temperatures below 100 °C due to the increase in surface tension with decreasing

temperature. The effect of the underprediction is small, however, for the range of vapor liquid pressure differences considered in this paper (< 150 Pa). For example, the variation in predicted apparent contact angle for the pressure difference of $\Delta P_{lv} = 150$ Pa is only around 1.2% when using reference temperatures of 100 °C versus 50 °C. If the model were to be extended for the prediction of dryout heat flux, however, a potentially much larger pressure difference range would need to be considered, and temperature dependent meniscus shapes would need to be taken into account.

The total mass flux across each ring can be found through the summation of the mass flux through each unit cell. For non-circular packed arrangements of micropillars, this radial treatment will lead to an underprediction of the mass flux per unit cell near the wick center where the effective radius is of the same order as the micropillar pitch. The error in total mass balance for the square packed pillar arrays considered in this study, however, is still less than 2%. A mass and energy balance across each unit ring couples the capillary pressure and mass flux with neighboring rings such that

$$\rho \left(n_{c,i-1} A_{i-1} U_{i-1} - n_{c,i} A_i U_i \right) h_{fg} = q_i "\pi (r_{i-1}^2 - r_i^2)$$
(3.4)

where q" represents the heat flux for each ring, and h_{fg} is the latent heat of vaporization of the working fluid. Setting the starting capillary pressure, ΔP_{hv} , and average fluid velocity, U, at i = 0 gives the boundary conditions at the wick edge and enables the solution of the full meniscus distribution across the wick. The starting capillary pressure boundary condition is linked with the condenser sub-model as described in the following section. The starting velocity is set based on the assumption that all the fluid being evaporated must enter at the wick edge. With knowledge of the meniscus distribution and total liquid volume contained in each unit ring, we can calculate the total mass of liquid within the evaporator wick, m_e , through a summation over all unit rings, and begin the procedure to solve for the effective thermal conductivity.



Figure 3-4. (a) Resistance network for calculating the total thermal resistance across a micropillar unit cell in the evaporator wick. (b) Side view of evaporator wick with micropillar height $h_{w,e}$, pitch p_e , and diameter d_e . Inset shows a representation of the thin-film liquid profile, $\delta(z)$, where majority of evaporation occurs.

We use a thermal resistance network as shown in Figure 3-4(a) to derive the effective thermal conductivity of a micropillar unit cell. For a base heated micropillar unit cell, heat travels in parallel through the solid micropillar and bulk liquid film. Due to the low thermal conductivity of the neighboring bulk liquid, we assume that the heat flow in the micropillar is essentially one-dimensional, and the micropillar conduction resistance can be expressed as

$$R_{p,e} = \frac{h_{w,e}}{(1 - \varphi_e) {p_e}^2 k_s}$$
(3.5)

where k_s is the thermal conductivity of the solid, and $h_{w,e}$, φ_e , and p_e represent the evaporator micropillar height, wick porosity, and pitch, respectively.

The bulk liquid conduction resistance is defined as

$$R_{l,e} = \frac{h_{w,e}}{\varphi_e p_e^2 k_l} \tag{3.6}$$

where k_l is the liquid thermal conductivity. For the combination of solid silicon and water as the bulk liquid, $R_{p,e} \ll R_{l,e}$, and the majority of the heat is expected to travel through the solid then evaporate from a microscale liquid film region along the top circumferential edge of the pillar. As the liquid meniscus in the evaporator wick becomes more concave, this thin liquid film area increases. For the range of microscale pore sizes considered here, various studies in literature have concluded that the thickness of this highly evaporative meniscus region (representing > 50% of the total evaporative heat transfer) ranges from approximately 1-10 µm [21–23,136]. This portion of the meniscus has been defined as the micro-region in some studies [22,136], however, various other studies on evaporation from microstructures have referred to this section of the meniscus as the thin-film region [23,90,97]. In this work, we refer to this highly evaporative region as the thin-film region, and define it as the portion of the meniscus with a liquid film thickness less than or equal to 5 µm. We neglect disjoining pressure effects on evaporation rate suppression as this has been shown to be insignificant for length scales > 100 µm [20,22], which is of the same order as the micropillar wick dimensions considered here.

For a given meniscus shape, we can estimate the thin-film area through integration of the meniscus curvature around the pillar surface. Due to the cylindrical pillar geometry under consideration, minimal variation of the thin-film profile is expected to occur around the pillar circumference. As shown in Figure 3-4(b), the thin-film resistance is calculated through integration of the thin-film profile, $\delta(z)$. We treat each infinitesimal slice of the thin-film liquid profile as a parallel resistor with a thickness equal to $\delta(z)$ and area calculated from a surface of revolution approach. This leads to the following expression for the thin-film resistance R_{tf} , where

$$R_{tf} = \left[2k_l\pi\beta \int_0^{z_{tf}} \frac{\left(\delta + \frac{d_e}{2}\right)\sqrt{1 + \left(\frac{d\delta}{dz}\right)^2}}{\delta} dz\right]^{-1}$$
(3.7)

 z_{tf} is the distance from the micropillar top that marks the end of the thin-film region, d_e is the diameter of the evaporator micropillar, and β is a geometric fitting parameter that accounts for any enhancement in surface area that may occur from additional surface roughness on the micropillar, as well as additional thin-film evaporation that may be unaccounted for with the 5 um film thickness assumption. The inset in Figure 3-4(b) depicts an artistic rendering of an example micropillar surface texture. For micropillars fabricated through standard deep-reactive-ion-etching (DRIE) processes, β is expected to be close to 1. For micropillars that have undergone any additional surface treatment such as chemical etching, etc., β will be > 1.

The interfacial resistance is calculated using the Schrage equation [137] as

$$R_{int} = \frac{1}{A_{int}} \frac{2 - \alpha}{2\alpha} \left(\frac{T_v v_{fg}}{h_{fg}^2} \right) \sqrt{\frac{2\pi R_u T_v}{M} \left(1 - \frac{P_v v_{fg}}{2h_{fg}} \right)^{-1}}$$
(3.8)

where A_{int} is the area of the interface, α is the accommodation coefficient, T_v is the vapor temperature, v_{fg} is the vapor-liquid specific volume difference, M is the molar mass of the working fluid, and R_u is the universal gas constant. The accommodation coefficient α is chosen as 0.1 in this work, on the same order as previously reported experimental values for evaporation of water from micropillars into a vapor saturated environment [90]. Note that the interfacial resistance is calculated separately for the thin-film and bulk liquid regions due to an expected variation in interfacial temperature along the meniscus. A non-isothermal interface may lead to the formation of thermocapillary vortices from Marangoni convection [73], though this effect has been reported to be small for the typical superheat range expected in a vapor chamber wick pore (< 5°C) [20] and is neglected to preserve model simplicity.

The final expression for the unit cell effective thermal resistance is

$$R_{cell} = \left((R_{p,e} + R_{tf} + R_{int,tf})^{-1} + (R_{l,e} + R_{int,l,e}^{-1})^{-1} \right)$$
(3.10)

The equivalent resistance for the entire wick can then be expressed as

$$R_{w,e} = \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n_e} R_{cell,i}^{-1}\right)^{-1}$$
(3.11)

where n_e is the number density of unit cells in the evaporator wick. Finally, the equivalent resistance is converted into an effective thermal conductivity for use in the solid conduction model as

$$k_{w,e} = \frac{h_{w,e}}{R_{w,e}A_e}$$
(3.12)

3.2.2 Condenser model

Unlike the evaporator region of the device, we approximate the condenser region with a uniform vapor mass flux [83] due to the highly efficient nature of vapor transport and spreading in the core. This assumption applies as long as the pressure drop in the vapor core is minimal, as addressed in the following section. Condensation is expected to occur throughout the entire wick area, including the micropillar top surfaces and bulk liquid. This provides one of the primary advantages of a condenser side wick, which is to create a more uniform heat removal surface. In the absence of a wick structure, the formation of a bulk liquid film would introduce additional thermal resistance into the system. Other methods of potentially addressing this issue include chemical treatment to induce dropwise condensation on wickless hydrophobic condensers, or active droplet jumping on a superhydrophobic structured condenser [30].



Figure 3-5. Schematics of liquid distribution for two cases of liquid volume. (a) Model of condenser liquid distribution without flooding. (b) Condenser liquid distribution in the event of flooding, where a thin film forms on top of the micropillars and creates extra thermal resistance.

For a superhydrophillic wick surface, we assume that the majority of liquid condensed on the pillar tops will wick into the liquid bulk. We relax the requirement of pinned liquid menisci at the micropillar top edges, and allow for the fact that for charge volumes with a total wick saturation ratio less than 1, the liquid in the condenser may not fill the wick to the full height of the condenser pillars. Additionally, if the condenser wick has a higher porosity than that of the evaporator wick, it would be energetically unfavorable for extremely concave, pinned meniscus shapes to form at the condenser side. We acknowledge that for low amounts of liquid charge volume, intermediary menisci states may also exist within the evaporator wick that are not necessarily pinned at the micropillar top edges, particularly if the micropillar surface is rough. The inclusion of these states would improve the accuracy of the model for low liquid charge volumes or near dryout heat fluxes, but would require additional computation beyond the scope of the current work. By assuming a pinned evaporator wick and unpinned condenser wick, we provide a system constraint to track the liquid redistribution within the device. We assume that in the event of overcharging, the entire condenser wick may become flooded and additional liquid condensate will form a steady film on the micropillar top surfaces.

In reality, if the device is overcharged, the evaporator wick may flood as well. However, as the applied heat flux increases, the liquid will eventually redistribute to the condenser side. We therefore assume in the model that significant liquid redistribution will only occur on the condenser side, and the two different liquid distribution scenarios are depicted in Figure 3-5.

In the case of a non-flooded wick as shown in Figure 3-5(a), the fluid flow in the condenser can be approximated with an effective medium approach through the implementation of Darcy's law with a uniform condensation mass flux. We assume minimal variation in meniscus curvature throughout the length of the wick and approximate using an average meniscus contact angle, θ_{adv} , equal to the advancing contact angle. The value of θ_{adv} for water on SiO₂ is approximately 70° [89]. The permeability of the wick can be calculated through an analytical expression derived by Byon et al. for a fixed contact angle as

$$K_{c} = K_{2D} \left[1 - \frac{\exp\left(2\sqrt{\frac{\varphi_{c}}{K_{2D}}}h_{eff}\right) - 1}{\sqrt{\frac{\varphi_{c}}{K_{2D}}}h_{eff}\left(\exp\left(2\sqrt{\frac{\varphi_{c}}{K_{2D}}}h_{eff}\right) + 1\right)} \right]$$
(3.13)

where φ_c is the porosity of the condenser wick and h_{eff} is the effective height of liquid in the wick that accounts for a uniformly curved meniscus while conserving the total liquid volume [93]. K_{2D} is the permeability for the micropillar array without meniscus effects, and is given as

$$K_{2D} = \frac{p_c^{2} \ln \left(\varepsilon_c^{-0.5} - 0.738 + \varepsilon_c - 0.887\varepsilon_c^{2} + 2.038\varepsilon_c^{3}\right)}{4\pi}$$
(3.14)

for a square packed pillar array, where p_c is the pitch of the condenser wick and ε_c is the solid fraction of the wick, equal to $1 - \varphi_c$. The expressions listed for K_c and K_{2D} are valid for arrays with $\varepsilon_c < 0.25$ and $d_c/p_c < 0.57$ [93]. The effective liquid height, h_{eff} is expected to vary with heat flux and liquid charge amount, and is calculated iteratively through the procedure described in Section 3.2.5.

To derive the capillary pressure boundary condition at the evaporator/condenser wick interface, we model the condenser wick using Darcy's Law with a uniform condensation mass flux. For a given liquid height, h_{eff} , the radial liquid pressure drop and superficial velocity, u_c , are related through Darcy's law, where

$$\frac{dP_l}{dr} = \frac{-\mu}{K_c} u_c \tag{3.15}$$

Assuming all of the liquid evaporated is re-condensed, we can solve for the pressure drop explicitly through a mass balance as

$$\frac{d}{dr} \left[\int_0^{h_{eff}} \rho_l u_c 2\pi r dz \right] dr = \frac{Q}{A_c h_{fg}} 2\pi r dr$$
(3.16)

where A_c is the area of the condenser, Q is the total heat input being evaporated, and ρ_l is the density of the liquid. Integrating Equation (3.16) and substituting in Equation (3.15) gives the final result in terms of the condenser side heat flux, q_c ", as

$$P_{l,c}(r) = P(r=0) - \frac{q''_c \mu}{4\rho_l h_{fg} h_{eff} K_c} r^2$$
(3.17)

Assuming that the wet point of the vapor chamber occurs at r = 0 in the condenser wick [30], we can rewrite $P(r = 0) = P_v$, leading to the final result for the capillary pressure boundary condition at the edge of the condenser wick as

$$\Delta P_{l\nu,c} = \frac{q''_c \mu}{4\rho_l h_{fg} h_{eff} K_c} r_c^2 \qquad (3.18)$$

Equation (3.18) then provides the boundary condition for the starting capillary pressure at the outer edge of the evaporator wick, effectively coupling the liquid flow in the two portions. When the condenser is in the flooded scenario (Figure 3-5(b)), we treat the condenser as a liquid reservoir for flow to the evaporator and set the starting capillary pressure boundary condition equal to zero.

Since vapor is condensed over the entire wick area, the effective thermal conductivity of the condenser can be calculated by treating the solid micropillar and

liquid bulk resistances in parallel. The solid micropillar and liquid bulk resistances are calculated in a similar manner to the evaporator wick, and the exact expressions are not repeated again for brevity. The final expression for the effective condenser thermal conductivity is thus

$$k_{w,c} = \frac{h_c + \Delta h}{\left(R_{p,c}^{-1} + R_{l,c}^{-1}\right)^{-1} A_c}$$
(3.19)

where

$$\Delta h = \begin{cases} 0, & h_{eff} \le h_c \\ h_{eff} - h_c, & h_{eff} > h_c \end{cases}$$
(3.20)

and the interfacial resistance across the bulk liquid-vapor interface based on Equation (3.8) has been lumped into $R_{l,c}$.

3.2.3 Vapor core model

Due to the relatively thick vapor core and small vapor spreading distance (675 μ m and ~5 mm, respectively) considered in our miniature vapor chamber, the pressure drop and subsequent temperature drop in the vapor core are expected to be insignificant compared to the wick regions. The vapor core can thus be modeled as a block with very high thermal conductivity. A previous study reported an effective vapor core conductivity of 23.000 Wm⁻¹K⁻¹ for a vapor chamber with a vapor core thickness comparable to our device (635 μ m) and significantly longer vapor spreading distance (~ 45 mm) [15]. We choose a conservative value of $k_v = 20,000 \text{ Wm}^{-1}\text{K}^{-1}$ for the remainder of our model calculations to serve as a lower bound to the vapor core conductivity. The model is not sensitive to the exact value of k_v , as the thermal resistance of the vapor core is negligible compared to the effective wick resistances. Note that this assumption will no longer be appropriate if the spreading distance increases significantly or the core becomes drastically thinner. For ultra-thin vapor chambers with core thicknesses on the order of 100 um, the vapor resistance is expected to dominate the system performance, and additional calculations are needed to accurately account for the effective vapor core conductivity and pressure drop [14].

3.2.4 Solid conduction model

Since the effective thermal conductivities of the evaporator and condenser wicks are functions of heat flux, it is important to characterize any parallel heat flow that may occur outside of the active phase change region of the device. This will be particularly significant for cases where flooding of the condenser wick may occur and create higher resistance states that cause more heat flow to be diverted elsewhere. We therefore estimate the active power contributing to evaporation/condensation within the porous wicks by accounting for two parallel heat transfer pathways, one flowing through the active vapor chamber region where phase change occurs, Q_{act} , and another flowing through the bonded solid sidewalls that form the periphery of the active vapor chamber region, Q_{side} .

We estimate the sidewall conduction resistance, R_{side} , to be approximately 8.2 °C/W by performing a finite element simulation in COMSOL on a dry vapor chamber with no working fluid. Figure 3-6(a) shows an example COMSOL simulation result to calculate R_{side} for an input heat flux of 100 W/cm². h_{∞} and T_{∞} are taken as 2500 Wm⁻²K⁻¹ and 20° C, respectively, and a 30 um thick, 500 um wide glass frit bond line with a thermal conductivity of 1 Wm⁻¹K⁻¹ is used to approximate the bonding interface between the condenser and evaporator sides of the device.

To calculate Q_{acb} we estimate the resistance of the active vapor chamber region, R_{act} , based on the geometry as shown in Figure 3-6(b) where the evaporator wick, condenser wick, and vapor core thermal conductivities are calculated from the submodels described in the previous sections, and the remainder of the vapor chamber stack is composed of solid silicon. To facilitate rapid iteration and incorporation of the submodels on the same computing platform, an estimate of R_{act} is obtained for the active region geometry in Figure 3-6(b) by using the analytical influence coefficient method developed by Muzychka [138]. A uniform heat transfer coefficient is applied to the condenser side with a localized heat source on the evaporator side and insulated sidewalls. As shown in Figure 3-6(c), the source plane on the evaporator side is divided into a 2D power map array with discrete heat sources over the heated area and zero heat flux for the remaining sources. A grid discretization size of $\Delta x = \Delta y = 150 \ \mu m$ was chosen for our influence coefficient calculations to balance accuracy and computation time. Moving to a finer grid discretization of 100 μm and increasing the number of heat sources by 2.25 times tripled the computation time and showed a less than 3.5% change in the calculated R_{act} .



Figure 3-6. (a) Finite element simulation for input heat flux of 100 W/cm² to calculate conduction resistance through bonded device sidewalls, R_{side} , by approximating vapor chamber as a dry device with no working fluid. (b) Solid conduction model representation of vapor chamber with analytical influence coefficient method approach. Each component is treated as a solid block with a defined thickness and equivalent thermal conductivity as calculated from the sub-models described in sections 3.2.1 - 3.2.3. A uniform heat transfer coefficient is applied to the condenser side with a localized heat source on the evaporator side and insulated sidewalls. (c) Example grid

discretization to form 2D power map array of the source plane at the evaporator side heated surface.

The effect of each source on the total temperature excess throughout the stack is found through the principle of linear superposition applied to a Fourier series solution. This method has been validated against numerical simulation in various other works in literature, and further details can be found in [138–140]. Information regarding the contribution of each source to the temperature rise in a neighboring source is contained in an influence coefficient matrix, which transforms the solution for the net temperature distribution into a simple matrix equation as shown below

$$\begin{bmatrix} \psi_1 \\ \psi_2 \\ \psi_3 \\ \vdots \\ \psi_s \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} f_{11} & f_{12} & f_{13} & \cdots & f_{1s} \\ f_{21} & f_{22} & f_{23} & \cdots & f_{2s} \\ f_{31} & f_{32} & f_{33} & \cdots & f_{3s} \\ \vdots & & & & \\ f_{s1} & f_{s2} & f_{s3} & \cdots & f_{ss} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} q_1 \\ q_2 \\ q_3 \\ \vdots \\ q_s \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.21)

where ψ_i and q_i represent the temperature excess and heat flux at each source, and f_{ij} is the influence coefficient describing the effect of the *i*th source on the temperature excess in the *j*th source. R_{act} can then be extracted directly from the calculated temperature distribution for the heater area and condenser plane.

Finally, Q_{act} can be calculated from the relative resistance ratio of R_{side} and R_{act} , and the effective evaporator and condenser wick thermal conductivities as functions of Q_{act} are input into a solid conduction simulation in COMSOL to obtain the complete, three-dimensional temperature distribution within the vapor chamber. The total device resistance can then be calculated as

$$R_{vc} = \frac{T_{hs,avg} - T_{c,avg}}{Q} \tag{3.22}$$

The model flow to calculate $k_{w,c}$ and $k_{w,e}$ as functions of Q_{act} is shown in Figure 3-7.



Figure 3-7. Flow chart showing calculation procedure to estimate active heat flow and heat flux dependent wick thermal conductivities. An initial guess is made for R_{act} and Q_{act} , then updated until an energy balance is satisfied.

3.2.5 Model Calculation Procedure

The overall system of equations for the evaporator/condenser wick sub-models and analytical influence coefficient model are programmed in MATLAB. Temperature dependent thermophysical properties of the working fluid are computed at each step based on tabulated values in literature using the average vapor temperature of the system, or $T_{v,avg}$ [141]. The general model calculation flow to find the vapor chamber thermal resistance as a function of total heat input, Q, and liquid charge mass, m_{ch} , is as follows:

1. Initialize a guess for the average vapor temperature, $T_{v,avg}$, condenser side liquid film thickness, h_{eff} , and active vapor chamber resistance, R_{act} .

2. Solve the condenser wick sub-model for $\Delta P_{lv,c}$, $k_{w,c}$, and m_c as functions of Q_{act} , h_{eff} , and $T_{v,avg}$.

3. Using the results from the condenser sub-model, set $\Delta P_{lv,c}$ as the boundary condition at i = 0 for the evaporator wick sub-model, solve for $k_{w,e}$ and m_e as functions of Q_{act} and $T_{v,avg}$.

4. Calculate the mass of vapor, m_v by treating it as an ideal gas with temperature and pressure equal to $T_{v,avg}$ and $P_{v,avg} = P_{sat}(T_{v,avg})$

5. Using $k_{w,c}$, $k_{w,e}$ and k_v as inputs to the analytical influence coefficient model, solve for an updated guess on $T_{v,avg}$ and R_{act} for heat input Q_{act} .

6. Check if $m_e + m_c + m_v = m_{ch} \pm 1\%$ and $Q_{act} + Q_{side} = Q \pm 1\%$. If not, repeat steps 1-5 until the tolerance is met.

7. Plug in $k_{w,c}$ and $k_{w,e}$ to COMSOL for a final calculation of the temperature distribution.

3.3 Experimental Methods

The approximate physical dimensions of the vapor chamber versus dimensions used in the model are tabulated in Table 3-1. For model simplicity and due to the relatively imprecise nature of the laser machining process, we approximate both the condenser side and evaporator side wicks as consisting of 100 μ m tall, perfectly cylindrical pillars. The estimated difference in fully saturated wick liquid volume using the measured versus approximate model values is less than 6% when taking into account the conical shape of the fabricated pillars. Additionally, the serpentine heater is approximated as a uniform heat source in the evaporator wick model to simplify the unit cell calculations. To ensure that this assumption does not significantly impact model results, the solid conduction model was run for the case of 11.9 μ L liquid charge volume with both heating distributions. The predicted values for the temperature distribution at the RTD measurement locations varied by less than 1.3 % when using a uniform heater versus the serpentine pattern. Based on these results, we concluded that the serpentine heat source can be reasonably represented by a uniform heat source, as sufficient heat spreading occurs in the solid silicon in between the patterned heating lines.

Dimension	w_{vc} [mm]	w _{hs} [mm]	$t_{s,c}$ [µm]	$t_{w,c}$ [µm]	t_v [µm]	$t_{w,e}$ [µm]	$t_{s,e}$ [µm]
Actual Value	10	3.16	394±17	106±17	679±44	110±7	321±51
Model value	10	3.16	400	100	675	100	325

Table 3-1. Approximate dimensions versus model values for the silicon vapor chamber

 studied in this work.

A custom electrical connector was designed and fabricated in order to power the evaporator side heater and collect measurements from the thin-film RTDs on both sides of the device. To avoid the tedious process of wirebonding a double-sided device, two arrays of spring-loaded pogo pins mounted in PEEK are used to electrically connect to either side of the vapor chamber in a sandwich configuration. A four-wire configuration is used for each of the RTDs and the serpentine heater to eliminate the issue of contact resistance between the pogo pins and patterned metal surface. One side of the pogo connector with no vapor chamber present is shown in Figure 3-8(a). The pogo pins are visible as the gold colored protrusions lining the center of the connector. An open window is purposefully left in the connector on both sides to allow for connection to a condenser side cooling mechanism and thermal insulation of the evaporator side. Figure 3-8(b) shows the fully assembled doubled-sided connector configuration with the evaporator side of the vapor chamber facing up. A detailed cross sectional view of the various components comprising the connectors is given in Figure 3-8(c). A miniature copper microchannel cold plate was designed for heat removal from the condenser side. To minimize parasitic heat loss through the non-active, solid bonding area of the vapor chamber, the contact area between the cold plate and vapor chamber was limited to only the 1 x 1 cm^2 active area of the vapor chamber through the use of a precisely sized thermal pad (Fujipoly). The temperature of the water supplied to the cold plate is maintained at 20°C by an external chiller (Neslab RTE 7). Figure 3-8(d) shows the cold plate assembled with the electrical connectors and vapor chamber (hidden from view).



Figure 3-8. (a) Single side of electrical connector with pogo pins exposed. (b) Electrical connector assembled with vapor chamber sandwiched in between. (c) Cross sectional schematic of assembled electrical connector in (b). Each connector consists of a PEEK pogo pin holder mated to a custom PCB to facilitate connections from the pogo pins to external measurement equipment. Once pins are precisely aligned, both connectors are compressed to make the electrical connections with the vapor chamber heater and RTDs. (d) Cold plate assembled on top of condenser side of vapor chamber.

During the heat transfer experiments, power is supplied to the evaporator heater in steady increments through a DC power supply (BK precision 9206). A 5 mm layer of silicone insulation is mounted on top of the evaporator side of the vapor chamber to
prevent excessive heat loss to the environment. The voltage across the heater and resistances of the RTDs are monitored using a switching multimeter (Keithley DAQ 6510). Steady state is defined as the time at which the measured temperatures change at a rate of less than 0.05 °C/min over a 5-minute period. The RTDs are calibrated prior to the experiment by submerging the entire electrical assembly into a heated liquid bath and creating calibration curves for resistance versus temperature. A T-type thermocouple is attached to each side of the device, and the difference between the temperature readings from the two thermocouples is less than 0.3 °C at each bath set point, within the given accuracy range for Omega special limits of error T-type thermocouples of +/-0.5 °C. This reference thermocouple uncertainty dominates the experimental uncertainty in absolute temperature and thermal resistance. We estimate the heat loss from the device to the environment to be approximately 4% by running a finite element simulation in COMSOL with approximate system parameter values to account for natural convection to the environment and parasitic conduction through the solid silicon sidewalls. The reported heat flux values, q'', in the following sections represent the measured input heat flux, q_{inp} ", adjusted for 4% heat loss, with minimal error bars due to the high accuracy of the voltage and current measurements across the heater. The error bars reported for thermal resistance represent standard propagation of error incorporating the uncertainties in the steady-state temperature average and RTD calibration curves calculated for 95% confidence intervals.

3.4 Experimental Results and Model Validation

To verify the model, the thermal performance of the miniature silicon vapor chamber was characterized as both a function of heat flux and liquid charge following the experimental procedures detailed in the previous section. To preserve the device integrity for repeated liquid charge experiments, the maximum heat flux was limited in each case to approximately 103 W/cm² to avoid any sudden temperature overshoot. The maximum operational heat flux of the device may be higher, though that limit was not explored in this work since the primary aim was prediction of thermal resistance. Figure 3-9 shows the thermal resistance of the vapor chamber as defined by Equation (3.22) as a function of heat flux for a range of liquid charge volumes from 11.9 μ L - 20.3 μ L. The relatively

high uncertainty values at low heat fluxes are due to the fact that the measured temperature differences are close to the uncertainty of the temperature sensors (approximately \pm 0.6 °C). The thermal resistance of the vapor chamber noticeably decreases with decreasing liquid charge and increasing heat flux. At the maximum heat flux considered of approximately 103 W/cm², increasing the injected volume from 11.9 μ L to 20.3 μ L increases the resistance by more than 300%. The resistance behavior of the device is similar for the two lower charge volumes of 11.9 μ L and 12.9 μ L, but a clear transition occurs when the charge volume is increased to 15.5 μ L.



Figure 3-9. Vapor chamber thermal resistance, R_{vc} , versus heat flux for different liquid charge volumes ranging from 11.9 µL to 20.3 µL. The resistance decreases with increasing heat flux for all liquid charge volumes. Increasing the liquid charge from 11.9 µL to 20.3 µL at the highest heat flux level considered of approximately 103 W/cm² increases the resistance by more than 300%.

Figure 3-10(a) shows the model prediction against experimental results for the liquid charge volume of 12.9 μ L with a range of different values for β , the fitting parameter to describe the enhancement in micropillar surface area due to the roughness

generated from laser ablation. The experimental best fit is for $\beta = 3$, representing an approximately 3x enhancement in the laser ablated micropillar surface area over perfectly smooth pillars. We obtain a separate measurement of the roughened micropillar surface area enhancement over a smooth surface using a 3D laser scanning confocal microscope (Keyence VK-X Series) with 120 nm lateral and 500 nm vertical resolution. The laser microscope scans the surface using 408 nm violet laser light and measures the reflected laser light to create a detailed 3D depth map of the object of interest. A direct surface area measurement of the micropillar sidewalls is difficult due to the underlying curvature of the cylindrical micropillar. Therefore, we measure instead the surface area enhancement of the sidewalls that form the vapor core cavity, which have relatively flat surfaces and are created during the same ablation process as the micropillars. An example line profile showing the roughness over a small area of the vapor core sidewall obtained using the laser microscope is shown in Figure 3-10(b). The average value for β returned by the microscope using an area scan over various portions of the sidewall is 8.3 ± 3.3 , the same order of magnitude as the model best fit. To provide another estimate, we also model the surface roughness based on the approximate values generated by the line profile as a uniform coating of 2 µm diameter pillars with 5 µm pitch and 3 µm height, which gives a lower bound of $\beta = 1.8$. The experimental best-fit value of $\beta = 3$ therefore seems a reasonable value and is used in all subsequent model calculations.



Figure 3-10. (a) Model fit against experimental data for 12.9 μ L charge volume for β , surface area enhancement factor due to the roughness of the laser ablated micropillars. Best fit against experimental results is for $\beta = 3$. (b) Laser scanning line profile of surface roughness measured from vapor chamber sidewalls.

Figure 3-11(a) shows the experimental temperature profiles plotted against model results for RTDs T_{E7} , T_{E6} , and T_{E5} on the evaporator side of the vapor chamber. The model shows fairly good agreement with the experimental profiles for T_{E6} and T_{E5} , but overpredicts the temperature rise for T_{E7} at higher heat fluxes. This may be due to the fact that the model calculates an area averaged thermal conductivity for the evaporator wick by treating all of the micropillar unit cells in parallel, when in fact the local resistance near the center of the wick may be lower due to increased curvature of the meniscus. For a more exact treatment, it may be appropriate to extend the model to account for anisotropy in the effective wick thermal conductivity, though the area averaged model approach still shows good agreement with experimental results within 10%.



Figure 3-11. (a) Experimental data and model fit for temperature profiles at three different RTD locations of T_{E7} , T_{E6} , and T_{E5} on the evaporator surface as a function of input heat flux for a liquid charge of 11.9 µL. The location of the RTDs relative to the heater and overall evaporator area are shown in the inset. (b) Experimental data and model fit for thermal resistance at two different heat fluxes of 38 W/cm² and 103 W/cm² as a function of liquid charge. A clear transition point exists at charge volumes between 15-17 µL, above which the condenser becomes flooded and the device resistance increases drastically.

The model results for the vapor chamber thermal resistance as a function of liquid charge are plotted for two different heat fluxes of 38 W/cm² and 103 W/cm² against the experimental results in Figure 3-11(b). The resistance behavior of the vapor chamber shows a clear transition at liquid charge levels approaching a wick saturation ratio greater than 1. This is due to the formation of a flooded liquid layer on the condenser side wick that provides a significant series resistance to the overall device and creates an undesirable operational mode. The device resistance varies by approximately 0.05 °C/W/µL of liquid below the threshold value, but shows a sudden increase of around 0.5 °C/W/µL once the threshold is crossed. Proper identification of the threshold value and charging precision of at least +/- 2 µL around that value is therefore necessary to ensure optimal device performance. The threshold charge level also appears to shift to the left at the higher heat flux considered, as significant redistribution of liquid from the evaporator

to the condenser side can cause flooding to occur at lower charge levels. The net effect on the device resistance with increasing heat flux is then the interplay between a decreasing evaporator resistance and increasing condenser resistance. The model also implies that above a certain heat flux, decreasing the liquid charge level may no longer have a significant impact on the overall device resistance. For the maximum heat flux value considered of 103 W/cm², increasing the charge level from 10 μ L to 15 μ L shows a less than 6% change in total thermal resistance. Increasing the liquid charge by the same amount at the lower heat flux of 38 W/cm², however, causes the resistance to increase by more than 25%. The optimal liquid charge volume will therefore also depend on the desired operational heat flux of the device.



Figure 3-12. Model prediction for vapor chamber thermal resistance versus all data for experimentally measured thermal resistance. Overall, model prediction agrees with experimental values within 25%, with better agreement for lower liquid charge levels.

The complete experimental data set for thermal resistance is plotted against the model prediction in Figure 3-12. Overall, the model results agree with the experimental values within +/- 25%, though the agreement is closer for the lower levels of liquid charge. The majority of the model uncertainty comes from the uncertainty in the height of the micropillar wicks and subsequent saturated liquid charge volume. The predicted thermal resistance is particularly sensitive to the micropillar height in the flooded regime

and leads to a larger model uncertainty for higher liquid charge levels, as any extra liquid film formation on the condenser side contributes a significant series resistance. This may explain some of the model discrepancy for the liquid charge volumes of 15.5 uL and 20.3 uL. The model appears to consistently underpredict the values for the higher charge volumes in the lower resistance ranges, however, which implies that the effect of increasing heat flux is not decreasing the measured resistance values as much as the model prediction. This may be due to the fact that some flooding is actually occurring in the evaporator wick with the higher liquid charge levels, and the pinned evaporator meniscus model is not applicable over the full heat flux range considered.



Figure 3-13. (a) ΔT_{hs} , or the difference between T_{E7} and T_{E6} , as a function of heat flux for simulated solid bare silicon slabs of 1 mm and 1.5 mm thickness, respectively, compared against experimental results for a liquid charge volume of 11.9 µL. The vapor chamber shows an improvement over the solid silicon slabs for heat fluxes above 60 W/cm². (b) 1D resistance stack up of various vapor chamber components as a function of heat flux for modeled liquid charge volume of 11.9 µL. The evaporator wick resistance, $R_{w,e}$, is strongly dependent on heat flux and dominates compared to the solid evaporator/condenser silicon resistances, $R_{s,c}$ and $R_{s,e}$, and condenser wick resistance, $R_{w,c}$.

To benchmark the miniature vapor chamber thermal performance, simulations were performed in COMSOL for two solid silicon slabs of different thicknesses with the same heating and condenser side cooling boundary conditions as the vapor chamber experiment. A direct comparison with other existing silicon vapor chambers is difficult

due to the different form factors and innate spreading resistances involved. Therefore, solid silicon slabs were chosen as an appropriate baseline case to assess the potential benefit of using the miniature vapor chamber for die-level heat spreading. Figure 3-13(a) compares the experimental results for the vapor chamber with 11.9 µL liquid charge for the temperature drop across the hotspot, ΔT_{hs} , defined as T_{E7} - T_{E6} , with the simulation results for solid silicon slabs of 1 mm and 1.5 mm thickness. The total vapor chamber thickness of 1.5 mm was chosen primarily for ease of fabrication to enable a one-step etch to define the vapor core, but leaves approximately 400 µm of solid silicon on the condenser side with minimal contribution to the thermal spreading performance. As the overall stack thickness can be easily reduced to 1 mm or thinner without impacting the vapor chamber performance by dividing the vapor core between the evaporator and condenser side wafers, we include the 1 mm thick solid silicon slab as a benchmark of a more realistic commercial form factor. The vapor chamber shows an improvement in hotspot temperature non-uniformity over both the 1.5 mm and 1 mm slabs of approximately 36% and 46%, respectively, at the maximum heat flux considered. At heat fluxes below 60 W/cm², however, the vapor chamber has no clear benefit over a solid spreader.

To investigate the origin of this threshold heat flux, we use the model to examine the various components that form the 1D resistance stack of the vapor chamber in Figure 3-13(b). The evaporator wick resistance, $R_{w,e}$, dominates compared to the condenser wick resistance, $R_{w,c}$, as well as the solid silicon resistances on both sides of the device, $R_{s,e}$ and $R_{s,c}$. $R_{w,e}$ decreases with increasing heat flux due to two simultaneous effects: an increase in the thin-film area with increasing rates of evaporation, as well as a decrease in interfacial resistance with increasing temperature. At heat fluxes above 50 W/cm², the evaporator wick shows a diminishing dependence on heat flux and appears to approach a minimum resistance value of approximately 0.2 °C/W. This corresponds to the experimental trends observed in Figure 3-13(a), where the vapor chamber appears to become more effective at heat fluxes higher than 50-60 W/cm². Operating at a higher condenser side temperature to decrease the interfacial resistance throughout the device would perhaps extend the effective vapor chamber range to lower heat fluxes, as would moving to an evaporator wick structure with a lower thermal resistance. The strong heat flux dependence of $R_{w,e}$ at lower heat fluxes implies that for the wick dimensions considered, the interfacial and thin-film resistances have a large contribution to the overall stack resistance. The minimum wick resistance value may ultimately be limited by the conduction resistance across the wick, however, so simultaneously moving to a higher density and thinner micropillar wick could be an effective solution to reduce the overall thermal resistance of the device and improve the low heat flux performance. A higher density and thinner wick may also potentially reduce the maximum capillary-limited heat dissipation capability of the vapor chamber, however, so careful consideration of both the thermal properties as well as fluidic transport is necessary for future design optimization.

It is clear from Figure 3-13(a) that the miniature vapor chamber will have a much more significant improvement compared to a solid spreader of the same dimensions if it can be reduced to a thinner form factor. As the only high thermal conductivity portion of the vapor chamber is the vapor core, the extra silicon thickness on the condenser side in the current form factor only serves to obscure the effectiveness of the phase change region when compared to a solid spreader of equal dimensions. Reducing the overall vapor chamber thickness to 1 mm should have minimal impact on the current thermal performance, and provides a much more significant improvement over the solid silicon equivalent.

3.5 Conclusions

A miniature vapor chamber with an active vapor transport region of $1 \times 1 \text{ cm}^2$ was fabricated and experimentally characterized for a range of liquid charge volumes and heat flux inputs. A model was developed to predict the impact of both heat flux and liquid charge on the vapor chamber thermal performance and experimentally validated to agree within +/-25%. The model demonstrates that the liquid charge dependence of the vapor chamber resistance increases sharply near the wick saturation threshold due to the flooding of the condenser wick and creates an undesirable high thermal resistance operational mode. The evaporator wick resistance dominates the overall 1D vapor

chamber resistance stack and decreases with increasing heat input. Above a certain heat flux level, however, the heat flux dependence of the wick diminishes and approaches a minimum value.

The vapor chamber thermal performance was benchmarked against simulation results for solid silicon spreaders of varying thickness. The current prototype vapor chamber thickness of 1.5 mm contains extra silicon thickness on the condenser side with minimal thermal impact that makes for a relatively ineffective comparison with an equivalent solid silicon spreader. The experimental results did demonstrate, however, that the vapor chamber shows superior temperature uniformity over a 1 mm thick solid spreader for heat fluxes greater than 50-60 W/cm². If the unused silicon can be removed, the vapor chamber can achieve significant improvement in thermal performance over a solid silicon spreader of equivalent thickness and effectively improve die-level temperature uniformity over an area as small as 1 x 1 cm².

The modeling methodology developed in this work can be used to aid the design of future small-scale vapor chamber heat spreaders. The thermal performance of the vapor chamber is dependent on a number of internal as well as system design parameters, and due to the small spreading distances considered, may not always have an obvious impact over a solid spreader of equivalent dimension. Comparison of the model with experiment results elucidates the primary resistance components that dominate the vapor chamber performance, as well as the sensitivity of the vapor chamber performance to the liquid charge level. Due to the small liquid charge volume involved (on the order of microliters), this provides important guidelines to aid the process development of other future microscale devices. This work shows that there is potential benefit for vapor chambers to be implemented over spreading areas as small as $1 \times 1 \text{ cm}^2$, but careful assessment of different parameters such as the desired operating heat flux range is necessary to determine whether or not such a small-scale device is beneficial.

Chapter 4 Passive Thermal Regulation with Binary Vapor Diffusion: Steady-State Characterization

This chapter presents an investigation of the steady-state thermal regulatory characteristics of a novel device utilizing binary vapor diffusion through a noncondensable gas cavity. Large portions of this chapter have been taken from Liu et al., "Tunable, Passive Thermal Regulation Through Liquid to Vapor Phase Change," *Applied Physics Letters*, 2019 [142], as well as Liu et al., "Steady-state Parametric Optimization and Transient Characterization of Heat Flow Regulation with Binary Diffusion," *IEEE TCPMT*, 2020 [143].

4.1 Thermal regulation with liquid-vapor phase change

As mentioned in section 1.3, thermal regulators and switches have the potential to greatly aid in the thermal management of spatially and/or temporally varying heating events. One of the most widely studied mechanisms to control the thermal resistance between hot and cold surfaces is by improving/suppressing conduction heat transfer through making and breaking mechanical contact [37,39,43,144–147]. A potential issue with these types of switching mechanisms, however, is mechanical fatigue after repeated deformation [148]. Other mechanisms such as solid-state phase transitions are also limited by relatively fixed switching temperature ranges only tunable through permanent procedures such as doping [49].

Liquid-vapor phase change is a relatively tunable, nonlinear thermal process that can be harnessed for thermal regulation [30,38,149]. One challenge, however, is packaging the devices in a compact form factor that can be easily integrated with existing electronic systems. Variable conductance heat pipes, for instance, are highly effective

temperature regulators but require a large condenser area to function, limiting their use to large-scale devices such as Stirling engines [150].

In this chapter, we present a passive, tunable thermal device that utilizes vapor transport in a non-condensable gas (NCG) cavity to achieve a switchable thermal resistance in response to varying levels of heat flow. Compared to existing liquid-vapor phase change regulators, the device is relatively compact with an active working area of 1 x 1 cm². In addition to a switchable resistance, the device is able to clamp the hot and cold sides to a heat flow independent temperature difference. The resistance switching and clamped temperature difference, ΔT_{cr} , are tunable based on the pressure of the NCG. We present a roadmap to increase the steady-state resistance off/on ratio utilizing this phenomenon to greater than 14, and define a switching efficiency metric to assess the effectiveness of the device design.



4.2 Steady-state thermal model

Figure 4-1. (a) Thermal regulator cross-sectional schematic. Heated liquid evaporates from a porous wick, diffuses through an NCG-filled cavity to reach the cold side of the device, then condenses and circulates back to the heated side through capillary action. Parasitic conduction occurs through the device sidewalls. (b) Steady-state thermal resistance network for the temperature drop across the device. The resistance R_{NCG} varies with P_{NCG} and total heat input, creating the device thermal regulatory properties.

Figure 4-1(a) shows a cross-sectional schematic that highlights the main working principles of the regulator. The device is comprised of a sealed chamber lined with a porous micropillar wick and charged with a fixed amount of working fluid (water) and NCG (air). Heat applied to the evaporator side of the device causes fluid in the porous wick to evaporate then diffuse through the NCG to the condenser side, where it condenses into liquid. Capillary action then drives the condensed liquid back to the evaporator side, and the cycle repeats. The NCG acts as a diffusion barrier to the vapor transport and has an equivalent thermal resistance, R_{NCG} , that varies based on the pressure of the NCG, P_{NCG} , as well as the temperature difference between the hot and cold sides, ΔT . As ΔT increases, the vapor mass fraction gradient also increases and has a nonlinear effect on the vapor transport, reducing R_{NCG} .

The resistance network shown in Figure 4-1(b) approximates the steady state heat transfer across the device. Heat supplied to evaporator side travels in two parallel pathways, with one portion, Q_{act} , going through the device active phase change region (outlined in red in Figures 4-1(a)-(b)), and the other portion, Q_{side} , going through the device sidewalls. The parallel sidewall conduction resistance, R_p , can be estimated through a solid conduction simulation of the device with a dry cavity. The resistance stack in the device active region includes the solid substrate, R_{sub} , the evaporator/condenser wick resistances, $R_{w,e}$ and $R_{w,c}$, respectively, and the NCG/vapor mixture resistance, R_{NCG} . T_e and T_c represent the average temperatures of the evaporator and condenser side substrates, respectively.

Based on the resistance network shown in Figure 4-1(b), a few design guidelines emerge to optimize the resistance contrast across the device. Since R_{NCG} is the only significantly variable resistance component, any parallel or series resistance components will minimize the overall resistance contrast. R_p should ideally be much larger than R_{NCG} , otherwise parasitic heat flow outside of the active region leads to an undesirable thermal shunting effect that shorts the regulator. Any series resistances should ideally be as low as possible to avoid inflating the on-state resistance and decreasing the switching

contrast. The following sections will present physics-based models to predict the approximate values of the various parallel and series resistance components.

4.2.1 Vapor transport model

We estimate the temperature drop across the vapor/NCG mixture by considering the vapor mass diffusion problem between the evaporator and condenser wick interfaces. The introduction of NCG presents a significant diffusion barrier to vapor transport between the evaporator and condenser. Here we leverage the NCG to achieve a switchable device resistance due to the decrease in effective NCG resistance, R_{NCG} with increased operating temperatures and heat fluxes. In the following model, we assume that the NCG and vapor exist as a binary mixture. The local component partial pressures may therefore be written in terms of the total chamber pressure as

$$P_{tot} = P_{NCG} + P_{v} \tag{4.1}$$

The local mass fractions are described by

$$\omega_{\nu} = \frac{\chi_{\nu} M_{\nu}}{\chi_{\nu} M_{\nu} + (1 - \chi_{\nu}) M_{NCG}} \quad , \quad \omega_{NCG} = \frac{(1 - \chi_{\nu}) M_{NCG}}{\chi_{\nu} M_{\nu} + (1 - \chi_{\nu}) M_{NCG}} \tag{4.2}$$

where χ_v is the local vapor mole fraction, and M_v and M_{NCG} are the vapor and NCG molecular weights, respectively.

We assume that the vapor directly above the evaporator/condenser porous wick interfaces is saturated [151], and the interface temperatures ($T_{v,e}$ and $T_{v,c}$) can be related to the vapor partial pressures ($P_{v,e}$, $P_{v,c}$) through the Clausius-Clapeyron equation. In steady state, all the liquid being evaporated must be condensed. We neglect condensation along the cavity sidewalls due to the much smaller surface area and lower external heat transfer coefficient compared to the active condenser region. Therefore, the vapor transport is one-dimensional, and

$$\frac{d\dot{m_v}}{dz} = 0 \tag{4.3}$$

 \dot{m}_v represents the total vapor mass flux, and the *z* coordinate represents the vapor flow direction between the evaporator and condenser.

Heating and cooling at the evaporator/condenser surfaces sets up a temperature gradient across the mixture space, resulting in a corresponding vapor mass fraction gradient. This mass fraction gradient then drives the vapor transport through the NCG barrier. Assuming insignificant dissolution of NCG at the porous wick interfaces creates a no-penetration boundary condition, where the NCG must be stationary and $\dot{m}_{NCG} = 0$. The vapor mass fraction gradient, however, creates a complementary NCG mass fraction gradient and diffusional mass flux, leading to a Maxwell-Stefan flow scenario [152]. In order to meet the zero net NCG mass flux condition, an induced counterdiffusion velocity accounting for bulk flow of the mixture counteracts the diffusional NCG flux. In steady state, this leads to the following vapor mass flux equation where

$$\dot{m_v} = \omega_v \dot{m_{tot}} - \rho_m D_{vg} \frac{d\omega_v}{dz}$$
(4.4)

 ρ_m is the mixture density and D_{vg} is the temperature dependent, binary diffusion coefficient calculated based on Chapman-Enskog theory[152].

From an energy balance in the device active region,

$$Q_{act} = \dot{m_v} h_{fg} A \tag{4.5}$$

where h_{fg} is the working fluid latent heat of vaporization and A is the cross sectional area normal to the vapor transport. Substituting Equation (4.5) into Equation (4.5) and integrating with respect to z links the active region heat transfer with the vapor transport equation, where

$$Q_{act} = \frac{\rho_m D_{vg} h_{fg} A}{t_{core}} ln \left(\frac{\omega_{v,c} - 1}{\omega_{v,e} - 1}\right)$$
(4.6)

 $\omega_{v,c}$ and $\omega_{v,e}$ are the vapor mass fractions at the condenser and evaporator sides, respectively, and t_{core} is the transport distance, or cavity height.



4.2.2 Wick resistance model

Figure 4-2. (a) Micropillar wick unit cell cross-sectional view. (b) Top view of micropillar wick with diameter d and pitch l. (c) Evaporator micropillar wick resistance network.

Figure 4-2(a) shows a cross-sectional schematic of the micropillar wick and underlying substrate. The substrate thermal resistance can be calculated through a one-dimensional conduction resistance. The evaporator micropillar wick resistance is evaluated by considering the heat transfer in a unit cell. Assuming that $k_{sub} \gg k_{liq}$, the solid pillar resistance is calculated as

$$R_{p,e} = \frac{4h}{k_{sub}\pi d^2} \tag{4.7}$$

where h and d are the pillar height and diameter, respectively as shown in Figures 4-2(a)-(b). The bulk liquid conduction resistance is described by

$$R_{l,e} = \frac{h}{k_{liq}(l^2 - \frac{\pi d^2}{4})}$$
(4.8)

where *l* is the micropillar pitch. With the exception of cases involving high thermal conductivity fluids such as liquid metals, $R_{p,e}$ is typically much less than $R_{l,e}$, and the majority of the heat traveling through the wick evaporates from a thin liquid film near the

meniscus three-phase contact line. We estimate this thin-film resistance by calculating the area of an approximately 5 μ m thick liquid film around the micropillar surface for a given contact angle of θ through a force balance model in COMSOL.



Figure 4-3. Boundary conditions for 2D force balance model used to generate the appropriate meniscus shape and calculate the capillary pressure for the micropillar dimensions considered.

The meniscus is modeled as a 2D surface as shown in Figure 4-2(a), with pinned constraints applied to the micropillar contact lines, and symmetry conditions at the remaining borders. The curvature of the meniscus is then calculated through a numerical solution of the Young-Laplace equation in COMSOL subject to an applied pressure that represents the capillary pressure difference across the wick interface. Further details of the calculation can be found in [94]. Different applied pressure differences lead to different contact angles between the meniscus and micropillar surface, and the pressure is swept until a contact angle of approximately 70° is reached, corresponding to the advancing contact angle of water on SiO₂ [89]. The generated meniscus shape is then used to calculate the thin-film area for the evaporator micropillar resistance model, and the applied pressure is taken as the capillary pressure of the entire wick.

The thin-film conduction resistance, R_{tf} , is calculated by integrating the thin-film profile, treating each infinitesimal slice of liquid as a parallel resistor. Details of the thin-film resistance calculation can be found in section 3.2.1. As the applied heat flux increases, the meniscus recedes within the micropillar wick, increasing the thin-film area

and reducing the overall resistance. This effect is significant in vapor chambers and heat pipes where the evaporator resistance normally dominates the overall system resistance [25], but is expected to be minimal when the NCG resistance dominates. Therefore, we neglect any variation in the thin-film area with applied heat flux and use a fixed contact angle, θ , to calculate the evaporator wick resistance. Finally, the liquid-vapor interfacial resistances in the thin-film and bulk liquid regions are calculated with the Schrage equation as given by Equation 3.8. Figure 4-2(c) shows the overall resistance network for the evaporator wick.

The treatment of the condenser wick resistance is relatively simpler than the evaporator wick, as condensation is expected over the micropillar top surfaces as well as the liquid bulk. We therefore assume parallel heat conduction through the micropillar wick and liquid bulk with an effective thermal conductivity where

$$k_{w,c} = \phi k_{liq} + (1 - \phi) k_{sub}$$
(4.9)

and ϕ is the volume fraction of the wick.

The final system of equations for the overall device resistance network is solved iteratively with the Trust Region Dogleg method in MATLAB to find the temperatures at each resistance node. The total device resistance is defined as

$$R_{th} = \frac{T_e - T_c}{Q} \tag{4.10}$$

where Q is the total heat input and equal to the sum of Q_{act} and Q_{side} .

Temperature-dependent thermophysical properties of the working fluid are calculated based on tabulated values in literature [152]. Temperature-dependent mixture properties such as the mixture density, binary diffusion coefficient, and total chamber pressure are evaluated using a mean temperature, T_m , that represents the average of the evaporator and condenser side vapor temperatures, where

$$T_m = \frac{1}{2} \left(T_{\nu,e} + T_{\nu,c} \right) \tag{4.11}$$

4.3 Experimental Methods

4.3.1 Device fabrication



Figure 4-4. (a) Image of Pyrex frame overlaid on top of the $1 \ge 1 \mod^2$ micropillar wick area on one side of the device after glass frit bonding. The charging port is visible as the circular through-hole at the top center of the wick and Pyrex insert. (b) Fully bonded device with Nanoport attachment and part of $1 \ge 1 \mod^2$ serpentine heater area visible. The face seal o-ring is not visible, and the outer o-ring is used to prevent overflow of the epoxy. Additional metal pads are visible around periphery of the device for extra RTDs that were not used in this experiment.

The device is fabricated from two 500 um thick pieces of silicon bonded to a Pyrex insert. Approximately 500 nm of thermal oxide is grown onto each silicon wafer to provide electrical insulation for the deposition of a 1 x 1 cm² serpentine platinum thinfilm resistor. The thin-film resistor simultaneously serves as a heater and resistance temperature detector (RTD) during the thermal experiments to measure the area averaged temperature on the hot and cold sides, T_e and T_c . The heaters/RTDs are fabricated by depositing 120 nm of platinum with a 5 nm chromium adhesion layer using standard photolithography, metal evaporation, and lift-off techniques. After the heater/RTD fabrication, a micropillar array with approximately 100 um diameter, 200 um pitch, and 100 um height is etched into the opposite side of the silicon using ultra-violet laser

ablation to act as the porous wicking material within the device. A 750 um diameter outlet through-hole is etched into one side of the device to facilitate liquid charging and NCG injection. The Pyrex frame is similarly fabricated through laser ablation, and a sawtooth groove structure is etched around the periphery of the cavity to enable condensate return from the cold side to the hot side. An approximately 400 um wide, 20 um thick glass frit bond line is printed onto each piece of silicon, and all pieces are joined and fired at 450°C to perform the final seal. Figure 4-4(a) shows an image of the Pyrex frame after glass frit bonding to one side of the device.

After bonding, a 1 mm bead of epoxy is added around the Pyrex frame for additional mechanical stability and secondary sealing. As a final step, a Nanoport for external fluidic connections is mated to the solid silicon surface surrounding the throughhole with an o-ring face seal (Figure 4-4(b)). Epoxy is then applied to the port with the oring under compression to maintain the seal. The epoxy used to maintain the Nanoport seal (Devcon 2-ton) has a maximum recommended working temperature of approximately 95 °C. Therefore, the total input power in each experiment is limited to approximately 14 W in order to prevent degradation of the epoxy and leakage through the Nanoport bonding surface at temperatures significantly higher than the maximum rating. The active phase change region of the completed device is 1 x 1 cm² with a cavity thickness of 500 um, and total stack thickness of 1.5 mm. The total area is 2 x 2 cm² to allow space for bonding and electrical contact pads.

Table 4-1: Summary of approximate device dimensions, with active region width w_{act} , Pyrex insert width w_{side} , Pyrex insert and vapor/NCG cavity thickness t_{core} , solid silicon substrate thickness t_{sub} , and micropillar wick height, diameter, and pitch of h, d, l, respectively.

Parameter	Wact	Wside	t _{core}	<i>t</i> _{sub}	h	d	l
	[mm]	[mm]	[µm]	[µm]	[µm]	[µm]	[µm]
Value	10	1.8	500	400	100	100	200

4.3.2 Experimental procedure

Prior to each experiment, the device is charged with approximately 14 μ L of deionized, ultra-filtered water. A copper cold plate connected to a chiller maintained at a bath temperature of 20 °C is mounted to the condenser side of the device. The device is then evacuated until the total chamber pressure reading from a pressure transducer is approximately equal to the saturation pressure of water at 20 °C, or 2.3 kPa. Ambient air is then re-injected slowly into the device until the desired total chamber pressure set point is reached. The total pressure reading P_{tot} is used in the model to calculate the starting NCG pressure, P_{NCG} , assuming that the partial pressure of the vapor is equal to the saturation pressure at 20 °C. The effective thermal resistance across the device is defined as $R_{th} = \Delta T/Q$, where ΔT is calculated as the difference of the area-averaged temperatures of the hot and cold sides, $T_e - T_c$, and Q is the total heat input. During experiments, the power to the hot side heater is incremented in a step-wise manner with a DC power supply (BK Precision 9206). For a more precise measurement of the supplied power, a 4wire measurement of the voltage across the heater and a separate measurement of the sourced current are obtained with an external multimeter. The device is judged to have reached steady state after the average change in the measured temperatures over a 5 minute time interval is less than 0.06 °C /minute. The final reported temperature readings are taken as the average of 150 samples over a 5 minute time period after the device reaches steady state.

4.3.3 Uncertainty analysis

We perform standard error propagation analysis to estimate the uncertainty in the two primary parameters of interest, ΔT and R_{th} . We estimate the heat loss, or difference between Q_{in} and Q_{out} by performing finite element simulations in COMSOL of the device with approximate boundary conditions to replicate the experimental test conditions. A heat transfer coefficient of 2,600 Wm⁻²K⁻¹ representing the copper cold plate is applied over a 1 x 1 cm² area on the cold side of the device, and a natural convection coefficient of 10 Wm⁻²K⁻¹ is applied to all remaining exposed areas. A 5 mm thick piece of silicone insulation is placed over the heated area to provide additional thermal insulation during

experiments and is included in the simulation as a block with an approximate thermal conductivity of 0.15 Wm⁻¹K⁻¹. The Pyrex insert and 1 mm wide epoxy bead are assigned thermal conductivities of 1 Wm⁻¹K⁻¹ and 0.3 Wm⁻¹K⁻¹, respectively. Since the effective thermal conductivities of the wick and non-condensable gas are not known *a priori*, a range of values are considered for each as a part of a sensitivity analysis. The estimated heat loss for the range of k_{NCG} and k_w considered is shown in Table 4-2. From the results, we can see that the heat loss is not particularly sensitive to k_{wick} (only 0.6% variation in expected heat loss for $k_w = 1-10 \text{ Wm}^{-1}\text{K}^{-1}$). The heat loss varies between 4.8%-7.7% for the range of k_{NCG} considered and becomes insensitive for $k_{NCG} > 10 \text{ Wm}^{-1}\text{K}^{-1}$. For the remainder of the analysis, we approximate the heat loss with a fixed value of 6% and include +/- 1.5% in the uncertainty calculation.

Table 4-2. Finite element simulation results to estimate heat loss in experimental set up for different values of NCG/vapor mixture effective thermal conductivity, k_{NCG} .

k _w [Wm ⁻¹ K ⁻¹]	k _{NCG} [Wm ⁻¹ K ⁻¹]	Q _{in} [W]	Q _{out} [W]	% heat loss
5	0.25	10	9.23	7.7
5	1	10	9.36	6.4
5	2.5	10	9.44	5.6
1	5	10	9.42	5.8
5	5	10	9.48	5.3
10	5	10	9.49	5.2
5	10	10	9.50	5.0
5	25	10	9.52	4.9
5	50	10	9.52	4.8

To calibrate the thin-film platinum serpentine resistors for use as RTDs, the entire set up is submerged into a recirculating liquid bath with one thermocouple attached to each side of the device (Omega T-type, Special Limits of Error). The thermocouples are previously calibrated against a high accuracy platinum reference probe (Fluke 5615-12-J)

to an accuracy of +/- 0.1°C. The agreement between the two reference thermocouples at each bath set point is typically within 0.05 °C, which is within the ±0.1 °C uncertainty of the thermocouples. The resistors on each side of the device are then calibrated based on the average of the two reference thermocouple temperatures to extract the linear temperature coefficient of resistance for each, α . The uncertainty in absolute temperature measured by the RTDs is thus the combination of the 95% confidence interval uncertainty in the steady state average and the uncertainty in absolute temperature based on the resistance to temperature conversion equations of the RTDs. The uncertainty in the average cold side temperature is approximately ±0.4 °C, and the uncertainty due to the fact that the resistor is simultaneously subjected to a heating current. The uncertainty in absolute temperature in absolute measured temperature and the uncertainty in the total heat input due to heat loss. The approximate uncertainties for the various the components in the system are given in Table 4-3.

Table 4-3. Approximate errors from the instrumentation and resistance-temperature calibration curves for each RTD.

T_{ref} error, u_{Tref}	Resistance	α error, u_{α}	Voltage	Current
[°C]	measurement error, u _R	[1/°C]	measurement	measurement
	$[\Omega]$		error [V]	error [A]
±0.1	±0.02	8e-6	1e-3	1e-4

4.4 Steady-state thermal behavior



4.4.1 Resistance switching

Figure 4-5. (a) Steady state experimental results for overall device resistance, R_{th} , for $P_{NCG} = 12$ kPa – 99 kPa. Model prediction is shown with dashed lines. (b) Model predictions for R_{NCG} as a function of heat input for $P_{NCG} = 12$ -99 kPa. The achievable resistance contrast in R_{NCG} is much greater than what manifests in the total device resistance, R_{th} , due to parallel and series resistance components.

The steady state model results for the device thermal resistance, R_{th} , as a function of input power are plotted with the experimental results for different levels of P_{NCG} in Figure 4-5(a). Due to the maximum temperature limitation of the charging port sealing epoxy, the maximum heat input for $P_{NCG} = 99$ kPa is limited to 9 W. The model shows reasonable agreement with the experimental results and captures the decrease in R_{th} with increasing power, as well as the shift in R_{th} with varying P_{NCG} . Increasing P_{NCG} raises the vapor mass transport resistance and increases R_{th} for a given heat input. Raising P_{NCG} from 12 kPa to 99 kPa, for instance, causes R_{th} to increase by approximately 1.5 times. For a given NCG charging pressure, the vapor mass fraction gradient between the hot and cold sides increases as more heat is supplied and reduces the effect of the NCG. This is evidenced by the steady decline of R_{th} with increasing Q for the different P_{NCG} considered. With NCG present, the device essentially acts like a thermal switch that

responds passively to variations in Q. When placed in parallel with a temperature sensitive component of comparable resistance, the switchable R_{th} behavior could be leveraged in combination with a heat spreader or similar to act as a heat flow surge protector. If an active regulation scenario is desired, the amount of NCG could be utilized as the switching mechanism by dynamically modulating P_{NCG} at a given heat flow input. The dynamic scenario opens up a larger range of possibilities for device operation, but would require the implementation of a freezing cycle or additional system level components to prevent excess loss of water vapor during multiple chamber evacuation/pressurization cycles. For the remainder of the analysis, we therefore focus primarily on the passive scenario, where P_{NCG} would be tuned and preset during device fabrication to obtain the desired operating characteristics.

We evaluate the resistance switching in terms of the conventional switching ratio metric, or R_{off}/R_{on} . As the "off" and "on" states of our device depend on Q, we define R_{off} and R_{on} as R_{th} at the minimum and maximum input powers considered of approximately 0.6 W and 14 W, respectively. The device switching ratio, S_R , is therefore

$$S_R = \frac{R_{off}}{R_{on}} = \frac{R_{th}(Q_1)}{R_{th}(Q_2)}$$
(4.12)

where Q_1 and Q_2 represent off and on-state power inputs. With this definition, the maximum switching ratio observed in the experiments is 4 for $P_{NCG} = 12$ kPa. As shown in Figure 4-5(b), however, the switching ratio of the NCG resistance, R_{NCG} is significantly higher than this. For each P_{NCG} considered, R_{NCG} varies by at least 10x over the heat input range considered. The NCG resistance is also much more sensitive to variations P_{NCG} than the overall device resistance, R_{th} . For Q less than 1 W, increasing P_{NCG} from 12 kPa to 99 kPa causes an approximately 7x increase in R_{NCG} , but only a 1.5x increase in R_{th} . In the physical device embodiment, much of the achievable resistance contrast in R_{NCG} therefore appears to be truncated due to the parallel and series resistances that decrease the overall switching effect.



4.4.2 Temperature clamping

Figure 4-6. (a) Steady state experimental results for overall device resistance, R_{th} , for $P_{NCG} = 12$ kPa – 99 kPa. Model prediction is shown with dashed lines. (b) The temperature difference ΔT as a function of T_e for $P_{NCG} = 12 - 34$ kPa. ΔT becomes clamped to ΔT_{cr} at a different $T_{e,cr}$ value depending on the value of P_{NCG} .

Figure 4-6(a) demonstrates an additional attribute of the device, where the temperature difference across the two sides, ΔT becomes clamped to a relatively heat-flow independent value above a critical threshold. Varying P_{NCG} shifts the critical ΔT value where the resistance begins to decline. The values of this critical temperature difference, ΔT_{cr} for $P_{NCG} = 12$ kPa, 23 kPa, and 34 kPa are approximately 16°C, 20 °C, and 26 °C, respectively. No clamping is observed experimentally for $P_{NCG} = 99$ kPa due to the lower range of input power considered, though the model predicts that ΔT would clamp to a value of approximately 40 °C at higher heat inputs. Further details are revealed in Figure 4-6(b) where ΔT is plotted versus the hot side temperature, T_e . In the presence of NCG, ΔT becomes clamped to a relatively fixed value of ΔT_{cr} at a certain threshold temperature, $T_{e,cr}$ that varies based on P_{NCG} . We define the initiation of clamping as the point when ΔT is within 1 °C of ΔT_{cr} . With this criteria, $T_{e,cr}$ equals 61 °C, 71 °C, and 78 °C for $P_{NCG} = 12$ kPa, 23 kPa.

The temperature clamping behavior can be explained by rearranging equation 4.6 in section 4.2.1 to describe the hot side vapor mass fraction, ω_h as a function of the heat input, where

$$\omega_h = 1 + (\omega_c - 1)exp\left(\frac{-Qz}{\rho_m D_{vg} h_{fg} A}\right)$$
(4.13)

Assuming for the moment that all of the heat input goes towards phase change, analyzing the behavior of Equation (4.13) reveals that as ω_h approaches 1, $d\omega_h/dQ$ decays exponentially with increasing Q. In terms of temperature, as T_e approaches the saturation temperature of water at the total cavity pressure, $T_{sat}(P_{tot})$, the NCG mass transport resistance decreases such that large increases in heat input lead to relatively smaller increases in ω_h , and subsequently T_e . This causes dT_e/dQ to decline, potentially initiating the clamping behavior for ΔT . We confirm our theory by estimating $T_{sat}(P_{tot})$ for each P_{NCG} at the onset of clamping when $T_e = T_{e,cr}$. As seen in Table 4-4, the experimentally observed $T_{e,cr}$ for each case is within 8-12% of the estimation for $T_{sat}(P_{tot})$. Note that as T_e approaches $T_{sat}(P_{tot})$, there is also the possibility of the initiation of boiling within the wick. In this case, the hot side wick resistance would potentially decrease and further reduce the total device resistance.

Table 4-4. Calculated values for the vapor temperature of water, $T_{sat}(P_{tot})$ at the onset of clamping for each of the different NCG charge pressures.

P _{NCG} [kPa]	12	23	34
$T_{e,cr}$ [°C]	61.25	70.7	76.6
$T_c [^{\circ}C]$	46.1	51.5	51.7
T _{sat} (P _{tot}) [°C]	66.9	79.6	87.3
% difference	8.4	11.1	12.3

Figure 4-7 provides more insight into the change in hot side temperature behavior for T_e greater than $T_{e,cr}$. T_e and T_c are plotted as functions of the input power, Q for P_{NCG} = 34 kPa. The dashed lines are provided as visual guides to track the change in slope for T_e versus Q. As the experimental cold side is not a fixed reservoir, T_c shows a linear dependence on Q due to the constant heat transfer coefficient boundary condition enforced by the cold plate. At location 1 on the plot, dT_e/dQ is greater than dT_c/dQ , and

 ΔT increases with increasing Q. For $T_e > T_{e,cr}$, however, dT_e/dQ begins to decline as R_{NCG} decreases significantly based on the principles of Maxwell-Stefan diffusion, and approaches a value equal to the slope of the cold side temperature. At locations 2 and 3 on the plot, dT_e/dQ is approximately equal to dT_c/dQ , initiating the clamping behavior for ΔT .



Figure 4-7. T_e and T_c versus input power, Q, for $P_{NCG} = 34$ kPa. At location 1, $T_e < T_{e,cr}$ and clamping has not initiated, causing ΔT to increase with increasing Q. At location 2, $T_e < T_{e,cr}$ and dT_e/dQ is approximately equal to dT_c/dQ (location 3), which results in the ΔT clamping behavior.

4.5 Switching ratio optimization

Based on the results in Figure 4-5, R_{NCG} exhibits high contrast switching behavior, but the actual contrast in overall device resistance, R_{th} is significantly dampened in comparison. The following sections will therefore explore a parametric geometric optimization to increase the switching ratio through reduction of parallel heat flow pathways and series resistance components. For consistency with the previously reported experimental results, we consider the minimum and maximum power inputs of 0.6 W and 14 W as the off/on-state powers, respectively. Note that different absolute values of

switching ratios would result if different heat flow ranges were considered, though the general optimization strategies would remain the same.

4.5.1 Effect of vapor core thickness

Ideally, R_p should be much greater than R_{NCG} to fully employ the nonlinear thermal behavior associated with vapor transport across the NCG cavity. One way to increase R_p is to increase the total cavity thickness, t_{core} . Figure 4-8(a) shows the model and experimental results for $t_{core} = 500 \ \mu\text{m} - 1 \ \text{mm}$ with $P_{NCG} = 12 \pm 1.3 \ \text{kPa}$. Based on the figure, doubling t_{core} increases the off-state resistance by about 170%. The total switching ratio, however, only increases slightly by around 10% from 4 to 4.4. Figure 4-8(b) shows the model results for R_{NCG} as a function of heat input for t_{core} equal to 500 $\mu\text{m} - 1 \ \text{mm}$ with the sidewall conduction resistances, R_p , for each t_{core} overlaid on the plot. Increasing t_{core} raises R_p as well as R_{NCG} due to the longer required vapor transport distance. The relative off-state resistance ratio of R_p to R_{NCG} therefore remains constant at around 0.5 regardless of the t_{core} value, and the same percentage of heat continues to leak through the device sidewalls.



Figure 4-8. (a) Steady state experimental and model results for overall device resistance with $P_{NCG} = 12$ kPa and $t_{core} = 500 \ \mu\text{m} - 1 \ \text{mm}$. (b) Model results for R_{NCG} and R_p for t_{core} = 500 $\mu\text{m} - 1 \ \text{mm}$. R_p and R_{NCG} increase proportionally with t_{core} , which minimizes the impact on the overall switching ratio.

4.5.2 Effect of sidewall conduction area

Based on the results in Figure 4-8, modifying the insert thickness alone is not an effective method of increasing the switching ratio due to the concurrent and proportional increase in R_p and R_{NCG} . We therefore explore the additional method of increasing R_p by varying the insert width, w_{side} . We simplify the calculation by neglecting any conduction through the epoxy bead, as the current purpose is merely to provide mechanical support for the extra overhanging silicon areas used for electrical contact. The modified sidewall conduction resistance is calculated as

$$R_p = \frac{t_{core}}{k_p (4w_{side}^2 + 4w_{side}w_{act})}$$
(4.14)

where k_p is the thermal conductivity of Pyrex.

Figure 4-9 shows the predicted steady state switching ratio, S_R , for $w_{side} = 200 \,\mu\text{m}$ - 1500 μm and $P_{NCG} = 5 \,\text{kPa} - 99 \,\text{kPa}$. Overall, reducing w_{side} leads to a higher switching ratio for all P_{NCG} considered. For w_{side} greater than approximately 500 μm , the lowest charge pressure of $P_{NCG} = 5 \,\text{kPa}$ exhibits the highest switching ratio. A crossover regime occurs for $w_{side} < 500 \,\mu\text{m}$, however, where S_R increases slightly with increasing P_{NCG} . Overall, S_R is more sensitive to variations in w_{side} as P_{NCG} is increased. The NCG resistance R_{NCG} increases with P_{NCG} , which causes S_R to be more significantly limited by the parallel resistance, R_p , if R_p is comparable to R_{NCG} in the off-state. The highest NCG charge pressure considered of $P_{NCG} = 99 \,\text{kPa}$ shows a significant increase in S_R from approximately 2 to 6.8 as w_{side} is decreased from 1500 μ m to 200 μ m.



Figure 4-9. Device switching ratio, S_R , for $t_{core} = 500 \ \mu\text{m}$ as the sidewall width, w_{side} is varied from 200 μm -1500 μm for $P_{NCG} = 5 \ \text{kPa} - 99 \ \text{kPa}$. S_R is more sensitive to variations in w_{side} for higher P_{NCG} .

Figure 4-10(a) shows S_R as a function of P_{NCG} for $w_{side} = 200 - 1000 \ \mu\text{m}$ as t_{core} is increased from 500 μm to 1000 μm . As w_{side} decreases, increasing t_{core} becomes a more effective method of increasing S_R . Simultaneously tuning w_{side} and t_{core} ensures an increase in the ratio of the sidewall resistance R_p to R_{NCG} , preventing the effect demonstrated in section 4.5.1, where increasing t_{core} alone merely resulted in a fairly proportional increase in both resistances. As w_{side} decreases, S_R becomes less dependent on P_{NCG} . As seen in Figure 4-9(a), S_R is fairly constant for $w_{side} = 200 \ \mu\text{m}$ and ranges between 6.7 \pm 0.2 and 10.8 \pm 0.2 for t_{core} equal to 500 μm and 1000 μm , respectively, for all P_{NCG} considered. When R_p is high enough that R_{NCG} dominates, increasing P_{NCG} causes the absolute off/on-state resistances to shift fairly proportionally, and the total switching ratio becomes less sensitive to P_{NCG} . When R_p is comparable to R_{NCG} , however, R_p limits the off-state resistance and increasing P_{NCG} serves to increase the overall on-state resistance only, reducing S_R .



Figure 4-10. (a) Device switching ratio, S_R , for sidewall width $w_{side} = 200 \ \mu\text{m} - 1000 \ \mu\text{m}$, $P_{NCG} = 5 \ \text{kPa} - 99 \ \text{kPa}$, and $t_{core} = 500 - 1000 \ \mu\text{m}$. Increasing t_{core} is more effective for increasing S_R as w_{side} is reduced to prevent R_p and R_{NCG} from scaling proportionately. (b). Switching efficiency of the device, η , for $t_{core} = 1000 \ \mu\text{m}$ and $w_{side} = 200 - 1000 \ \mu\text{m}$.

We further explore this phenomena by defining a switching efficiency for the device, η , equal to the overall device off/on resistance ratio divided by the NCG off/on resistance ratio, where

$$\eta = \frac{R_{th}(Q_1)/R_{th}(Q_2)}{R_{NCG}(Q_1)/R_{NCG}(Q_2)} = \frac{S_R}{S_{NCG}}$$
(4.15)

 S_{NCG} is the switching ratio of R_{NCG} at the off/on-state heat inputs. A value of η approaching 1 therefore means the device is approaching the limits of the maximum possible switching ratio for a given P_{NCG} . Figure 4-10(b) shows the calculated switching efficiencies over the range of P_{NCG} considered for $t_{core} = 1000 \mu m$ and $w_{side} = 200 - 1000 \mu m$. For the current configuration considered, the efficiency peaks at 0.66 for P_{NCG} approximately equal to 30 kPa and $w_{side} = 200 \mu m$.

4.5.3 Effect of porous wick thermal resistance

A final aspect that limits the device switching efficiency other than the parallel resistance of R_p is the series resistance across the micropillar wicks. Figure 4-11 shows the 1D resistance stack up across the device including the NCG resistance R_{NCG} , the

evaporator/condenser wick resistances, $R_{w,e}$ and $R_{w,c}$, and the silicon substrate resistance, R_{sub} , as a function of heat input for $P_{NCG} = 12$ kPa. In the off-state, R_{NCG} is at least an order of magnitude larger than the remaining resistances and dominates the total stack. As Q increases, however, R_{NCG} decreases steadily and becomes comparable to the evaporator wick resistance, $R_{w,e}$, which limits the on-state resistance.



Figure 4-11. Device resistance stack up for $P_{NCG} = 12$ kPa. R_{NCG} dominates for low heat inputs but approaches the evaporator wick resistance, $R_{w,e}$ as Q increases, potentially limiting the on-state resistance.

To investigate the effect of varying the micropillar wick resistance, the micropillar dimensions were modified from the values listed in Table 4-1 to include cases with diameters $d = 12 \mu m$, 25 μm , 50 μm and pitches $l = 25 \mu m$, 50 μm , 100 μm . Moving to a finer wick creates more evaporative heat transfer surface area and reduces the overall wick resistance. A denser wick also creates a higher viscous flow resistance, however, potentially limiting the capillary-driven maximum heat flux of the device. A fluid flow simulation was therefore performed for each micropillar array dimension in COMSOL to confirm that the maximum heat input considered in each case could be sustained without capillary-limited dryout.

For the pressure drop calculation, the wick is modeled through an effective medium approach with an analytically derived permeability from Byon et al. [93], also given in Equations 3.13 and 3.14 from chapter 3. The simulation boundary conditions are as shown in Figure 4-12, with zero pressure assigned to each of the wick edges, and a uniform mass flux representing evaporation from the wick surface where

$$\dot{m''} = \frac{q''}{h_{fg}} \tag{S3}$$

To account for the worst case scenario, we assume that all of the applied heat goes towards evaporation.

The pressure contour in Figure 4-12 shows the pressure drop across the wick for the case of $d = 12 \ \mu\text{m}$, $l = 25 \ \mu\text{m}$, and $h = 100 \ \mu\text{m}$. The maximum pressure drop is approximately 165 Pa, which is less than 13% of the estimated capillary pressure from the force balance model approach (~1350 Pa). Simulations for the other micropillar dimensions also resulted in viscous pressure drops that were significantly smaller than the capillary pressure threshold, meaning the device could reasonably sustain 14 W with the modified wick dimensions without risk of dryout.



Figure 4-12. Pressure contour and boundary conditions for the viscous pressure drop simulation in COMSOL, where the wick is treated as an effective porous medium with an analytically calculated permeability.

Figure 4-13(a) shows the variation in S_R as a function of P_{NCG} for the different micropillar dimensions considered with $w_{side} = 200 \ \mu\text{m}$ and $t_{core} = 1000 \ \mu\text{m}$. Reducing the overall wick resistance appears to have the most significant impact on S_R in the low P_{NCG} range. A maximum switching ratio of approximately 14.5 is achieved for the highest density wick with $P_{NCG} = 5 \ \text{kPa}$. For higher P_{NCG} , R_{NCG} remains substantially higher than $R_{w,e}$ in the on-state and continues to dominate the resistance stack, minimizing the impact of reducing $R_{w,e}$. This is also evidenced in Figure 4-13(b), which plots the switching efficiency η for each of the different micropillar array dimensions considered. As the overall wick resistance is decreased, the maximum efficiency point shifts left towards lower values of P_{NCG} , with a maximum η reached of approximately 0.76 for the finest micropillar wick dimensions of $d = 12 \ \mu\text{m}$ and $l = 25 \ \mu\text{m}$. Lower P_{NCG} levels therefore appear sufficient to create a high switching ratio thermal regulator, but higher P_{NCG} levels can be used to tune the absolute off/on-state resistances.



Figure 4-13. (a) Switching ratio S_R as a function of P_{NCG} for $w_{side} = 200 \ \mu\text{m}$ and $t_{core} = 1000 \ \mu\text{m}$ as micropillar wick dimensions are varied from $d = 12 - 100 \ \mu\text{m}$ and $l = 25 - 200 \ \mu\text{m}$. Reducing $R_{w,e}$ with a higher density pillar array has the most significant impact on increasing S_R in the low P_{NCG} range. (b) Switching efficiency, η , with varied micropillar array dimensions to reduce $R_{w,e}$. A maximum efficiency of approximately 0.76 is reached for the finest pillar dimensions considered of $d = 12 \ \mu\text{m}$ and $l = 25 \ \mu\text{m}$.

4.6 Conclusions

In conclusion, we have demonstrated a thermal regulator that leverages vapor diffusion through a NCG barrier to exhibit a switchable resistance over a range of power inputs. The device is passive, with a thermal resistance that naturally decreases as the input power increases, making the device concept potentially suitable for use as a thermal shunt or surge protector against sudden power spikes. Experimental results for the current device configuration demonstrated a maximum switching ratio of 4 over the heat flow range of 0.6 W to 14 W. Through a parametric optimization of the device geometry, however, we demonstrated a pathway to increase the switching ratio over the same heat input range to more than 14. Overall, the device geometry should be optimized such that the vapor/NCG resistance dominates the device resistance stack in order to achieve the maximum resistance switching contrast. Larger switching ratios are also possible depending on the off/on-state powers under consideration.

The device also demonstrates the ability to clamp the temperature difference across the hot and cold sides to a heat flow independent, fixed value of ΔT_{cr} . Both the resistance switching behavior and value of ΔT_{cr} are adjustable with the amount of NCG charge, an advantage over many existing regulators that are limited to fixed operating temperature ranges. The tunability of the device presented here provides a valuable addition to the current arsenal of existing thermal circuitry components, and increases the opportunity for electro-thermal co-design in future systems.
Chapter 5 Passive Thermal Regulation with Binary Vapor Diffusion: Transient Behavior

This chapter focuses on the importance of characterizing the transient behavior of thermal switches and regulators, and presents experimental and model results for the transient switching performance of the binary diffusion based regulator introduced in Chapter 4. Large portions of this chapter are taken from Liu et al., "Steady-state Parametric Optimization and Transient Characterization of Heat Flow Regulation with Binary Diffusion," *IEEE TCPMT*, 2020 [143].

5.1 Relevance of transient thermal response

The transient thermal behavior of various switches and regulators is an important aspect often neglected in studies that primarily treat the steady-state switching ratio as the predominant figure of merit. While steady-state studies provide a baseline for the relative comparison of different regulators, it becomes impractical to assess their impact in system-level implementations without a thorough discussion of transient behavior. Table 5-1 shows a summary of several different switching mechanisms in terms of not only their switching ratios, but also their transient thermal response times. For a more comprehensive view of how these mechanisms could be implemented in practice, both attributes must be taken into account. For instance, Guo et al. utilized differential thermal expansion with a flexible rod to achieve a high switching ratio variable resistance between a heated metal cylinder and cold disk [45]. Thermal expansion is a weak effect, however, and relatively large feature sizes are required to achieve sufficient expansion to actuate this type of switch. The large thermal masses involved in these systems thus tend to create a slow thermal response time on the order of minutes instead of seconds [45]. On the contrary, solid-state phase transitions in vanadium oxide occur extremely rapidly

CHAPTER 5

on the order of nanoseconds [153], but with relatively low switching ratios of approximately 2 [49].

Table 5-1. Comparison of various thermal regulation mechanisms and their associated response times.

Regulation mechanism	Switching ratio	Response time	Actuation method
Differential thermal expansion [45]	390	~ 12 min	Passive
Liquid metal slug [44]	70	~ 1 s	Electric field
Shape memory alloy induced flexing(SMA) [37]	2070	~ 10 s	Passive
Solid-state phase transition in VO ₂ [49,153]	2	<< 1 s	Passive

Depending on the application, a system may benefit from a regulator with either a slower or faster thermal response time. For instance, a fast response time thermal switch would be ideal for generating transient heat loads of various waveforms, such as for a pulsed energy harvester. A thermal regulator to limit sudden temperature spikes, however, may benefit from additional thermal capacitance to smooth out the temperature rise. We therefore analyze the primary components that affect the thermal response time for the binary diffusion-based regulator, and evaluate the switching behavior in response to a pulsed heating input.

5.2 Transient device model

For the transient thermal analysis, we assume that the timescale associated with the vapor diffusion is much smaller than the thermal response time of the device solid portions [154,155]. We neglect the effect of varying liquid velocities in the porous wick and assume that the steady-state conduction model remains sufficient to describe the heat transfer across the micropillar array [74,156]. Similarly, we neglect the time to initiate

PASSIVE THERMAL REGULATION WITH BINARY DIFFUSION: TRANSIENT BEHAVIOR

capillary flow within the micropillar wick, which is typically on the order of ms [157]. With this treatment, the majority of the transient device behavior is governed by sensible heat storage. The resistance of the NCG/vapor core is comparable to the condenser side external heat transfer resistance (Bi \sim 1), meaning the transient device behavior cannot be accurately modeled with a lumped analysis as done for heat pipes [158]. Therefore, we use a three-dimensional solid conduction model in COMSOL to capture the device transient behavior. The NCG/vapor core mixture is modeled as a block with an NCG pressure and temperature-dependent effective thermal conductivity derived from the steady-state model results. Due to the small mass of NCG/vapor contained in the core, the thermal capacitance of the mixture is expected to be negligible compared to the wick and solid portions of the device (on the order of 1e-5 J/K).

Figure 5-1 shows the steady state model results for the NCG/vapor mixture thermal resistance R_{NCG} as a function of the evaporator side temperature, T_e for P_{NCG} = 12 kPa. As seem in the figure, R_{NCG} can be expressed as purely a function of T_e relatively independent of variation in the condenser side boundary condition. While the vapor mass transport equation depends on the evaporator side vapor mass fraction as well as the condenser side vapor mass fraction, the condenser side vapor mass fraction is fixed by the condenser side external boundary condition. Varying the condenser side heat transfer coefficient therefore simply shifts the heat flux dependence of R_{NCG} , but not the temperature dependence on T_e . The curves for R_{NCG} as a function of T_e therefore collapse onto each other for the three different condenser side heat transfer coefficients shown of h_{cp} = 2400, 5000, and 10,000 Wm⁻²K⁻¹.

A second order polynomial fit for $R_{NCG}(T_e)$ is generated with an R² value of 0.99 for $h_{cp} = 2400 \text{ Wm}^{-2}\text{K}^{-1}$, where

$$R_{NCG} = 0.00146T_e^2 - 0.306T_e + 16.72$$
(5.1)



Figure 5-1. Steady state model results for R_{NCG} as a function of T_e for $P_{NCG} = 12$ kPa. R_{NCG} is relatively independent of the condenser side condition and can be expressed primarily as a function of T_e . A second order polynomial fit is generated for use as an input to the transient COMSOL simulation.

The effective thermal conductivity input to the transient COMSOL simulation is thus

$$k_{NCG} = \frac{t_{core}}{R_{NCG} w_{act}^2}$$
(5.2)

A similar fit can be made from the steady state model results for the evaporator wick resistance, $k_{w,e}$ as a function of T_e , where

$$k_{w,e} = -0.000166T_e^2 + 0.0341T_e + 0.607$$
(5.3)

The condenser side wick resistance has minimal temperature dependence due to the relatively low liquid-vapor interfacial resistance compared to the evaporator side wick and is assigned a constant value of 16 Wm⁻¹K⁻¹ based on Equation 4.9 from section 4.2.2. The equivalent densities and heat capacities of the evaporator/condenser wicks are calculated based on the wick porosity, ϕ , as

$$\rho_w = \phi \rho_{lig} + (1 - \phi) \rho_{sub} \tag{5.4}$$

(= A)

PASSIVE THERMAL REGULATION WITH BINARY DIFFUSION: TRANSIENT BEHAVIOR

$$c_{p,w} = \emptyset c_{p,liq} + (1 - \emptyset) c_{p,sub}$$
(4.5)

Figure 5-2 shows the simulation boundary conditions for the transient solid conduction model in COMSOL, where a quarter geometry view of the device is shown. Heat is supplied to the evaporator side heater based on the experimentally measured values for Q_{in} , and a constant heat transfer coefficient boundary condition is assigned to the active $1 \times 1 \text{ cm}^2$ condenser area of the device to represent cooling from the copper cold plate. An approximately 5 mm thick layer of silicone insulation is used in the experiments to minimize heat loss from the evaporator side heater to the environment and is included in the simulations for consistency, though the capacitance of the silicone has a minimal contribution to the overall device response time. A natural convection coefficient of 10 Wm⁻²K⁻¹ is assigned to all remaining exposed surfaces. Table 5-2 summarizes the material properties used for the various device components in the transient conduction simulation. We note that if significant redistribution of liquid occurs within the device such as liquid starvation within the wick, it may no longer be accurate to model the wicks and NCG/vapor mixture as blocks with equivalent thermal conductivities and heat capacities. The model is therefore only appropriate for heat input ranges within the capillary limits of the device operation.



Figure 5-2. Boundary conditions and geometry used in transient solid conduction simulation in COMSOL.

CHAPTER 5

Material	Thermal conductivity, <i>k</i> [Wm ⁻¹ K ⁻¹]	Density, ρ [kg/m³]	Porosity, ø	Specific heat capacity, c _p [Jkg ⁻¹ K ⁻¹]
Silicon	149	2320	N/A	712
Pyrex	1	2230	N/A	753
Ероху	0.3	1100	N/A	1000
Water	0.6	998	N/A	4180
Silicone insulation	0.15	1500	N/A	1200
NCG/vapor core	$k_{NCG}(T_e)$ Eqn. S5	Negligible	N/A	Negligible
Evaporator wick	$k_{w,e}(T_e)$ Eqn. S6	$\rho_{w}(\phi, \rho_{Si}, \rho_{water}), \text{ Eqn. 13}$	0.8	$\begin{array}{c} c_{p,w}(\phi, c_{p,Si}, c_{p,water}) \\ \text{Eqn. 14} \end{array}$
Condenser wick	16	$\rho_{w}(\phi, \rho_{Si}, \rho_{water}), \text{ Eqn. 13}$	0.8	$\begin{array}{c} c_{p,w}(\phi, c_{p,Si}, c_{p,water}) \\ \text{Eqn. 14} \end{array}$

 Table 5-2. Material properties used for various device components in transient conduction simulation.

5.3 Transient experimental results



Figure 5-3. Transient model and experimental temperature profiles for the average evaporator/condenser side temperatures, T_e and T_c in response to step high and low heat inputs of approximately 9 W and 0.7 W, respectively.

PASSIVE THERMAL REGULATION WITH BINARY DIFFUSION: TRANSIENT BEHAVIOR

Figure 5-3 shows the transient model and experimental device temperature profiles as the power to the heater is first stepped up to approximately 9 W, then stepped down to 0.7 W for $P_{NCG} = 12$ kPa and $t_{core} = 500$ µm. Overall the model shows fair agreement with the experimental temperature profiles, confirming the assumption that the majority of the transient temperature response is governed by sensible heat storage. We assess the device thermal response time in terms of a time constant, τ_h , which represents the time required for T_e to reach 63% of the total steady state temperature rise. The model and experimental values for τ_h agree well with values of approximately 4.4 seconds and 4.9 seconds, respectively. In addition to the internal device resistances, τ_h also depends strongly on the external condenser side heat transfer coefficient, h_{cp} . As h_{cp} is varied from 500 – 10,000 Wm⁻²K⁻¹, τ_h ranges from approximately 15 – 1 seconds. The model results for τ_h as a function of h_{cp} are listed in Table 5-3.

Table 5-3. Thermal time constant, τ_h , as a function of external condenser side heat transfer coefficient, h_{cp} . h_{cp} is approximately equal to 2400 Wm⁻²K⁻¹ in the experiments.

$h_{cp} \left[\mathrm{Wm}^{-2} \mathrm{K}^{-1} \right]$	$\tau_h[\mathbf{s}]$
500	15.3
2400	4.4
5000	1.8
10,000	1



Figure 5-4. (a) Model and experimental temperature profiles when the applied heat input, Q_{in} is pulsed in 5 second durations from 0.7 W to 9 W. (b) Transient device resistance in response to the pulsed heating input. The device takes longer to reach the steady-state resistance value in the cool-down phase, leading to transient off-state resistances much higher than steady-state values.

Figure 5-4(a) shows the transient temperature profiles in response to a pulsed heating input where Q_{in} is modulated between on/off-state powers of 9 W and 0.7 W, respectively, over a period of 10 seconds. As shown in the plot, the applied heat input is not a true square wave due to the temperature-dependent resistance of the serpentine heater/RTD. To account for this, the experimentally measured heating profile is directly used as a simulation input. Figure 5-4(b) shows the effective device resistance in response to the pulsed heat input. As seen in Figure 5-4 (b), the device responds rapidly when transitioning from the off to on-state and reaches the steady-state on-state resistance with almost no delay. When the heat load is reduced, however, the difference in the response times of the condenser and evaporator sides leads to a large spike in the apparent device off-state resistance value of approximately 4 °C/W. The off-state resistance slowly declines over 5 seconds to around 8 °C/W, but still remains approximately 2x greater than the steady-state value. This leads to an interesting phenomenon, where the transient switching ratio appears significantly higher than the

PASSIVE THERMAL REGULATION WITH BINARY DIFFUSION: TRANSIENT BEHAVIOR

steady-state ratio. The difference between the off-on and on-off transitions can be explained by considering the heat transport pathways in the two different scenarios.



Figure 5-5. (a) Model results for the device transient heat flow pathways in terms of the total heat supplied to the heater, external heat removal from the condenser side, and the rate of change in sensible heat storage in the evaporator/condenser substrates. (b) Transient model and experimental profiles for the temperature difference ΔT in response to a pulsed heat input. The clamping behavior of the device fixes ΔT in the on-state and causes the device resistance to rapidly approach the steady state value.

Figure 5-5(a) shows the model results for the transient heat flow pathways within the device in terms of the heat applied to the heater, Q_{in} , the amount of heat removed from the condenser side, Q_{cond} , and the rate of change in sensible heat storage in the evaporator/condenser side substrates, $Q_{sens,e}$ and $Q_{sens,c}$, respectively. As heat is supplied to the evaporator side heater, a significant portion of the heat is initially stored as sensible heat in the evaporator side substrate. The heat eventually reaches the condenser side, increasing the amount of heat rejection through the external cold plate. $Q_{sens,e}$ and $Q_{sens,c}$ approach the same value approximately 2 seconds after the initial heating pulse, and decline steadily as Q_{cond} continues to rise.

In the cool down phase, Q_{in} is suddenly decreased, and an excess amount of heat is removed from the condenser side. Some amount of variation in the response times for

CHAPTER 5

on-off and off-on transitions is expected, as the higher steady-state device resistance in the off-state naturally increases the thermal time constant. The effect is greatly amplified, however, by the ΔT clamping behavior of the device as shown in Figure 5-5 (b). In the on-state, enough heat is supplied that the device crosses the ΔT clamping threshold (as previously shown in Figure 4-6), and the temperature difference across the device becomes relatively independent of heat flow. This causes ΔT to quickly approach a fixed value of approximately 18 °C with relatively minimal impact from sensible heat storage within the device. In the off-state, the device falls outside of the ΔT clamping regime as the heat input is reduced, and the ΔT heat flow dependence returns. The effect of sensible heat storage therefore becomes more apparent, and ΔT decreases with time to approach the steady-state value. The high apparent transient off-state resistance is therefore not a true change in device resistance, but an effect of sensible heat storage that causes ΔT to be higher than the steady-state value. The combination of this with the ability of the device to clamp to a fixed ΔT above a certain threshold leads to the asymmetric transient behavior, where the off-on resistance response time appears much shorter than the on-off resistance response time. The transient switching ratio of the device therefore also appears higher than the steady-state ratio due to the combined effect of sensible heat storage in the off-state and temperature clamping in the on-state.

5.4 Conclusions

Transient experiments and modeling of the regulator revealed that the majority of the device thermal capacitance is comprised of sensible heat storage in the solid device volume. The device thermal time constant ranges from approximately 1-15 seconds depending on the external heat transfer coefficient. For transient events occurring with significantly shorter time scales, the device will likely not be able to respond fast enough for resistance switching to occur. For transient events occurring on the order of a few seconds, the temperature clamping behavior of the device creates a highly attractive attribute where the on-state resistance of the device is reached relatively quickly, and the apparent off-state resistance is magnified over the steady-state value. This asymmetric transient response promotes the device as a good candidate for use as a thermal regulator to mitigate sudden temperature swings. The temperature clamping behavior can also

98

PASSIVE THERMAL REGULATION WITH BINARY DIFFUSION: TRANSIENT BEHAVIOR

potentially create a thermal buffering effect to protect sensitive components from fluctuations in ambient environmental conditions [34]. However, it remains difficult to predict the effect of implementing the device in a system-level regulation scenario, as the overall temperature response will depend on the system-level thermal resistances and capacitances. With this work, the aim is to produce an accurate picture of the standalone regulator behavior that can feed into future system-level experiments and/or models.

Chapter 6 Conclusions and Future Work

In this chapter, we summarize some of the primary findings and contributions of this dissertation, and propose directions for future work in the field.

6.1 Integrated heat spreading mechanisms for electronics thermal management

In chapter 2, we presented a detailed discussion on the operating principles and performance prospects of silicon vapor chambers. Since silicon is CTE compatible with most semiconductor substrates, the adoption of silicon vapor technology enables a variety of novel, integrated packaging configurations that could eliminate many of the thermal bottlenecks associated with poor thermal interfaces in existing packages. Significant work still remains, however, in developing robust manufacturing processes for silicon vapor chambers before they can be utilized at a commercial scale. At the same time, the vast array of silicon micromachining processes available also creates opportunities to implement unique porous wick structures to optimize the heat and mass transport within the vapor chambers.

As discussed in chapter 3, however, cost considerations may limit the use of silicon vapor chambers much larger than a typical die size. One approach to creating more cost effective silicon vapor chambers could be to scale down the size of the vapor chamber. We demonstrated in chapter 3 that a miniature, $1 \times 1 \text{ cm}^2$ silicon vapor chamber could be utilized for die-matched heat spreading with significant improvement in temperature uniformity (> 45%) over solid silicon. An alternative approach and practical area of future research could involve silicon vapor chambers with multiple integrated die for multi-chip heat spreading. Careful consideration of the working fluid and compatibility of various devices would be necessary to ensure that no electrical interference occurred between different die.

CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE WORK

While silicon is a promising material for creating integrated vapor chambers, a range of other CTE matched materials also exist that could prove more cost effective in the long run. Kovar, for example, has a CTE close to silicon and can be processed with inexpensive stamping methods. Benson et al. estimated that a heat pipe fabricated out of Kovar could be made for 1/10th the cost of a silicon heat pipe [82]. The thermal conductivity of Kovar, however, is almost two orders of magnitude lower that silicon, which may limit the use of Kovar based vapor chambers to low heat flux applications only. Other low CTE vapor chamber envelope materials that could potentially compete with silicon include copper molybdenum [56], copper tungsten [159], and ceramics such as aluminum nitride [160].

Finally, an exciting area of future research remains in other opportunities for integrated heat spreading in non-traditional components of electronics packages. Cho et al. recently fabricated a vapor chamber embedded into a printed circuit board, and demonstrated a 20% improvement over a standard copper-plated PCB [128]. We also proposed in chapter 2 the possibility of an interposer with an integrated vapor chamber. While the initial proposal was for a silicon interposer, the same concept could theoretically be applied to glass and ceramic interposers as well, each with their unique set of fabrication challenges. Additionally, as integrated circuits move towards 3D stacked chip architectures, a key challenge will arise in intra-layer thermal management. Integrated heat spreaders or heat pipes will be crucial to aid heat flow isolation and redistribution in stacked configurations.

6.2 Capillary-fed evaporation/boiling in biporous and

hierarchical structures

The thermofluidic performance of vapor chambers and heat pipes is critically dependent on the porous wicking structure that drives the heat and mass transport within the device. To obtain the simultaneous goals of reducing the wick thermal resistance and increasing the capillary dryout limit, we made the case in chapter 2 for biporous and/or hierarchical porous structures to simultaneously optimize for both parameters. In addition to providing examples from literature where biporous/hierarchical structures have

CHAPTER 6

demonstrated improved capillary performance over homogenous structures, we also investigated a hierarchical silicon micropillar array structure in chapter 3 fabricated through ultra-violet laser ablation. The conformal microscale roughness generated from the laser ablation was found to potentially enhance the area for thin-film evaporation by a factor of 3.

There still remains great opportunity, however, to further the understanding and intelligent design of porous structures for capillary-fed heat transfer applications. As we presented in chapter 2, incorrect combinations of different length scales can also lead to performance degradation in biporous structures compared to their homogenous counterparts. Much room remains, therefore, for future work to explore deeper fundamental knowledge on how different pore geometries, surface properties, and operating conditions affect various performance attributes in capillary-fed evaporation and boiling processes.

The ever-expanding arsenal of materials fabrication capabilities also introduces continuous possibilities for new and unique porous structures that can potentially be utilized in capillary-fed heat transfer applications. A key component to generating a better understanding of the effects of various porous wick properties on thermofluidic performance is to study structures with well-defined, repeatable geometry. Figure 6-1 contains two examples of biporous structures fabricated in the Stanford Nanoheat group. Figure 6-1(a) shows a top view SEM image of a copper nanowire array interspersed with microscale cavities. A porous polycarbonate membrane is rolled on top of an Au seed layer to form the template for copper nanowire growth [161], and the seed layer is selectively patterned to control the areas for nanowire formation during electroplating. Previous studies on boiling from copper nanowires have attributed bubble nucleation at low superheats to the presence of microscale cavities that form due to fabrication defects in densely packed nanowire arrays [162]. The cavity size formation is frequently irregular and difficult to characterize with a single length-scale, however. Intentionally creating microscale cavities with a repeatable technique such as a patterned seed layer therefore

CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE WORK

creates an opportunity for a controllable study on the effect of cavity size on bubble nucleation and capillary wick performance.



Figure 6-1. (a) Biporous copper nanowire arrays fabricated through electroplating with a patterned seed layer. The microscale cavities can potentially act as bubble nucleation sites for enhanced boiling. (b) Copper inverse opals with a hierarchical cupric oxide nanostructured coating after a chemical oxidation process. The cupric oxide coating alters the wettability of the structure and makes it superhydrophilic.

Another example of an exciting material candidate for capillary-fed evaporation/boiling experiments is copper inverse opals. In addition to the high capillary-fed boiling performance observed in literature [53] (briefly discussed in chapter 2), the highly repeatable and tunable nature of copper inverse opals makes it an ideal structure for fundamental studies on microstructural effects in capillary-fed scenarios. Layered inverse opal structures with graded pore sizes in the out-of-plane direction could lead to promising configurations where the capillary pressure and wick permeability could presumably be tuned independently of one another. As shown in Figure 6-1(b), a hierarchical nanostructured coating can also be formed on top of an existing inverse opal porous matrix. The initial copper inverse opal matrix is formed from a templated electrodeposition process, where copper is electroplated through a self-assembled polystyrene sphere template [53,109]. After the spheres are dissolved with an organic solvent, the entire porous structure is submerged in an alkaline solution formula (16 g

CHAPTER 6

NaClO₂, 1 g NaOH, 100 mL water)[163] and chemically oxidized to form a cupric oxide nanostructure. The nanostructure renders the wick superhydrophillic and creates a method of varying the contact angle without significantly impacting the remaining wick parameters.

In summary, an abundance of opportunity remains in exploring the effects of various porous wick parameters on liquid-vapor phase change phenomena for capillaryfed heat transfer applications. Combinations of porous structures with various lengthscales can be achieved through a wide range of different fabrication approaches, and detailed studies on these biporous and/or hierarchial wicks with controllable, tunable microstructures can elucidate the dependence of various thermofluidic transport processes on overall wick geometry. This enables intelligent design of future wick structures that have the potential to significantly elevate the performance of two-phase heat transfer devices.

6.3 Nonlinear thermal devices for heat flow regulation

In chapters 4 and 5, we presented a thorough characterization of a passive, tunable thermal regulator that achieves a switchable thermal resistance through the process of binary vapor diffusion through a NCG cavity. We characterized the device in terms of standard figures of merit such as the steady-state resistance switching ratio and transient thermal response time. The key distinction of our device over others developed in literature lies in the tunability, as the resistance switching behavior can be adjusted through variation of the NCG charging pressure.

A key future research direction in the area of nonlinear thermal devices for heat flow regulation is identifying how these devices would perform in actual system-level thermal regulation scenarios. Figure 6-2 shows an example of how the thermal regulator presented in chapters 4 and 5 could be utilized in a real-world scenario. In normal operation of the active device, the thermal regulator resistance would ideally be high in the off-state, and the majority of the heat removal would take place through the heat sink. If a sudden power surge were to occur for the device, however, due to a change in operational load or similar, the thermal regulator resistance would drop passively in

CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE WORK

response to the increase in input power. Heat flow could then be diverted through the PCB to provide a parallel pathway to minimize the rise in the active device junction temperature. Whether or not the thermal regulator is actually effective in this hypothetical scenario, however, becomes a question of system-level impedance matching. If the thermal regulator resistance is significantly higher than the heat sink resistance in both the off and on-states, the existence of a parallel pathway will be relatively ineffective. Additionally, the transient response times of all the different system-level components will contribute to the actual temperature response at the device active layer, and whether or not the regulator resistance transition occurs over an appropriate period of time to affect the device temperature response.



Figure 6-2. Example implementation of the thermal regulator presented in chapters 4 and 5. In ordinary operation, the thermal regulator is in the off-state, and the majority of heat removal takes place through the top of the active device from the heat sink. If a sudden power surge occurs, the thermal regulator enters the on-state, the thermal resistance decreases, and heat flow is diverted through the PCB as well, limiting the maximum junction temperature rise for the active device.

Overall, research in the area of nonlinear thermal devices for thermal regulation and switching applications has been largely devoted to the characterization of such devices in standalone experiments, where the resistance switching and transient response can be easily characterized independently of external factors. These works have been valuable in providing thermal designers with a rich arsenal of thermal devices to choose from for a variety of different applications. The next step in this field, therefore, must be to assess how these devices will behave in actual systems. Simple thermal resistance and

CHAPTER 6

capacitance models could be utilized where appropriate in system-level thermal circuit representations as a first step, and potentially integrated with electrical circuit design models in software such as LTSpice. Electro-thermal co-design efforts stand to benefit greatly from these types of modeling approaches as the capability of thermal devices grows to encompass more complex heat routing behaviors, paving the way for unique thermal and electrical system architectures.

Bibliography

- [1] G.E. Moore, Cramming more components onto integrated circuits, Electronics. 38 (1965). doi:10.1109/n-ssc.2006.4785860.
- [2] G. Fagas, J.P. Gallagher, L. Gammaitoni, D.J. Paul, Energy Challenges for ICT, Intech. (2017). doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.5772/57353.
- [3] V. Smet, F. Forest, J.J. Huselstein, F. Richardeau, Z. Khatir, S. Lefebvre, M. Berkani, Ageing and failure modes of IGBT modules in high-temperature power cycling, IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron. 58 (2011) 4931–4941. doi:10.1109/TIE.2011.2114313.
- [4] S.C. Lin, K. Banerjee, Cool chips: Opportunities and implications for power and thermal management, IEEE Trans. Electron Devices. 55 (2008) 245–255. doi:10.1109/TED.2007.911763.
- [5] A. Bar-Cohen, K. Matin, N. Jankowski, D. Sharar, Two-Phase Thermal Ground Planes: Technology Development and Parametric Results, J. Electron. Packag. 137 (2014) 010801. doi:10.1115/1.4028890.
- [6] A. Shakouri, Y. Zhang, On-chip solid-state cooling for integrated circuits using thin-film microrefrigerators, IEEE Trans. Components Packag. Technol. 28 (2005) 65–69. doi:10.1109/TCAPT.2005.843219.
- [7] A. Bar-Cohen, P. Wang, Thermal Management of On-Chip Hot Spot, J. Heat Transfer. 134 (2012) 051017. doi:10.1115/1.4005708.
- [8] M. Manno, B. Yang, A. Bar-Cohen, Near-junction "hot spot" suppression with integral SiC microcontact TEC, Int. J. Heat Mass Transf. 115 (2017) 530–536. doi:10.1016/j.ijheatmasstransfer.2017.07.081.
- [9] Y. Han, B.L. Lau, X. Zhang, Package-level microjet-based hotspot cooling solution for microelectronic devices, IEEE Electron Device Lett. 36 (2015) 502– 504. doi:10.1109/LED.2015.2417152.
- [10] K.W. Jung, C.R. Kharangate, H. Lee, J. Palko, F. Zhou, M. Asheghi, E.M. Dede, K.E. Goodson, Embedded cooling with 3D manifold for vehicle power electronics application: Single-phase thermal-fluid performance, Int. J. Heat Mass Transf. 130 (2019) 1108–1119. doi:10.1016/j.ijheatmasstransfer.2018.10.108.
- [11] J. Lee, I. Mudawar, Low-temperature two-phase microchannel cooling for highheat-flux thermal management of defense electronics, IEEE Trans. Components Packag. Technol. 32 (2009) 453–465. doi:10.1109/TCAPT.2008.2005783.
- [12] D.W. Kim, E. Rahim, A. Bar-Cohen, B. Han, Direct submount cooling of highpower LEDs, IEEE Trans. Components Packag. Technol. 33 (2010) 698–712.

doi:10.1109/TCAPT.2010.2040618.

- [13] H.F. Hamann, A. Weger, J.A. Lacey, Z. Hu, P. Bose, E. Cohen, J. Wakil, Hotspotlimited microprocessors: Direct temperature and power distribution measurements, IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits. 42 (2007) 56–64. doi:10.1109/JSSC.2006.885064.
- [14] G. Patankar, J.A. Weibel, S. V. Garimella, Working-fluid selection for minimized thermal resistance in ultra-thin vapor chambers, Int. J. Heat Mass Transf. 106 (2017) 648–654. doi:10.1016/j.ijheatmasstransfer.2016.09.038.
- [15] R.S. Prasher, A Simplified Conduction Based Modeling Scheme for Design Sensitivity Study of Thermal Solution Utilizing Heat Pipe and Vapor Chamber Technology, J. Electron. Packag. 125 (2003) 378. doi:10.1115/1.1602479.
- [16] A. Faghri, Review and Advances in Heat Pipe Science and Technology, J. Heat Transfer. 134 (2012) 123001. doi:10.1115/1.4007407.
- [17] F.A.L. Dullien, M.S. El-Sayed, V.K. Batra, Rate of capillary rise in porous media with nonuniform pores, J. Colloid Interface Sci. 60 (1977) 497–506. doi:10.1016/0021-9797(77)90314-9.
- [18] J.A. Weibel, A.S. Kousalya, T.S. Fisher, S. V. Garimella, Characterization and nanostructured enhancement of boiling incipience in capillary-fed, ultra-thin sintered powder wicks, Intersoc. Conf. Therm. Thermomechanical Phenom. Electron. Syst. ITHERM. (2012) 119–129. doi:10.1109/ITHERM.2012.6231422.
- [19] C. Zhang, J.W. Palko, G. Rong, K.S. Pringle, M.T. Barako, T.J. Dusseault, M. Asheghi, J.G. Santiago, K.E. Goodson, Tailoring Permeability of Microporous Copper Structures through Template Sintering, ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces. 10 (2018) 30487–30494. doi:10.1021/acsami.8b03774.
- [20] R. Ranjan, J.Y. Murthy, S. V. Garimella, A microscale model for thin-film evaporation in capillary wick structures, Int. J. Heat Mass Transf. 54 (2011) 169– 179. doi:10.1016/j.ijheatmasstransfer.2010.09.037.
- [21] H.B. Ma, P. Cheng, B. Borgmeyer, Y.X. Wang, Fluid flow and heat transfer in the evaporating thin film region, Microfluid. Nanofluidics. 4 (2008) 237–243. doi:10.1007/s10404-007-0172-5.
- [22] H. Wang, S. V. Garimella, J.Y. Murthy, Characteristics of an evaporating thin film in a microchannel, Int. J. Heat Mass Transf. 50 (2007) 3933–3942. doi:10.1016/j.ijheatmasstransfer.2007.01.052.
- [23] R. Ranjan, J.Y. Murthy, S. V. Garimella, Analysis of the Wicking and Thin-Film Evaporation Characteristics of Microstructures, J. Heat Transfer. 131 (2009) 101001. doi:10.1115/1.3160538.
- [24] Y. Nam, S. Sharratt, G. Cha, Y.S. Ju, Characterization and Modeling of the Heat Transfer Performance of Nanostructured Cu Micropost Wicks, J. Heat Transfer.

133 (2011) 101502. doi:10.1115/1.4004168.

- [25] D. Ćoso, V. Srinivasan, M.C. Lu, J.Y. Chang, A. Majumdar, Enhanced heat transfer in biporous wicks in the thin liquid film evaporation and boiling regimes, J. Heat Transfer. 134 (2012) 1–11. doi:10.1115/1.4006106.
- [26] J. a. Weibel, S.S. Kim, T.S. Fisher, S. V. Garimella, Experimental Characterization of Capillary-Fed Carbon Nanotube Vapor Chamber Wicks, J. Heat Transfer. 135 (2012) 021501. doi:10.1115/1.4007680.
- [27] N. Miljkovic, R. Enright, Y. Nam, K. Lopez, N. Dou, J. Sack, E.N. Wang, Jumping-droplet-enhanced condensation on scalable superhydrophobic nanostructured surfaces, Nano Lett. 13 (2013) 179–187. doi:10.1021/nl303835d.
- [28] J. Oh, P. Birbarah, T. Foulkes, S.L. Yin, M. Rentauskas, J. Neely, R.C.N. Pilawa-Podgurski, N. Miljkovic, Jumping-droplet electronics hot-spot cooling, Appl. Phys. Lett. 110 (2017) 1–6. doi:10.1063/1.4979034.
- [29] K.F. Wiedenheft, H.A. Guo, X. Qu, J.B. Boreyko, F. Liu, K. Zhang, F. Eid, A. Choudhury, Z. Li, C.H. Chen, Hotspot cooling with jumping-drop vapor chambers, Appl. Phys. Lett. 110 (2017). doi:10.1063/1.4979477.
- [30] J.B. Boreyko, C.H. Chen, Vapor chambers with jumping-drop liquid return from superhydrophobic condensers, Int. J. Heat Mass Transf. 61 (2013) 409–418. doi:10.1016/j.ijheatmasstransfer.2013.01.077.
- [31] X. Ji, J. Xu, A.M. Abanda, Copper foam based vapor chamber for high heat flux dissipation, Exp. Therm. Fluid Sci. 40 (2012) 93–102. doi:10.1016/j.expthermflusci.2012.02.004.
- [32] S.C. Wong, K.C. Hsieh, J. Da Wu, W.L. Han, A novel vapor chamber and its performance, Int. J. Heat Mass Transf. 53 (2010) 2377–2384. doi:10.1016/j.ijheatmasstransfer.2010.02.001.
- [33] Y. Wang, K. Vafai, An experimental investigation of the thermal performance of an asymmetrical flat plate heat pipe, Int. J. Heat Mass Transf. 43 (2000) 2657– 2668. doi:10.1016/S0017-9310(99)00300-2.
- [34] G. Wehmeyer, T. Yabuki, C. Monachon, J. Wu, C. Dames, Thermal diodes, regulators, and switches: Physical mechanisms and potential applications, Appl. Phys. Rev. 4 (2017). doi:10.1063/1.5001072.
- [35] A.A. Pesaran, S. Burch, M. Keyser, An Approach for Designing Thermal Management Systems for Electric and Hybrid Vehicle Battery Packs Preprint, (1999).
- [36] Y. Ji, C.Y. Wang, Heating strategies for Li-ion batteries operated from subzero temperatures, Electrochim. Acta. 107 (2013) 664–674. doi:10.1016/j.electacta.2013.03.147.

- [37] M. Hao, J. Li, S. Park, S. Moura, C. Dames, Efficient thermal management of Liion batteries with a passive interfacial thermal regulator based on a shape memory alloy, Nat. Energy. 3 (2018) 899–906. doi:10.1038/s41560-018-0243-8.
- [38] F. Zhou, Y. Liu, S.N. Joshi, E.M. Dede, X. Chen, A. Justin, Vapor chamber with thermal diode and switch functions, Proc. 16th Intersoc. Conf. Therm. Thermomechanical Phenom. Electron. Syst. ITherm 2017. (2017) 521–528. doi:10.1109/ITHERM.2017.7992518.
- [39] T. Yang, T. Foulkes, B. Kwon, J.G. Kang, P. V Braun, W.P. King, N. Miljkovic, An integrated liquid metal thermal switch for active thermal management of electronics, IEEE Trans. Components, Packag. Manuf. Technol. 9 (2019) 2341– 2351. doi:10.1109/TCPMT.2019.2930089.
- [40] Y. Yan, J.A. Malen, Periodic heating amplifies the efficiency of thermoelectric energy conversion, Energy Environ. Sci. 6 (2013) 1267–1273. doi:10.1039/c3ee24158k.
- [41] I.S. McKay, E.N. Wang, Thermal pulse energy harvesting, Energy. 57 (2013) 632– 640. doi:10.1016/j.energy.2013.05.045.
- [42] R. McCarty, K.P. Hallinan, B. Sanders, T. Somphone, Enhancing thermoelectric energy recovery via modulations of source temperature for cyclical heat loadings, J. Heat Transfer. 129 (2007) 749–755. doi:10.1115/1.2717238.
- [43] J. Cho, T. Wiser, C. Richards, D. Bahr, R. Richards, Fabrication and characterization of a thermal switch, Sensors Actuators, A Phys. 133 (2007) 55– 63. doi:10.1016/j.sna.2006.03.033.
- [44] T. Yang, B. Kwon, P.B. Weisensee, J.G. Kang, X. Li, P. Braun, N. Miljkovic, W.P. King, Millimeter-scale liquid metal droplet thermal switch, Appl. Phys. Lett. (2018). doi:10.1063/1.5013623.
- [45] L. Guo, X. Zhang, Y. Huang, R. Hu, C. Liu, Thermal characterization of a new differential thermal expansion heat switch for space optical remote sensor, Appl. Therm. Eng. 113 (2017) 1242–1249. doi:10.1016/j.applthermaleng.2016.11.102.
- [46] H.K. Lyeo, D.G. Cahill, B.S. Lee, J.R. Abelson, M.H. Kwon, K.B. Kim, S.G. Bishop, B.K. Cheong, Thermal conductivity of phase-change material Ge2Sb 2Te5, Appl. Phys. Lett. 89 (2006) 87–90. doi:10.1063/1.2359354.
- [47] P. Ben-Abdallah, S.A. Biehs, Phase-change radiative thermal diode, Appl. Phys. Lett. 103 (2013). doi:10.1063/1.4829618.
- [48] D.W. Oh, C. Ko, S. Ramanathan, D.G. Cahill, Thermal conductivity and dynamic heat capacity across the metal-insulator transition in thin film VO 2, Appl. Phys. Lett. 96 (2010). doi:10.1063/1.3394016.
- [49] S. Lee, K. Hippalgaonkar, F. Yang, J. Hong, C. Ko, J. Suh, K. Liu, K. Wang, J.J.

Urban, X. Zhang, C. Dames, S.A. Hartnoll, O. Delaire, J. Wu, Anomalously low electronic thermal conductivity in metallic vanadium dioxide, Science. 355 (2017) 371–374. doi:10.1126/science.aag0410.

- [50] R. Shrestha, Y. Luan, S. Shin, T. Zhang, X. Luo, J.S. Lundh, W. Gong, M.R. Bockstaller, S. Choi, T. Luo, R. Chen, K. Hippalgaonkar, S. Shen, High-contrast and reversible polymer thermal regulator by structural phase transition, Sci. Adv. 5 (2019) 1–8. doi:10.1126/sciadv.aax3777.
- [51] I. Catarino, G. Bonfait, L. Duband, Neon gas-gap heat switch, Cryogenics (Guildf). 48 (2008) 17–25. doi:10.1016/j.cryogenics.2007.09.002.
- [52] I. Sauciuc, A. Akbarzadeh, P. Johnson, Temperature Control Using Variable Conductance Closed Two-Phase Heat Pipe, Int. Commun. Heat Mass Transf. 23 (1996) 427–433.
- [53] C. Zhang, J.W. Palko, M.T. Barako, M. Asheghi, J.G. Santiago, K.E. Goodson, Enhanced Capillary-Fed Boiling in Copper Inverse Opals via Template Sintering, Adv. Funct. Mater. 28 (2018) 1–8. doi:10.1002/adfm.201803689.
- [54] R. Mahajan, C.P. Chiu, G. Chrysler, Cooling a microprocessor chip, Proc. IEEE. 94 (2006) 1476–1485. doi:10.1109/JPROC.2006.879800.
- [55] Y.S. Ju, M. Kaviany, Y. Nam, S. Sharratt, G.S. Hwang, I. Catton, E. Fleming, P. Dussinger, Planar vapor chamber with hybrid evaporator wicks for the thermal management of high-heat-flux and high-power optoelectronic devices, Int. J. Heat Mass Transf. 60 (2013) 163–169. doi:10.1016/j.ijheatmasstransfer.2012.12.058.
- [56] D.H. Altman, J.R. Wasniewski, M.T. North, S.S. Kim, T.S. Fisher, Development of Micro/Nano Engineered Wick-based Passive Heat Spreaders for Thermal Management of High Power Electronic Devices, in: Proc. ASME 2011 Pacific Rim Tech. Conf. Expo. Packag. Integr. Electron. Photonic Syst., ASME, 2011: pp. 1–8.
- [57] C. Ding, G. Soni, P. Bozorgi, B.D. Piorek, C.D. Meinhart, N.C. MacDonald, A flat heat pipe architecture based on nanostructured titania, J. Microelectromechanical Syst. 19 (2010) 878–884. doi:10.1109/JMEMS.2010.2051019.
- [58] Y. Okada, Y. Tokumaru, Precise determination of lattice parameter and thermal expansion coefficient of silicon between 300 and 1500 K, J. Appl. Phys. 56 (1984) 314–320. doi:10.1063/1.333965.
- [59] M. Leszczynski, T. Suski, H. Teisseyre, P. Perlin, I. Grzegory, J. Jun, S. Porowski, T.D. Moustakas, Thermal expansion of gallium nitride, J. Appl. Phys. 76 (1994) 4909–4911. doi:10.1063/1.357273.
- [60] Y. Goldberg, M. Levinshtein, S. Rumyantsev, Properties of Advanced Semiconductor Materials: GaN, AIN, InN, BN, SiC, SiGe, John Wiley & Sons,

2001.

- [61] F.C. Nix, D. MacNair, The thermal expansion of pure metals: Copper, gold, aluminum, nickel, and iron, Phys. Rev. 60 (1941) 597–605. doi:10.1103/PhysRev.60.597.
- [62] G.A. Slack, S.F. Bartram, Thermal expansion of some diamondlike crystals, J. Appl. Phys. 46 (1975) 89–98. doi:10.1063/1.321373.
- [63] P. Hidnert, Thermal expansion of titanium, J. Res. Natl. Bur. Stand. (1934). 30 (1943) 101. doi:10.6028/jres.030.008.
- [64] U. Vadakkan, G.M. Chrysler, S. Sane, Silicon/water vapor chamber as heat spreaders for microelectronic packages, Semicond. Therm. Meas. Manag. IEEE Twenty First Annu. IEEE Symp. 2005. (2005) 182–186. doi:10.1109/stherm.2005.1412176.
- [65] G.S. Matijasevic, C.Y. Wang, C.C. Lee, Void Free Bonding of Large Silicon Dice Using Gold-Tin Alloys, IEEE Trans. Components, Hybrids, Manuf. Technol. 13 (1990) 1128–1134. doi:10.1109/33.62563.
- [66] H.J. Quenzer, W. Benecke, Low-temperature silicon wafer bonding, Sensors Actuators A. Phys. 32 (1992) 340–344. doi:10.1016/0924-4247(92)80009-R.
- [67] G.S. Park, Y.K. Kim, K.K. Paek, J.S. Kim, J.H. Lee, B.K. Ju, Low-temperature silicon wafer-scale thermocompression bonding using electroplated gold layers in hermetic packaging, Electrochem. Solid-State Lett. 8 (2005) 330–333. doi:10.1149/1.2077077.
- [68] T.G. Lenihan, L. Matthew, E.J. Vardaman, Developments in 2.5D: The role of silicon interposers, Proc. 2013 IEEE 15th Electron. Packag. Technol. Conf. EPTC 2013. (2013) 53–55. doi:10.1109/EPTC.2013.6745683.
- [69] Y. Kim, J. Cho, K. Kim, V. Sundaram, R. Tummala, J. Kim, Signal and power integrity analysis in 2.5D integrated circuits (ICs) with glass, silicon and organic interposer, Proc. - Electron. Components Technol. Conf. 2015-July (2015) 738– 743. doi:10.1109/ECTC.2015.7159673.
- [70] S. Cho, Y.K. Joshi, Thermal performance enhancement of glass interposer, ASME 2015 Int. Tech. Conf. Exhib. Packag. Integr. Electron. Photonic Microsystems, InterPACK 2015, Collocated with ASME 2015 13th Int. Conf. Nanochannels, Microchannels, Minichannels. 3 (2015) 1–7. doi:10.1115/IPACK2015-48563.
- [71] N. Khan, S.W. Yoon, A.G.K. Viswanath, V.P. Ganesh, R. Nagarajan, D. Witarsa, S. Lim, K. Vaidyanathan, Development of 3-D stack package using silicon interposer for high-power application, IEEE Trans. Adv. Packag. 31 (2008) 44–50. doi:10.1109/TADVP.2008.915854.
- [72] M.C. Zaghdoudi, C. Sarno, Investigation on the Effects of Body Force

Environment on Flat Heat Pipes, J. Thermophys. Heat Transf. 15 (2001) 384–394. doi:10.2514/2.6640.

- [73] L.E. Scriven, C. V. Sternling, The Marangoni Effects, Nature. 187 (1960) 186– 188. doi:10.1038/187186a0.
- [74] Y. Cao, A. Faghri, Transient two-dimensional compressible analysis for hightemperature heat pipes with pulsed heat input, Numer. Heat Transf. Part A Appl. 18 (1991) 483–502. doi:10.1080/10407789008944804.
- [75] G. Vaartstra, Z. Lu, E.N. Wang, Simultaneous prediction of dryout heat flux and local temperature for thin film evaporation in micropillar wicks, Int. J. Heat Mass Transf. 136 (2019) 170–177. doi:10.1016/j.ijheatmasstransfer.2019.02.074.
- [76] T.. Cotter, Principles and Prospects for Micro Heat Pipes, in: (No. LA-UR-84-120; CONF-840578-1), 1984.
- [77] G.P. Peterson, A.B. Duncan, M.H. Weichold, Experimental Inwestigation of Micro Heat Pipes Fabricated in Silicon Wafers, 1 (1993).
- [78] Q. Cai, B.C. Chen, C. Tsai, Design, development and tests of high-performance silicon vapor chamber, J. Micromechanics Microengineering. 22 (2012). doi:10.1088/0960-1317/22/3/035009.
- [79] B. He, M. Wei, S. Somasundaram, C.S. Tan, E.N. Wang, Experiments on the ultrathin silicon vapor chamber for enhanced heat transfer performance, Proc. 15th Intersoc. Conf. Therm. Thermomechanical Phenom. Electron. Syst. ITherm 2016. (2016) 569–573. doi:10.1109/ITHERM.2016.7517598.
- [80] C. Gillot, Y. Avenas, N. Cézac, G. Poupon, C. Schaeffer, E. Fournier, Silicon heat pipes used as thermal spreaders, Intersoc. Conf. Therm. Thermomechanical Phenom. Electron. Syst. ITHERM. 2002-Janua (2002) 1052–1057. doi:10.1109/ITHERM.2002.1012574.
- [81] D.A. Benson, R.T. Mitchell, M.R. Tuck, D.R. Adkins, D.W. Palmer, Micromachined heat pipes in silicon MCM substrates, Proc. IEEE Multi-Chip Modul. Conf. (1996) 127–129. doi:10.1109/mcmc.1996.510782.
- [82] D.A. Benson, R.T. Mitchell, M.R. Tuck, D.W. Palmer, G.P. Peterson, Ultrahighcapacity micromachined heat spreaders, Microscale Thermophys. Eng. 2 (1998) 21–30. doi:10.1080/108939598200079.
- [83] Amir Faghri, Heat Pipe Science and Technology, 2nd ed., Global Digital Press, 2016.
- [84] M. Ivanova, A. Lai, C. Gillot, N. Sillon, C. Schaeffer, F. Lefèvre, M. Lallemand, E. Fournier, Design, fabrication and test of silicon heat pipes with radial microcapillary grooves, Thermomechanical Phenom. Electron. Syst. -Proceedings Intersoc. Conf. 2006 (2006) 545–551. doi:10.1109/ITHERM.2006.1645392.

- [85] T. Liu, M.T. Dunham, K.W. Jung, B. Chen, M. Asheghi, K.E. Goodson, Characterization and thermal modeling of a miniature silicon vapor chamber for die-level heat redistribution, Int. J. Heat Mass Transf. 152 (2020) 119569. doi:10.1016/j.ijheatmasstransfer.2020.119569.
- [86] J. Liang, M.S. Bakir, Y. Joshi, Microfabricated Thin Silicon Vapor Chambers for Low Profile Thermal Management, in: Proc. 16th Intersoc. Conf. Therm. Thermomechanical Phenom. Electron. Syst. ITherm 2017, 2017.
- [87] S.W. Kang, S.H. Tsai, H.C. Chen, Fabrication and test of radial grooved micro heat pipes, Appl. Therm. Eng. 22 (2002) 1559–1568. doi:10.1016/S1359-4311(02)00085-6.
- [88] M. Ivanovo, C. Schaeffer, Y. Avenas, A. Laï, C. Gillot, Realization and thermal analysis of silicon thermal spreaders used in power electronics cooling, Proc. IEEE Int. Conf. Ind. Technol. 2 (2003) 1124–1129. doi:10.1109/icit.2003.1290821.
- [89] L.D. Eske, D.W. Galipeau, Characterization of SiO2 surface treatments using AFM, contact angles and a novel dewpoint technique, Colloids Surfaces A Physicochem. Eng. Asp. 154 (1999) 33–51. doi:10.1016/S0927-7757(98)00907-8.
- [90] S. Adera, D. Antao, R. Raj, E.N. Wang, Design of micropillar wicks for thin-film evaporation, Int. J. Heat Mass Transf. 101 (2016) 280–294. doi:10.1016/j.ijheatmasstransfer.2016.04.107.
- [91] R. Xiao, E.N. Wang, Microscale liquid dynamics and the effect on macroscale propagation in pillar arrays, Langmuir. 27 (2011) 10360–10364. doi:10.1021/la202206p.
- [92] R.S. Hale, R. Ranjan, C.H. Hidrovo, Capillary flow through rectangular micropillar arrays, Int. J. Heat Mass Transf. 75 (2014) 710–717. doi:10.1016/j.ijheatmasstransfer.2014.04.016.
- [93] C. Byon, S.J. Kim, The effect of meniscus on the permeability of micro-post arrays, J. Micromechanics Microengineering. 21 (2011). doi:10.1088/0960-1317/21/11/115011.
- [94] Y. Zhu, D.S. Antao, Z. Lu, S. Somasundaram, T. Zhang, E.N. Wang, Prediction and Characterization of Dry-out Heat Flux in Micropillar Wick Structures, Langmuir. 32 (2016) 1920–1927. doi:10.1021/acs.langmuir.5b04502.
- [95] R.S. Hale, R.T. Bonnecaze, C.H. Hidrovo, Optimization of capillary flow through square micropillar arrays, Int. J. Multiph. Flow. 58 (2014) 39–51. doi:10.1016/j.ijmultiphaseflow.2013.08.003.
- [96] C. Byon, S.J. Kim, Study on the capillary performance of micro-post wicks with non-homogeneous configurations, Int. J. Heat Mass Transf. 68 (2014) 415–421. doi:10.1016/j.ijheatmasstransfer.2013.09.064.

- [97] D. Coso, V. Srinivasan, M.-C. Lu, J.-Y. Chang, A. Majumdar, Enhanced Heat Transfer in Biporous Wicks in the Thin Liquid Film Evaporation and Boiling Regimes, J. Heat Transfer. 134 (2012) 101501. doi:10.1115/1.4006106.
- [98] J.A. Weibel, S. V. Garimella, M.T. North, Characterization of evaporation and boiling from sintered powder wicks fed by capillary action, Int. J. Heat Mass Transf. 53 (2010) 4204–4215. doi:10.1016/j.ijheatmasstransfer.2010.05.043.
- [99] T. Semenic, I. Catton, Experimental study of biporous wicks for high heat flux applications, Int. J. Heat Mass Transf. 52 (2009) 5113–5121. doi:10.1016/j.ijheatmasstransfer.2009.05.005.
- [100] S. Sudhakar, J.A. Weibel, S. V Garimella, International Journal of Heat and Mass Transfer Experimental investigation of boiling regimes in a capillary-fed two-layer evaporator wick, Int. J. Heat Mass Transf. 135 (2019) 1335–1345. doi:10.1016/j.ijheatmasstransfer.2019.03.008.
- [101] T. Semenic, Y.Y. Lin, I. Catton, D.B. Sarraf, Use of biporous wicks to remove high heat fluxes, Appl. Therm. Eng. 28 (2008) 278–283. doi:10.1016/j.applthermaleng.2006.02.030.
- [102] G.P. Peterson, L.S. Fletcher, Effective thermal conductivity of sintered heat pipe wicks, J. Thermophys. Heat Transf. 1 (1987) 343–347. doi:10.2514/3.50.
- [103] J.A. Weibel, S. V. Garimella, Recent Advances in Vapor Chamber Transport Characterization for High-Heat-Flux Applications, Copyright © 2013 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved., 2013. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-407819-2.00004-9.
- [104] L.T. Romankiw, A path: From electroplating through lithographic masks in electronics to LIGA in MEMS, Electrochim. Acta. 42 (1997) 2985–3005. doi:10.1016/S0013-4686(97)00146-1.
- [105] N. V. Myung, D.Y. Park, B.Y. Yoo, P.T.A. Sumodjo, Development of electroplated magnetic materials for MEMS, J. Magn. Magn. Mater. 265 (2003) 189–198. doi:10.1016/S0304-8853(03)00264-6.
- [106] L.D. Vargas Llona, H. V. Jansen, M.C. Elwenspoek, Seedless electroplating on patterned silicon, J. Micromechanics Microengineering. 16 (2006). doi:10.1088/0960-1317/16/6/S01.
- [107] Q.N. Pham, M.T. Barako, J. Tice, Y. Won, Microscale Liquid Transport in Polycrystalline Inverse Opals across Grain Boundaries, Sci. Rep. 7 (2017) 1–9. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-10791-3.
- [108] J.W. Palko, C. Zhang, J.D. Wilbur, T.J. Dusseault, M. Asheghi, K.E. Goodson, J.G. Santiago, Approaching the limits of two-phase boiling heat transfer: High heat flux and low superheat, Appl. Phys. Lett. 107 (2015). doi:10.1063/1.4938202.
- [109] M.T. Barako, A. Sood, C. Zhang, J. Wang, T. Kodama, M. Asheghi, X. Zheng, P.

V. Braun, K.E. Goodson, Quasi-ballistic Electronic Thermal Conduction in Metal Inverse Opals, Nano Lett. 16 (2016) 2754–2761. doi:10.1021/acs.nanolett.6b00468.

- [110] Youngsuk Nam, Sung Jin Kim, S. Sharratt, Y.S. Ju, C. Byon, Fabrication and Characterization of the Capillary Performance of Superhydrophilic Cu Micropost Arrays, J. Microelectromechanical Syst. 19 (2010) 581–588. doi:10.1109/jmems.2010.2043922.
- [111] X. Wendy Gu, J.R. Greer, Ultra-strong architected Cu meso-lattices, Extrem. Mech. Lett. 2 (2015) 7–14. doi:10.1016/j.eml.2015.01.006.
- [112] Y.C. Choi, D.W. Kim, T.J. Lee, C.J. Lee, Y.H. Lee, Growth mechanism of vertically aligned carbon nanotubes on silicon substrates, Synth. Met. 117 (2001) 81–86. doi:10.1016/S0379-6779(00)00542-7.
- [113] J. Chen, Q. Chen, Q. Ma, Influence of surface functionalization via chemical oxidation on the properties of carbon nanotubes, J. Colloid Interface Sci. 370 (2012) 32–38. doi:10.1016/j.jcis.2011.12.073.
- [114] P. Kim, L. Shi, A. Majumdar, P.L. McEuen, Thermal transport measurements of individual multiwalled nanotubes, Phys. Rev. Lett. 87 (2001) 215502-1-215502–4. doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.87.215502.
- [115] A.M. Marconnet, N. Yamamoto, M.A. Panzer, B.L. Wardle, K.E. Goodson, Thermal conduction in aligned carbon nanotube-polymer nanocomposites with high packing density, ACS Nano. 5 (2011) 4818–4825. doi:10.1021/nn200847u.
- [116] Q. Cai, C.-L. Chen, Design and Test of Carbon Nanotube Biwick Structure for High-Heat-Flux Phase Change Heat Transfer, J. Heat Transfer. 132 (2010) 052403. doi:10.1115/1.4000469.
- [117] S. Ravi, R. Dharmarajan, S. Moghaddam, Physics of Fluid Transport in Hybrid Biporous Capillary Wicking Microstructures, Langmuir. 32 (2016) 8289–8297. doi:10.1021/acs.langmuir.6b01611.
- [118] E.R. Murphy, T. Inoue, H.R. Sahoo, K.F. Jensen, Solder-based chip-to-tube and chip-to-chip packaging for microfluidic devices {, (2007) 1309–1314. doi:10.1039/b704804a.
- [119] Q. Cai, B.-C. Chen, C. Tsai, C. Chen, Development of Scalable Silicon Heat Spreader for High Power Electronic Devices, J. Therm. Sci. Eng. Appl. 1 (2010) 041009. doi:10.1115/1.4001689.
- [120] G.P. Peterson, Overview of micro heat pipe research and development, Appl. Mech. Rev. 45 (1992) 175–189. doi:10.1115/1.3119755.
- [121] N.S. Dhillon, M.W. Chan, J.C. Cheng, A.P. Pisano, Noninvasice hermetic sealing of degassed liquid inside a microfluidic device based on induction heating, 11th

Int. Work. Micro Nanotechnol. Power Gener. Energy Convers. Appl. 1 (2011) Seoul, Korea.

- [122] J. Ditri, R. Cadotte, D. Fetterolf, M. McNulty, Impact of microfluidic cooling on high power amplifier RF performance, Proc. 15th Intersoc. Conf. Therm. Thermomechanical Phenom. Electron. Syst. ITherm 2016. (2016) 1501–1504. doi:10.1109/ITHERM.2016.7517726.
- [123] H.D. Ngo, A.T. Tham, M. Simon, E. Obermeier, Corner rounding to strengthen silicon pressure sensors using DRIE, Proc. IEEE Sensors. (2008) 1576–1579. doi:10.1109/ICSENS.2008.4716750.
- [124] K.S. Yang, C.C. Lin, J.C. Shyu, C.Y. Tseng, C.C. Wang, Performance and twophase flow pattern for micro flat heat pipes, Int. J. Heat Mass Transf. 77 (2014) 1115–1123. doi:10.1016/j.ijheatmasstransfer.2014.06.056.
- [125] C.A. MacK, Fifty years of Moore's law, IEEE Trans. Semicond. Manuf. 24 (2011) 202–207. doi:10.1109/TSM.2010.2096437.
- [126] Z. Ming, L. Zhongliang, M. Guoyuan, The experimental and numerical investigation of a grooved vapor chamber, Appl. Therm. Eng. 29 (2009) 422–430. doi:10.1016/j.applthermaleng.2008.03.030.
- [127] C. Oshman, B. Shi, C. Li, R. Yang, Y.C. Lee, G.P. Peterson, V.M. Bright, The development of polymer-based flat heat pipes, J. Microelectromechanical Syst. 20 (2011) 410–417. doi:10.1109/JMEMS.2011.2107885.
- [128] S. Cho, Y. Joshi, Thermal Performance of Microelectronic Substrates with Submm Integrated Vapor Chamber, J. Heat Transfer. 141 (2018) 1–12. doi:10.1115/1.4042328.
- [129] G. Patankar, J.A. Weibel, S. V. Garimella, Patterning the condenser-side wick in ultra-thin vapor chamber heat spreaders to improve skin temperature uniformity of mobile devices, Int. J. Heat Mass Transf. 101 (2016) 927–936. doi:10.1016/j.ijheatmasstransfer.2016.05.093.
- [130] G. Carbajal, C.B. Sobhan, G.P. Bud Peterson, D.T. Queheillalt, H.N.G. Wadley, A quasi-3D analysis of the thermal performance of a flat heat pipe, Int. J. Heat Mass Transf. 50 (2007) 4286–4296. doi:10.1016/j.ijheatmasstransfer.2007.01.057.
- [131] U. Vadakkan, S. V. Garimella, J.Y. Murthy, Transport in Flat Heat Pipes at High Heat Fluxes From Multiple Discrete Sources, J. Heat Transfer. 126 (2004) 347. doi:10.1115/1.1737773.
- [132] R. Ranjan, J.Y. Murthy, S. V. Garimella, U. Vadakkan, A numerical model for transport in flat heat pipes considering wick microstructure effects, Int. J. Heat Mass Transf. 54 (2011) 153–168. doi:10.1016/j.ijheatmasstransfer.2010.09.057.
- [133] A.J. Jiao, H.B. Ma, J.K. Critser, Evaporation heat transfer characteristics of a

grooved heat pipe with micro-trapezoidal grooves, Int. J. Heat Mass Transf. 50 (2007) 2905–2911. doi:10.1016/j.ijheatmasstransfer.2007.01.009.

- [134] F. Lefèvre, R. Rullière, G. Pandraud, M. Lallemand, Prediction of the temperature field in flat plate heat pipes with micro-grooves Experimental validation, Int. J. Heat Mass Transf. 51 (2008) 4083–4094. doi:10.1016/j.ijheatmasstransfer.2007.12.007.
- [135] K.H. Do, S.J. Kim, S. V. Garimella, A mathematical model for analyzing the thermal characteristics of a flat micro heat pipe with a grooved wick, Int. J. Heat Mass Transf. 51 (2008) 4637–4650. doi:10.1016/j.ijheatmasstransfer.2008.02.039.
- [136] P.C. Stephan, C.A. Busse, Analysis of the heat transfer coefficient of grooved heat pipe evaporator walls, Int. J. Heat Mass Transf. 35 (1992) 383–391. doi:10.1016/0017-9310(92)90276-X.
- [137] V.P. Carey, Liquid-Vapor Phase-Change Phenomena: An Introduction to the Thermophysics of Vaporization and Condensation Processes in Heat Transfer Equipment, Second Edition, 2008.
- [138] Y.S. Muzychka, Influence coefficient method for calculating discrete heat source temperature on finite convectively cooled substrates, IEEE Trans. Components Packag. Technol. 29 (2006) 636–643. doi:10.1109/TCAPT.2006.880477.
- [139] K.R. Bagnall, S. Member, Y.S. Muzychka, E.N. Wang, Analytical Solution for Temperature Rise in Complex Multilayer Structures With Discrete Heat Sources, 4 (2014) 817–830.
- [140] T. Liu, M. Iyengar, C. Malone, K.E. Goodson, Analytical modeling for prediction of chip package-level thermal performance, in: Proc. 15th Intersoc. Conf. Therm. Thermomechanical Phenom. Electron. Syst. ITherm 2016, Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2016: pp. 254–261. doi:10.1109/ITHERM.2016.7517558.
- [141] J.H. Lienhard, L.& Lienhard, A HEAT TRANSFER TEXTBOOK THIRD EDITION A Heat Transfer Textbook, n.d.
- [142] T. Liu, J.W. Palko, J.S. Katz, E.M. Dede, F. Zhou, M. Asheghi, K.E. Goodson, Tunable, passive thermal regulation through liquid to vapor phase change, Appl. Phys. Lett. 115 (2019). doi:10.1063/1.5133795.
- [143] T. Liu, J.W. Palko, J.S. Katz, F. Zhou, E.M. Dede, M. Asheghi, K.E. Goodson, Steady-State Parametric Optimization and Transient Characterization of Heat Flow Regulation with Binary Diffusion, IEEE Trans. Components, Packag. Manuf. Technol. (2020).
- [144] T. Slater, P. Van Gerwen, E. Masure, F. Preud'homme, K. Baert, Thermomechanical characteristics of a thermal switch, Sensors Actuators, A Phys.

53 (1996) 423-427. doi:10.1016/0924-4247(96)80165-8.

- [145] C.Y. Tso, C.Y.H. Chao, Solid-state thermal diode with shape memory alloys, Int. J. Heat Mass Transf. 93 (2016) 605–611. doi:10.1016/j.ijheatmasstransfer.2015.10.045.
- [146] M.A. Dos Santos Bernardes, Experimental evidence of the working principle of thermal diodes based on thermal stress and thermal contact conductance - Thermal semiconductors, Int. J. Heat Mass Transf. 73 (2014) 354–357. doi:10.1016/j.ijheatmasstransfer.2014.02.016.
- [147] S.H. Jeong, W. Nakayama, S.K. Lee, Experimental investigation of a heat switch based on the precise regulation of a liquid bridge, Appl. Therm. Eng. 39 (2012) 151–156. doi:10.1016/j.applthermaleng.2012.01.050.
- [148] E. Hornbogen, Review Thermo-mechanical fatigue of shape memory alloys, J. Mater. Sci. 39 (2004) 385–399. doi:10.1023/B:JMSC.0000011492.88523.d3.
- [149] M.Y. Wong, B. Traipattanakul, C.Y. Tso, C.Y.H. Chao, H. Qiu, Experimental and theoretical study of a water-vapor chamber thermal diode, Int. J. Heat Mass Transf. 138 (2019) 173–183. doi:10.1016/j.ijheatmasstransfer.2019.04.046.
- [150] M. Leriche, S. Harmand, M. Lippert, B. Desmet, An experimental and analytical study of a variable conductance heat pipe: Application to vehicle thermal management, Appl. Therm. Eng. 38 (2012) 48–57. doi:10.1016/j.applthermaleng.2012.01.019.
- [151] J. Huang, J. Zhang, L. Wang, Review of vapor condensation heat and mass transfer in the presence of non-condensable gas, Appl. Therm. Eng. 89 (2015) 469–484. doi:10.1016/j.applthermaleng.2015.06.040.
- [152] J.H.I. Lienhard, J.H. V Lienhard, A Heat Transfer Textbook, 4th ed., Phlogiston Press, Cambridge, MA, 2018.
- [153] Y. Zhang, S. Ramanathan, Analysis of "on" and "off" times for thermally driven VO2 metal-insulator transition nanoscale switching devices, Solid. State. Electron. 62 (2011) 161–164. doi:10.1016/j.sse.2011.04.003.
- [154] G. Harley, A. Faghri, Transient Two-Dimensional Gas- Loaded Heat Pipe Analysis, 116 (1994).
- [155] B.D. Marcus, Theory and design of variable conductance heat pipes, 1972. http://hdl.handle.net/2060/19720016303.
- [156] Y. Wang, K. Vafai, Transient characterization of flat plate heat pipes during startup and shutdown operations, Int. J. Heat Mass Transf. 43 (2000) 2641–2655. doi:10.1016/S0017-9310(99)00295-1.
- [157] Y. Nam, S. Sharratt, C. Byon, S.J. Kim, Y.S. Ju, Fabrication and characterization

of the capillary performance of superhydrophilic Cu micropost arrays, J. Microelectromechanical Syst. 19 (2010) 581–588. doi:10.1109/JMEMS.2010.2043922.

- [158] A. Faghri, C. Harley, Transient lumped heat pipe analyses, Heat Recover. Syst. CHP. 14 (1994) 351–363. doi:10.1016/0890-4332(94)90039-6.
- [159] C.L. Hose, D. Ibitayo, L.M. Boteler, J. Weyant, B. Richard, Integrated Vapor Chamber Heat Spreader for Power Module Applications, (2017) V001T04A013. doi:10.1115/ipack2017-74132.
- [160] Y.S. Ju, M. Kaviany, Y. Nam, S. Sharratt, G.S. Hwang, I. Catton, E. Fleming, P. Dussinger, Planar vapor chamber with hybrid evaporator wicks for the thermal management of high-heat-flux and high-power optoelectronic devices, Int. J. Heat Mass Transf. 60 (2013) 163–169. doi:10.1016/j.ijheatmasstransfer.2012.12.058.
- [161] M.T. Barako, S. Roy-Panzer, T.S. English, T. Kodama, M. Asheghi, T.W. Kenny, K.E. Goodson, Thermal Conduction in Vertically Aligned Copper Nanowire Arrays and Composites, ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces. 7 (2015) 19251–19259. doi:10.1021/acsami.5b05147.
- [162] A. Majumdar, R. Chen, H.H. Cho, Z. Wang, V. Srinivasan, M.-C. Lu, Nanowires for Enhanced Boiling Heat Transfer, Nano Lett. 9 (2009) 548–553. doi:10.1021/nl8026857.
- [163] Y. Nam, Y.S. Ju, A comparative study of the morphology and wetting characteristics of micro/nanostructured Cu surfaces for phase change heat transfer applications, J. Adhes. Sci. Technol. 27 (2013) 2163–2176. doi:10.1080/01694243.2012.697783.